


 
 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                        
SEC Number  AS095-006755_ 

File Number    _____________ 
 

     
 

__________________________________________ 
 
 

TRANSPACIFIC BROADBAND GROUP 
INTERNATIONAL, INC. 

__________________________________________ 
(Company) 

 
 

9th Floor Summit One Tower 
530 Shaw Boulevard, Mandaluyong City, 1550 

__________________________________________ 
(Address) 

 
 
 

717-0523 
__________________________________________ 

(Telephone Number) 
 
 
 

DECEMBER 31 
__________________________________________ 

(Fiscal Year Ending) 
(month & day) 

 
 

SEC Form 20-IS 
 (Definitive Information Statement) 

__________________________________________ 
(Form Type) 

 
 

__________________________________________ 
Amendment Designation (if applicable) 

 
 

Annual Stockholders Meeting 
October 16, 2019 

__________________________________________ 
(Period Ended Date) 

 
 
 

__________________________________________ 
(Secondary License Type and File Number) 





 
 
 

WE ARE NOT ASKING YOU FOR A PROXY AND YOU ARE 
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INFORMATION REQUIRED IN INFORMATION STATEMENT 
 
A. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Item 1. DATE, TIME AND PLACE OF MEETING OF SECURITY HOLDERS 
    October 16, 2019, Wednesday 
    12:30 o’clock, Lunch meeting 
     Ground Floor, Summit One Tower Annex Bldg. 

530 Shaw Blvd., Mandaluyong City, 1550 
  
Complete Mailing Address of Principal Office of Registrant  

Bldg. 1751 Chico St. Clark Special Economic Zone 
Angeles City, Pampanga 

 Or c/o 
    Unit 904, 9F Summit One Tower 

530 Shaw Blvd. Mandaluyong City, 1550 
 

Approximate date on which the Information Sheet is first to be sent or given to security holders is 
September 25, 2019. 
 
Item 2. DISSENTER’S RIGHT OF APPRAISAL 
 
Sections 80 of the Corporation Code provide for a shareholder’s exercise of the right of appraisal 
(defined as the right of any stockholder to dissent and demand payment of the fair value of his 
shares). The instances where the right of appraisal may be exercised are as follows: 
 
 1. In case any amendment to the Articles of Incorporation has the effect of changing or 
  restricting the rights of any stockholder or class of shares, or of authorizing preferences 
  in any respect superior to those of outstanding shares of any class, or of extending or 
  shortening the term of corporate existence; 

 2. In case of sale, lease, exchange, transfer, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of all or 
  substantially all of the Company’s property and assets; 

 3. In case of merger or consolidation; and 

 4. In case the Company decides to invest its funds in another corporation or business  
  outside of its primary purpose. 

There are no new items in the agenda that may give rise to a dissenting shareholder’s exercise of the 
right of appraisal 

Procedure for Exercise of Dissenter’s Appraisal Right 

Section 81 of the Corporation Code provides for the appropriate procedure for the exercise of the 
right of appraisal, viz: 
 

The appraisal right may be exercised by any stockholder who shall have voted against the 
proposed corporate action, by making a written demand on the corporation within thirty (30) 
days after the date on which the vote was taken: Provided, that the failure to make the 
demand within such period shall be deemed a waiver of the appraisal right. If the proposed 
corporate action is implemented or affected, the Corporation shall pay to such stockholder, 
upon surrender of the certificate(s) of stock representing his shares, the fair value thereof as 
of the day prior to the date on which the vote was taken, excluding any appreciation or 
depreciation in anticipation of such corporate action. 
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 If within a period of sixty (60) days from the date the corporate action was approved by the 
 stockholders, the withdrawing stockholder and the corporation cannot agree on the fair 
 value of the shares, it shall be determined and appraised by three (3) disinterested persons, 
 one of whom shall be named by the stockholder, another by the corporation and the third 
 by the two thus chosen. The findings of the majority of the appraisers shall be final, and 
 their award shall be paid by the corporation within thirty (30) days after such award is 
 made: Provided, that no payment shall be made to any dissenting stockholder unless the 
 corporation has unrestricted retained earnings in its books to cover such payment; and 
 Provided, further, that upon payment by the corporation of the agreed or awarded price, 
 the stockholder shall forthwith transfer his shares to the corporation. 
 
Item 3. INTEREST OF CERTAIN PERSONS IN OR OPPOSITION TO MATTERS TO BE ACTED 
UPON 
 
The following persons have no substantial interest, direct or indirect, by security holdings or 
otherwise, in any matter to be acted upon, other than election to office: 

1. each person who has been a director or officer of the Corporation at any time since 
the beginning of the   fiscal year; 

2. each nominee for election as a director of the Corporation: and 
3. each associate of any of the foregoing persons. 

No member of the Board of Directors of the Corporation has informed the Corporation in writing that 
he intends to oppose any action to be taken by the Corporation at the annual meeting of the 
stockholders. 
 

B. CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION 
 

Item 4. VOTING SECURITIES AND PRINCIPAL HOLDERS THEREOF 
 

Common Shares 3,800,000,000 
Less: Treasury shares 4,378,000 
Total Outstanding Shares Voting /Shares as of record date Aug. 31, 2019 3,795,622,000 

 
The Company’s capital stock consists of common shares only.  Each share is entitled to one vote.  All 
stockholders of record at the close of business on September 18, 2019 shall be entitled to notice 
and to vote at the Annual Stockholders meeting. 
 

The directors of the Corporation shall be elected by plurality vote at the annual meeting of the 
stockholders for that year at which a quorum is present.  At each election for directors, every 
stockholder shall have the right to vote, in person or by proxy, the number of shares owned by him 
for as many persons as there are directors to be elected, or to cumulate his votes by giving one 
candidate as many votes as the number of such directors multiplied by the number of his share equal, 
or by distributing such votes at the same principle among any number of candidates. 
 
(1) SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN RECORD AND BENEFICIAL OWNERS 
 

Owners of more than 5% of voting securities as of August 31, 2019: 
Class Name of Record Owner and Relationship 

with Record Owner 
Name of 
Beneficial 

Owner 

Citizenship Shares Owned % 

Common 3. Arsenio T. Ng 
    9F Summit One Tower,  530 Shaw 
    Blvd. Mandaluyong City (CEO) 

None Filipino 1,712,370,990”r” 45.11% 

Common 1. PCD Nominee Corp. (F) 

    37
th

 floor Tower 1, the Enterprise Ctr., 
    6766 Ayala Ave, Makati City, Phil. 

Various Filipino 1,620,628,790”r” 42.70% 
 

Common 2. Unipage Management, Inc. 

    9
F 

Floor Summit One Tower, 530 Shaw 
    Boulevard Mandaluyong City (Investor) 

Stockholders Filipino 500,000,000”r” 
 

13.17% 

 
The clients of PCD Nomination Corporation are the beneficial owners and have the power to decide 
how their shares are to be voted. 
 

There is no Filipino and Non-Filipino holder of 5% or more under PCD Nominee Corporation. 
 



 
 
 

The Board of Directors of Unipage Management Inc and ATN Holdings, Inc. appointed Willy Ong and 
Sophie Miles Ng respectively as the authorized representative and they have the right to vote and 
direct or dispose of the shares held by the company. 
 
(2) Security ownership of management as of August 31, 2019: 

Class Name of Beneficial Owner No. of Shares and Nature 
of Beneficial Ownership 

Citizenship % 

 Directors:    
Common Arsenio T. Ng 1,712,370,990”d” Filipino 45.11% 
Common Kenneth C. Co 42,590,000”d” Filipino 1.12% 
Common Hilario T. Ng 4,008,040”d” Filipino 0.11% 
Common HRH Prince Abdul Aziz Bin 

Talal Al Saud 
1,000,000”r” Saudi Arabian 0.03% 

Common Paul Saria 258,040”d” Filipino 0.01% 
Common Simon Ung 10,000”d” Filipino 0.00% 
Common Oscar B. Mapua 40,000”d” Filipino 0.00% 
 Officer:    
Common Santos Cejoco 10,000”d” Filipino 0.00 
 All directors and executive 

officers as a group 
1,760,287,070”d”  46.38% 

 
Each every security holder is the beneficial owner in his own right. 
 

(3) VOTING TRUST HOLDERS OF 5% OR MORE 
 

There are no persons who hold more than 5% of a class under voting trust or similar agreement. 
 

(4) CHANGES IN CONTROL 
 

The company has no arrangements, which may result in a change in control of the Corporation. There 
has been no change in control since the beginning of its last fiscal year. 
 

Item 5. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 

(1) The names of the incumbent Directors, Executive officers and nominees of the Company and 
their respective ages and citizenship, current positions held, period of service and business experience 
during the past five years as required under Section 38 of the Code and SRC Rule 38.1 are as follows: 
 

Arsenio T. Ng – President and CEO       
Age 60, Filipino Citizen 
Period Served September 2000 to Present 
Term of office as director – one year 
 

Holds a Masters degree in Business Management with distinction from the California State College, 
Stanislaus, and the University of California, Los Angeles.  Mr. Ng attended special studies in Politics 
and Public Administration at the United States Congress in Washington D.C.  He took his 
undergraduate studies in Business Administration and Finance at the De La Salle University (Jose Rizal 
honors), Philippines and at the California State College, Stanislaus (cum laude), USA. 
 

In 1994, Mr. Ng served as President and CEO of the Energy Corporation; a company listed in the 
Philippine Stock Exchange and became Chief Finance Officer of Semirara Coal Corporation, the largest 
coal mining firm in the Philippines the following year.  He is the Chairman and CEO of ATN Holdings 
Inc., a listed holding company in the PSE, in which he holds major equity stake.  He is the Chairman 
and CEO of Palladian Land Development Inc., and the Chairman and Director of Unipage Management 
Inc.  He is also the Chairman and Director of both Advanced Home Concept Development 
Corporation, and Hart Realty Development Inc.  Mr. Ng is concurrently a Director and Treasurer of 
Hambrecht and Quist Philippine Ventures II, a private equity fund managed by Hambrecht and Quist, 
Philippines Inc., a subsidiary of US-based Hambrecht and Quist venture firm.   
 

In 1998, Mr. Ng became the President and Chairman of Managed Care, Inc. medical complex of 150 
doctors, He is also the Director of Beacon Diversified, Inc. that has investments in Skycable.  Mr. Ng 
also acts as Vice Chairman and President of CBCP World. 
 
HRH Price Abdul Aziz Bin Talal Bin Abdul Aziz Al Saud - Director 
Age 37, Saudi Arabian 
Period Served – June 2009 to present 
Term of office as director – one year 
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HRH Prince Abdul Aziz bin Talal Al Saud, is member of the Saudi Royal Family.  He is Prince Talal bin 
Abdul Aziz’s fifth son, son of the founding King of Saudi Arabia, Abdul Aziz Bin Saud, and Princess 
Majdah Al Sudairi, daughter of H.E. Turki bin Khaled Al Sudairi President of the Government Human 
Rights Commission, and cousin of the Sudairi Seven. HRH received his early education in Saudi Arabia 
under his father’s auspice and in Institut Le Rosey, Switzerland.  HRH Prince Aziz bin Talal is the 
Honorary President of the Website Services and Internet Technology (WSITGC) of the Gulf 
Cooperation Council (GCC), Member of the Concordia Summit Leadership Council and Chairman of the 
Arab Open University.          
 
Hilario T. Ng – Director, Chief Finance officer and member of Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee 
Age 58, Filipino Citizen 
Period Served September 2000 to Present 
Term of office as director – one year 
 

A graduate of Bachelor of Architecture at the Southern California Institute of Architecture, Mr. Ng took 
his MA in Urban Design at the University of California at Los Angeles.  Presently, he is President of 
Palladian International, Inc., Director of ATN Holdings, Inc., Executive Vice President of Palladian Land 
Development, Inc., Architect, and Managing Partner of HEO Group.   He was previously connected 
with Nadel Partnership, Inc (Architect, 1990), Figure 5, Inc (Project Director, 1988-1989), Stephen 
Lam & Associates (Project Director, 1987), Richard Magee & Associates (Project Architect, 1985-
1986), T.W. Layman & Associates (Project Architect, 1982), Michael Ross & Associates (Project 
Architect, 1982), and WOU International (Project Architect, 1981).   
 

Oscar B. Mapua, Jr. – Independent and Nomination Committee Chairman 
Age 75, Filipino Citizen 
Period Served May 2003 to Present 
Term of office as director – one year 
 

Mr. Mapua is a member of the Board of Trustees and Executive Vice President of the Mapua Institute 
of Technology and the Founding Director of the Design Center of the Philippines. He earned his BS 
Architecture degree from the Rhode Island University in 1969 and his Masters in Architecture from the 
University of the Philippines in 1987. 
 

Simoun Ung – Director 
Age 51, Filipino Citizen 
Period Served May 2007 to Present 
Term of office as director – one year 
 

Simoun Ung has an extensive background in international business in the Asia Pacific, both as a 
professional in the financial industry, as well as being a successful entrepreneur. He is the President & 
CEO of OmniPay, Inc., the Philippine’s leading issuer of prepaid payment cards and innovator for 
financial inclusion; Mr. Ung is likewise the President-Commissioner of PT Omni Pay Indonesia. He is 
also Vice Chairman of Bastion Payment Systems Corporation, which developed and launched the first 
proprietary payment gateway in the Philippines certified to Payment Card Industry standards. Mr. Ung 
is likewise the Vice Chairman of Sanson Mineral Resources, Inc. He also serves on the Board of 
Directors of Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc. [PSE: TBGI].  
 

Simoun Ung's past experience includes Adviser-Origination of Hambrecht & Quist Philippines Inc. and 
President of Four Star Consulting. Mr. Ung was a Service Provider to RBS Coutts Bank Ltd. He served 
as an Advisor to the Supreme Court of the Philippines. He was also a Consultant to the Commission 
on Elections and the Office of International Policy and Special Concerns of the Department of National 
Defense. Mr. Ung was an Independent Director on the Board of Federal Resources Investment Group, 
Inc.PSE:FED].  
 

Mr. Ung has a Master of Business Administration degree from the Ivey School of Business of the 
University of Western Ontario and a Bachelor of Arts degree in Psychology and Economics from the 
University of British Columbia. Mr. Ung received additional training with the 2nd Advanced Programme 
for Central Bankers and Regulators at the Institute of Global Economics and Finance of the Chinese 
University of Hong Kong as well as an Executive Education Course on the National Retail Payments 
System with the National Payment Systems Institute. 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

Kenneth Chua Co – Independent and Remuneration Committee Chairman 
Age 46, Filipino Citizen 
Period Served May 2011 to Present 
Term of office as director – one year 
 

Mr. Kenneth Co  is  a graduate of AB Economics at Ateneo De Manila University  in 1994. At present 
he is the Proprietor and  Owner of  Dagupan Commercial, an operator of a wholesale and retail 
distribution family business dealing mainly with bakery supplies.  From 2007 to present, he is also a 
Distributor of Pharmanex & Nu Skin. A distribution and multilevel network marketing business focused 
on introducing high quality supplements and skin care products to customers with a goal of 
contributing the profits significantly to the Nourish the Children Foundation. From 1996 to present, he 
is also the Administrator of Benito Enterprises, a  business engaged mainly in real estate development 
and lease rental accumulation. Some of his past positions held includes Managing Director of Road on 
Call from  2005 to 2007and Chamco Food Ventures Inc. from 1999-2005. 
 
Paul B. Saria – Director, Chief Operating and Compliance Officer and member of Audit 
and Nomination Committee 
Age 49, Filipino Citizen 
Period Served September 2000 to Present 
Term of office as director – one year 
 

A graduate of Bachelor of Architecture at the University of Santo Tomas, Mr. Saria took his graduate 
studies in Project Management at the Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology, Australia.  He is Vice 
President for Operations of TBGI, Operations Officer of ATN Holdings, Inc. and Project Planning 
Architect of the Summit One Office Tower.  He is likewise Operations Manager of Palladian Land 
Development Inc. and Advanced Home Concept Development Corporation since 1996. 
 
Atty. Leonides S. Respicio – Corporate Secretary 
Age 67, Filipino Citizen 
Period Served August 2018 to Present 
 
Atty. Respicio is a graduate of Bachelor of Laws in 1978 at the University of the Philippines, Diliman, 
Quezon City. At present, he is the corporate secretary and legal counsel of Test Consultants, Inc. from 
2004-present; legal counsel of Padernal Construction Inc. (2010- present),  Radiant Sunshine Power 
Corporation (2018 – present), Lamon Bay Furniture, Inc. (2018 to present),  Philippine Pacific Trade 
Inc.(Salad Master Distributor (2010-present), Capitol City Sports and Country Club, Inc.  (1980-1986), 
Jocanima Corporation (2012-2017), First Champion, Inc. (Manpower Services) 2012-2017,   Prince 
David Condominium Unit Owners Association Inc. (2010-2015) and Don Enrique Height Subdivision  
Homeowners Association, Inc. (2016-present) 
 
The aforementioned directors and officers have served the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, and 
shall continue to serve until their successors have been duly elected at the Company’s next annual 
stockholders’ meeting.  Also, none of the current directors and officers work in government. 
 
 NOMINEES FOR ELECTION AS DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY 
 
The nominees for election as directors of the company are the following: 
Arsenio T. Ng (Filipino) Hilario T. Ng (Filipino) Simoun Ung (Filipino) 
Ardi Bradley L. Ng (Filipino) Paul B. Saria (Filipino)  
Oscar B. Mapua Jr. (Filipino) Kenneth Co (Filipino)  

 
Oscar Mapua Jr., and Kenneth Co are the nominees for independent directors.  In the approval of 
nomination for independent directors, the Nominations Committee headed by Oscar B. Mapua 
(Chairman), Hilario T. Ng, (Member) and Paul B. Saria (Member) has taken into consideration the 
guidelines prescribed under SRC Rule 38., the independent directors are nominated by Paul B. Saria 
(Filipino) and Hilario T. Ng (Filipino).  Mr. Paul Saria and Arch. Hilario Ng have no relationship with the 
nominees for independent directors. 
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ARDI BRADLEY L. NG – Nominee 
Age 25, Filipino Citizen 
 
Mr. Ardi Ng is a graduate of Ateneo De Manila University in year 2016. He holds a degree in Bachelor 
of Arts in Social Science, Major in Social Science. After graduation, Mr. Ng underwent his training in 
the Company. He is currently the Business Development Officer of Transpacific Broadband Group, Inc. 
Ardi Ng is the son of the Chairman Arsenio T. Ng. 
 
The Corporation will observe the term limits for independent directors imposed by SEC Memorandum 
Circular No. 4, Series of 2017 which became effective on January 2, 2012.  The Corporation’s two 
current independent directors may serve as independent directors until 2021 in compliance with the 
maximum cumulative term of nine (9) years. 
 
The independent directors undertake to submit an updated Certification of Qualifications and 
Disqualif ications thirty (30) days after the date of the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting. 
 
Only nominees whose names appear on the final list of candidates will be eligible for election as 
directors. No further nominations will be entertained or allowed on the floor during the annual 
stockholders' meeting. 
 
(2) SIGNIFICANT EMPLOYEES 
 
The company has no significant employees. 
 
 (3) FAMILY RELATIONSHIP 
 

The Chairman, Arsenio T. Ng, and Director Hilario T. Ng are brothers. Mr. Ardi Bradley L. Ng 
(nominee) is the son of Arsenio T. Ng. Except for the above-mentioned directors the company does 
not know any other family relationship up to the fourth civil degree either by consanguinity or affinity 
among the directors, executive officers or persons nominated. 
 
RESIGNATION OF OFFICER 
 

There was no resignation, removal or election of company Directors or Officers for the past two 
years. 
 
 
 (4) INVOLVEMENT IN CERTAIN LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 

The Company is not aware that anyone of the incumbent directors and executive officers and persons 
nominated to become a director and executive officer have been the subject of bankruptcy petition or 
pending criminal proceedings in court or have been by judgment or decree found to have violated 
securities or commodities law enjoined from engaging in any business, securities, commodities or 
banking activities. This disclosure on legal proceedings covers the last five years up to the latest date 
of this Information Statement. 
 

The Company is not involved in any litigation incidental to the conduct of its business. If there is any 
claim, the Company believes that the cases against it have no legal basis and that there is no pending 
litigation that will have a material or adverse effect on its financial position or operations. 
 
(D) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
        
ATN Solar 
The Company subscribed additional shares of stock of ATN Solar amounting to P97 million. At the 
time of subscription, P2.650 million was paid in February 1, 2018, P2,850 million in August 1, 2018 
and P91.5 million in December 2018. 
 
PLDI 
The Company is a beneficial owner of certain condominium units classified in the Statement of 
Financial Position as Investment properties. Title to the properties has not been released to the 
Company as it intends to sell the properties using the marketing expertise of PLDI. In 2017 and 2016, 
these properties are leased out to third parties thru PLDI. Proceeds of the rent were remitted to the 



 
 
 

Company. Rent income collected by PLDI on these properties amounted to P2.684 million in 2018 and 
P2.479 million in 2017. 
 

A Teaming Agreements executed in January 2013 and 2015 between the Company and certain 
related parties operating within Summit One Condominium Tower, a cost and expense sharing 
scheme related to technical operations was implemented.  All other cost including, but not limited to 
salaries, utilities, and dues shall be borne by PLDI. Accordingly, certain cost and expenses maybe 
advanced by a party and to be reimbursed from another party on the proportionate share or usage 
between the related parties involved. 

There was no compensation paid or payable to key management personnel for the year ended 
December 31, 2018. 
 

Key management personnel have not been provided with retirement benefits. 
 
 

 (3) The registrant has no parent company. 
 
Item 6. COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 
 

Information as to the aggregate compensation during the last two (2) fiscal years paid to the 
Company’s five (5) most highly compensated executive officers and all other officers and directors as 
a group and the estimated compensation for Year 2017 are as follows: 
 
 2019 

Estimated 
2018 2017 

Four most highly compensated Executive Officers    
     1.  Arsenio T. Ng – CEO    
     2.  Paul B. Saria – Chief Operating Officer    
     3.  Santos L. Cejoco – Corporate Planning Officer    
     4.  Vicente Layson – Network Engineer    
     5.  Christian Nucom – Asst. Network Engineer    
          TOTAL 600,000 600,000 500,000 
All other officers and directors    500,000    500,000    450,000 
Total 1,100,000 1,100,000 1,100,000 

 
The CEO and COO has not received compensation from the company during the period 2000-2014, 
except for the stock options mentioned above in Stock Options for the Chief Executive Officer.   
 

No bonuses were given to directors and officers, payments were purely compensation in nature. 
 

The By-Laws of Transpacific gives each Director a reasonable per diem allowance for his attendance 
at each meeting of the Board.  As compensation, the Board shall receive and allocate an amount of 
not more than ten percent (10%) of the net income before income tax of the corporation during the 
preceding year.  Such compensation shall be determined and apportioned among the Directors in 
such manner as the Board may deem proper, subject to the approval of stockholders representing at 
least a majority of the outstanding capital stock at a regular or special meeting of the stockholders.  
There are no other standard or other special arrangements regarding the compensation of the 
Directors of the Company. 
 

The members of the Board are entitled to receive a reasonable per diem of P5,000  for attendance at 
each meeting of the Board of Directors.  Other than such per diem, there is no other arrangement 
pursuant to which any amount of compensation is due to the directors for services rendered as such. 
 
Warrants and Options 
 

On May 28, 2008 the Board of Directors and Stockholders approved the grant of stock options to the 
Chief Executive Officer 40 Million shares at par value of P1.00.  In addition, the Remuneration 
Committee resolved to implement additional terms and conditions specifically on the vesting date. 
(Note 21).    
 
EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS, TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT, AND CHANGE-IN-CONTROL 
ARRANGEMENT 
 

An employment contract between the Corporation and a named executive officer will normally include 
a compensation package, duties and responsibilities, and term of employment. 
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The Corporation has not entered into any compensatory plan or arrangement with any named 
executive officer which would entitle such named executive officer to receive any amount under such 
plan or arrangement as a result of or which will result from the resignation, retirement, or any other 
termination of such executive officer’s employment with the Corporation and its subsidiaries, or from 
a change-in-control of the Corporation, or a change in the executive officer’s responsibilities following 
a change-in-control of the Corporation. 
 
Item 7. INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANT 
 

The audited financial position of the Company for CY 2018 was audited by R. R. TAN & ASSOCIATES, 
CPAs. 
 

The same accounting firm is being recommended for re-election at the scheduled annual meeting for 
the almost the same remuneration as in the previous year.  Representatives of the said firm are 
expected to be present at the stockholders’ meeting and they will have the opportunity to make a 
statement if they desire to do so and are expected to be available to respond to appropriate 
questions. 
 

R. R. TAN & ASSOCIATES, CPAs has acted as the Company’s external auditor since 2009 and has 
complied with the five-year rotation requirement under SRC Rule 68(3)(b)(iv) (Qualif ications and 
reports of Independent Auditors). Mr. Chester Nimitz F. Salvador is the current audit partner for  R. R. 
TAN & ASSOCIATES, CPAs. He replaced Mr. Domingo A. Daza Jr., who serves as audit partner from 
2012 to 2015. 
 

The audit committee headed by Kenneth C. Co (Independent and Chairman) Arsenio T. Ng, and Paul 
B. Saria has no policies and procedures of the above services. 
 
(2) Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial 
Disclosure 
 

There were no events in the past wherein R. R. TAN & ASSOCIATES, CPAs, and the company had any 
disagreement with regard to any matter relating to accounting principles or practices, financial 
statement disclosures or auditing scope or procedure. 
 
Item 8.  COMPENSATION PLANS 
 

In 2007, the Remuneration Committee approved the grant of stock options for 38.4 million shares at 
par value to the Chief Executive Officer to compensate the CEO with options of 4.8 million shares per 
year for the eight–year period 2000–2007.   
 
The grant of options for the CEO was approved based on the following considerations: 
 

1. The CEO has not received compensation since the strategic acquisition of the company in 
2000 to date. 
 

2. The CEO was responsible for (a) rehabilitation of P200 million loss arising from a bad 
financial structure, and (b) collection of P80 million of bad debts, bringing the company 
to its present state of profitable operations and strong financial position. 
 

3. Under the leadership of the CEO, the company was able to comply with the mandate of 
its telecommunications franchise to successfully undertake an initial public offering (IPO) 
that was executed in early 2003 in the face of weak capital markets in Asia. 
 

4. The CEO used personal bank credit lines for the (a) acquisition of majority stake in the 
company, (b) rehabilitation of financial position and telecommunications facilities,    (c) 
expansion of digital data services and acquisition of institutional marketing partner for 
installation of IT laboratories nationwide. 

 
5. The CEO needs the options to enable him to reimburse his personal bank credit lines that 

the CEO used over the years to fund the comprehensive rehabilitation and expansion of 
company operations. 
 

6. The same grant of stock options for the CEO shall be approved by the Board and ratified 
by the shareholders. 



 
  

C. ISSUANCE AND EXCHANGE OF SECURITIES 
 

Item 9.   Authorization or Issuance of Securities Other than for Exchange 
 

9.1 In Aug 10, 2018 the Corporation issued 130,000,000 shares to ATN Holdings, 
Inc. for the investment of P21,684,400 at a subscription price of P0.1668, which was 
agreed upon last 2002, but recently been completed last year 2018.  Government taxes 
has been paid prior to issuance by the Stock and Transfer Agent. 

 
(a) State the title and amount of securities to be authorized or issued. 
 
 130,000,000 common shares as P0.1668 per share 
 
(b) Description of Registrant's Securities 
 

(1) Common or Preferred Stock  - Common Stock 
(2) Amount of capital stock of the common shares to be issued - Php 
  21,684,400 
(3) The common shares to be issued shall likewise have dividend and 
  voting rights. However, pursuant to the Company’s Articles of  
  Incorporation, the pre-emptive rights have been expressly waived. 

 
(c) Description of the Transaction 
 

(1) The transaction refers to the investment agreement of P P21,684,400 
  by of ATN Holdings, Inc., prior to the Initial Public Offering in 2002, 
  for the purpose of establishing the corporate office in Metro Manila 
  and working capital of the Company. Full Investment was completed 
  least 2018.   
(2) Discussion on the appropriate amount devoted to each purpose so 
  far as determinative for which the net proceeds have been or are to 
  be used. 
 

Investment Type Investment Amount 
Private Placement/ Cash P21,684,400 

 
(d) If the securities are to be issued other than in a public offering for cash, state 
the reasons for the proposed authorization or issuance: 
 
The 130,000,000 share certificates were issued last August 10, 2018.  
Documentary Stamp Tax arising from the issuance were paid on June 27, 2018.   

 
 General effect thereof upon the rights of existing security holders. 

 
The subscription of common shares shall have very minimal dilutive effect upon the 
existing shareholders. However, in accordance with the rules and regulations of the 
Philippine Stock Exchange, the subscription and issuance of shares to ATN 
Holdings, Inc., is a related party transaction, in which case, a rights and/or public 
offering is required, unless this is waived by a majority of the minority of 
shareholders present in the annual stockholders’ meeting. Hence, the proposed 
motion for such waiver. 
 
(e) Application for listing with the Philippine Stock Exchange 
 
Pursuant to the Policy of the Philippine Stock Exchange (“Exchange”) that all issued 
and outstanding shares of listed companies be applied for listing with the 
Exchange, the stockholders of the Corporation in the Annual Stockholders Meeting 
of October 3, 2018 resolved to approve for the application of listing of 130,000,000 
common shares with waiver by a majority of the minority of shareholders, present 
in the annual stockholders’ meeting, the requirement of a rights and/or public 
offering. 
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9.2 On September 17, 2018, in a meeting of the Board of Directors resolved to 
issue 400,000,000 shares to the Chairman, Arsenio T. Ng for investments amounting to 
Forty Million Pesos to be used solely for payment of subscription payable to ATN 
Philippines Solar Energy Group, Inc.  The issuance of additional shares to be taken from 
the unissued capital stock of the Company has been approved by stockholders of the 
Corporation in the Annual Stockholders Meeting of October 3, 2018.  Hereunder are the 
following information on the transaction: 

 
(a) State the title and amount of securities to be authorized or issued. 
 
 400,000,000 common shares as P0.10 per share 
 
(b) Description of Registrant's Securities 

 
(1) Common or Preferred Stock  - Common Stock 
(2) Amount of capital stock of the common shares to be issued - Php 
  40,000,000.00 
(3) The common shares to be issued shall likewise have dividend and 
  voting rights. However, pursuant to the Company’s Articles of  
  Incorporation, the pre-emptive rights have been expressly waived. 

 
(c) Description of the Transaction 

 
The transaction refers to the private placement investment of Arsenio T. Ng 
amounting to P40,000,000, wherein proceeds of the investment were solely used to 
fund subscription payable of the Corporation in ATN Philippines Solar Energy Group, 
Inc. (ATN Solar). Currently, Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc. holds 
30% of ATN Solar. 

 
Discussion on the appropriate amount devoted to each purpose so far as 
determinative for which the net proceeds have been or are to be used. 

 
Investment Type Investment Amount 

Private Placement/ Cash P40,000,000 
 

(d) If the securities are to be issued other than in a public offering for cash, state 
the reasons for the proposed authorization or issuance: 
 
On September 17, 2018, in a meeting the Board of Directors resolved to issue 
400,000,000 shares to the Chairman, Arsenio T. Ng for investment of Forty Million 
Pesos, paid and applied in exchange for the same amount of TBGI subscription 
payable to ATN Philippines Solar Energy Group, Inc. Documentary Stamp Tax 
arising from the issuance were paid on the same date. 
 
General effect thereof upon the rights of existing security holders. 
 
The subscription of common shares shall have very minimal dilutive effect upon the 
existing shareholders. However, in accordance with the rules and regulations of the 
Philippine Stock Exchange, the subscription and issuance of shares to Mr. Arsenio T. 
Ng, is a related party transaction, in which case, a rights and/or public offering is 
required, unless this is waived by a majority of the minority of shareholders present 
in the annual stockholders’ meeting. Hence, the proposed motion for such waiver. 

 
(e) Application for listing with the Philippine Stock Exchange 

 
Pursuant to the Policy of the Philippine Stock Exchange (“Exchange”) that all issued 
and outstanding shares of listed companies be applied for listing with the 
Exchange, the stockholders of the Corporation in the Annual Stockholders Meeting 
of October 3, 2018 resolved to approve for the application of listing of 400,000,000 



 
  

common shares with waiver by a majority of the minority of shareholders, present 
in the annual stockholders’ meeting, the requirement of a rights and/or public 
offering. 

 
9.3 On April 2. 2019, in a meeting of the Board of Directors resolved to issue 
1,179,806,700 common shares (0.1632 price per share) to the Chairman, Arsenio T. Ng 
for investments amounting to One Hundred Ninety Two Million Pesos (P192,500,000) to 
be used solely for payment of subscription payable to ATN Philippines Solar Energy 
Group, Inc.  The issuance of additional shares to be taken from the unissued capital 
stock of the Company.  Hereunder are the following information on the transaction: 

 
(a) State the title and amount of securities to be authorized or issued. 

 
 1,179,806,700 common shares as P0.1632 per share 

 
(b) Description of Registrant's Securities 

  
(1) Common or Preferred Stock  - Common Stock 
(2) Amount of capital stock of the common shares to be issued - Php 
  192,500,000 
(3) The common shares to be issued shall likewise have dividend and 
  voting rights. However, pursuant to the Company’s Articles of  
  Incorporation, the pre-emptive rights have been expressly waived. 

 
(c) Description of the Transaction 

 
The transaction refers to the private placement investment of Arsenio T. Ng 
amounting to P192,500,000, wherein proceeds of the investment were solely used 
to fund subscription payable of the Corporation in ATN Philippines Solar Energy 
Group, Inc. (ATN Solar). Currently, Transpacific Broadband Group International, 
Inc. holds 30% of ATN Solar. 
 
Discussion on the appropriate amount devoted to each purpose so far as 
determinative for which the net proceeds have been or are to be used. 

 
Investment Type Investment 

Amount 
Private Placement/ Cash P192,500,000 

 
(d) If the securities are to be issued other than in a public offering for cash, state 
the reasons for the proposed authorization or issuance: 
 
In April 2, 2019, in a meeting of the Board of Directors resolved to issue 
1,179,806,700 shares to the Chairman, Arsenio T. Ng for investments amounting to 
One Hundred Ninety Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Pesos paid and applied in 
exchange for the same amount of TBGI subscription payable to ATN Philippines 
Solar Energy Group, Inc. Documentary Stamp Tax arising from the issuance were 
paid on the same date. 
 

 General effect thereof upon the rights of existing security holders. 
 
The subscription of common shares comprises the remaining unissued shares of 
the Corporation thereby issued shares will be equivalent 3,800,000,000.  However, 
in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Philippine Stock Exchange, the 
subscription and issuance of 1,179,806,700 shares to Mr. Arsenio T. Ng, is a related 
party transaction, in which case, a rights and/or public offering is required, unless 
this is waived by a majority of the minority of shareholders present in the annual 
stockholders’ meeting. Hence, the proposed motion for such waiver. 
 
(e) Application for listing with the Philippine Stock Exchange 
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Pursuant to the Policy of the Philippine Stock Exchange (“Exchange”) that all issued 
and outstanding shares of listed companies be applied for listing with the 
Exchange, the motion for the approval for the application of listing of 
1,179,806,700 common shares is being submitted to the shareholders for approval 
in the upcoming Annual Stockholders Meeting on October 16, 2019 
 
Approval is likewise being sought for the grant of authority to the Board of 
Directors to assign and appoint the Company’s duly authorized representative for 
such application for listing. Such representative shall likewise have the authority to 
do all necessary acts and execute and/or cause to execute all the necessary 
documents in furtherance to such application for listing. 

 
Item 15. OTHER MATTERS 
 

Action with Respect to Reports: 
 

The following reports/minutes shall be submitted to the stockholders for approval/ratification: 
1. Minutes of the previous Annual Stockholders’ Meeting 

a. Approval of previous annual minutes of meeting 
b. Report of the President 
c. Approval of FY December 31, 2017 audited FS 
d. Election of Directors 
e. Appointment of Independent Auditors 

2. Annual Report of the President 
3. Fiscal Year Ending December 31, 2018 Audited Financial Statements 
4. Stockholders approval regarding the (P192,500,000) private placement by Mr. Arsenio T. 

Ng equivalent to 1,179,806,700 common shares with a subscription price of P0.1632 per 
share, with waiver of the majority of the minority shareholders to conduct a rights/public 
offering. 

  
The president reported the highlights of the audited fiscal year December 31, 2018 financial 
statements, and the acts of the Board and the executive officers during the above fiscal year.  The 
corporate secretary read to the stockholders the minutes of the previous annual stockholders’ 
meeting. 
 

The stockholders in said meeting approved and ratified the following: 
1. the minutes of the previous annual stockholders’ meeting, 
2. the audited December 31, 2017 financial statements, 
3. the appointment of R. R. Tan & Associates, CPAs as external auditor, 
4. ratified the acts of the Board and the executive officers during the above fiscal year 

including but not limited to memberships in  (a) remuneration committee, (b) audit 
committee, and (c) nomination committee.  Membership in said committees, which 
include one independent director in compliance with Rule 38 of the Amended 
Implementing Rules and Regulations of the Securities Regulation Code are as follows: 

 
 

Compensation Committee: Audit Committee Nomination Committee 
Kenneth C. Co (Chairman) Kenneth C. Co (Chairman) Oscar B. Mapua (Chairman) 
Arsenio T, Ng – Member Arsenio T. Ng – Member Hilario T. Ng – Member 
Hilario T. Ng - Member Paul B. Saria  - Member Paul B. Saria - Member 

 

The same sets of committee members shall apply for the coming fiscal year. 
 

MERGERS, CONSOLIDATION, ACQUISITIONS AND SIMILAR MATTERS 
 

No action is to be taken with respect to any transaction involving: 
1. the merger or consolidation of the Corporation into or with any person, or of any other 

person into or with the Corporation; 
2. the acquisition by the Corporation or any of its security holders of securities of another 

person; 
3. the acquisition by the Corporation of any other going business or of the assets thereof; 
4. the sale or other transfer of all or any substantial part of the assets of the Corporation; or 
5. the liquidation or dissolution of the Corporation. 
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BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION 

 
BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE  GENERAL NATURE AND SCOPE OF THE 

 
 REGISTRANT’SBUSINESS AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

 
Transpacific Broadband Group International (TBGI or Transpacific) is a domestic corporation 
registered with the SEC on 14 July 1995. It started commercial operation in 1996 with an authorized 
capital stock of Twenty-Five Million Pesos (Php25,000,000.00), divided into Two Hundred Fifty 
Thousand shares (250,000) with a par value of One Hundred Pesos (Php100.00) each.  Its primary 
purpose is to engage in the business of public commercial radio, terrestrial, cable and satellite 
broadcast.  TBGI does not have any subsidiary under it. 
 

On 07 November 2002, the SEC approved the increase in authorized capital stock of TBGI from 
Twenty-Five Million Pesos (Php25,000,000.00) divided into Two Hundred Fifty Thousand shares with 
par value of One Hundred Pesos (Php100.00) each, to One Hundred Fifty Million Pesos 
(Php150,000,000.00) divided into One Hundred Fifty Million (150,000,000) shares with par value of 
One Peso (Php1.00) each.    
 

On 27 December 2002, the Company’s Board of Directors and stockholders approved the following 
resolutions: 
 

The conversion of additional paid-in capital amounting to Php58,341,330.00 into 58,341,330 shares of 
stock to be paid, as and by way of stock dividends, to all stockholders of the Company as of 31 
December 2002 in proportion to the number of shares held by each stockholder and which will be 
issued out of the proposed increase in the authorized capital stock from One Hundred Fifty Million 
Pesos (Php150,000,000.00) to Three Hundred Eighty Million Pesos (Php380,000,000.00); 
 

The increase in authorized capital stock from One Hundred Fifty Million Pesos (Php150,000,000.00) 
divided into One Hundred Fifty Million (150,000,000) shares with par value of One Peso (Php1.00) per 
share to Three Hundred Eighty Million Pesos (Php380,000,000.00) divided into Three Hundred Eighty 
Million (380,000,000) shares with par value of One Peso (Php1.00) per share; and 
 

The amendment of Article Seventh of the Amended Articles of Incorporation in relation to the 
proposed increase in authorized capital stock. 
 

The Company’s subscribed and paid-up capital as of 31 December 2002, after incorporating the effect 
of stock dividends in 2002, amounts to Php139,341,330.00.   
 

On April 15, 2003, the SEC approved the aforesaid increase and amendments. 
 

The Company is a duly registered Clark Special Economic Zone (CSEZ) enterprise with Registration 
Certificate No. 95-53 dated 29 November 1995 and has a 25-year Lease Agreement to build, 
maintain, and manage a satellite earth station within the CSEZ.  TBGI holds a 25-year Congressional 
Telecom Franchise for commercial telecommunications operations under RA 8657, which the 
legislative body passed into law on 22 June 1998.  It also has an approved Provisional Authority to 
transmit radio signals to satellites granted by National Telecommunication Commission (NTC).    
 

TBGI generates revenues mainly from Internet, Intranet, and local loop services subscriptions of 
schools, corporate private sector and government agencies.  The Company sells (1) data services to 
subscriber schools (at present the Company only provides services to schools) for Internet 
connectivity and virtual private network connectivity, and (2) video uplink services to local and foreign 
TV channels.    
 

For the delivery of its services, TBGI owns and operates satellite facilities having separate buildings 
for transmitter and power generators at the 1.1-hectare area of former US Air Force Satellite 
Communication facility in CSEZ in Pampanga.  TBGI’s integral facility, the Clark Development Corp. 
(CDC) Broadcast Operations Center, houses 20 studios for media production and post-production 
services inside 277 square meter area of industrial-grade raised flooring, with an enclosed soundproof 
broadcast studio. TBGI connection to the Internet features the Asia Broadcasting Satellite 5 space 
segment, and UUNet fiber optic line to complete the link.  As back-up connectivity, a fiber optic line is 
terminated at TBGI data hub.    
 



 
  

The Company does not conduct research and development, in accordance with its policy of using 
existing technologies and forming alliances or supply arrangements with providers of applicable 
technology that come in the way to serve market opportunities better. TBGI operations do not 
generate waste or toxic emissions. 
 
 

Properties 
All of the Company’s properties and equipment units have been paid for in full and fully owned by the 
Company. 
 
 

Complementing the facilities in Clark, Pampanga is the TBGI Network Monitoring and Operations 

Center at the 9
TH

 floor of Summit One Building in Mandaluyong City, Metro Manila.  TBGI bought the 

remaining ATN financial interest in the 9
th

 Floor of Summit One Tower Building with a total area of 
853 square meters. In addition, TBGI owns a 210 square meter house inside a 248 square meter lot 
in Island Park Dasmariňas, Cavite.  The facility is used for training, seminars and other human 
resource development activities.   
 
 

The Company has no plan to acquire additional real estate properties within the next twelve (12) 
months. 
 
 

Legal Proceedings 
 

The Company is not involved in any litigation incidental to the conduct of its business. If there is any 
claim against the company, the Company believes that the cases against it have no legal basis and 
that there is no pending litigation that will have a material or adverse effect on its financial position or 
operations. 
 
 

Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders 
There was no meeting held during the 4th quarter of fiscal year ending December 31, 2018. 
 
 

Management's Discussion and Analysis or Plan of Operation 
 

(1) Plan of operation 
TBGI started to establish its data services network in 2001 with the installation of a satellite main hub 
transmitter-receiver to link the interactive broadband requirements of educational institutions. 
 

Aside from its new market development efforts, the Company plans to continue its business in the 
manner it did last year. The company’s internal revenue generation, interest income from various 
money market placements, and the cash balance are sufficient to satisfy its cash requirements for the 
next twelve months. It will continue to focus on its existing principal activities and has no plan to 
engage in major product research and development or purchase or sell any plant and significant 
equipment. The company values its human resources and it has no plan to decrease the number of 
its employees.   
 

There is no known trend or uncertainty that will significantly reduce TBGI’s liquidity. Management 
expects growth in revenues to come increasingly from data services and Internet growth as the 
satellite data broadcast network expands with market demand. The demand of schools subscribing 
for Internet connectivity will require equipment purchases that will be taken out of inventory.   
 

TBGI’s profitability is significantly sensitive to revenues and cost of bandwidth used.  While there is 
no known event that will materially affect revenues, the price of bandwidth has declined significantly 
with the sharing of the new DS3 line with various users located in Summit One Tower. 
 
CY 2018 
Total assets increased from PHP 358.371 million to PHP 563.359 million as of December 31, 2018.  
The net increase of PHP 205 million in the total assets resulted from movements in the following: 
 
Decrease in current assets of P 1.6 million arising from the following changes: 

a. Decrease of PHP 4.3 million in cash primarily due to additional investment in associates. 
b. Increase of PHP 2.8 million in accounts receivables. 
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Increase in non-current assets of PHP 206 million due to the following: 
a. Decrease in advances for projects of PHP 657 thousand due to liquidation. 
b. Increase in investment in associates of PHP 204 million due to additional subscription. 
c. Amortization of franchise by PHP 0.6 million. 
d. Decrease of PHP 16.million in property and equipment due to depreciation. 
e. Increase of PHP 16 million in investment property due to fair value adjustment. 
f. Increase of PHP 4 million in other non-current assets due to increase in advances to related 

parties. 
 
Total liabilities increased  from PHP 60 million as of December 31, 2017 to PHP 210 million as of 
December 31, 2018. The net increase of PHP 149 million was due to the following: 
 
Decrease in current liabilities of PHP 344 thousand arising from the following changes: 

a. Decrease of PHP 400thousand in short term loans. 
b. Increase in income tax payable of PHP 34 thousand. 

 
Increase of non-current liabilities by PHP 149 million arising from the following changes: 

a. Increase of PHP 192.500million in deposits due to deposit for future subscription. 
b. Increase of PHP 48 thousand in pension liability. 
c. Decrease of PHP43 million in advances from related parties. 

 
On the equity side, total equity increased from PHP297.885 million as of December 31, 2017 to 
PHP353.244 million as of December 31, 2018. The net increase of PHP55 million was due to the 
following: 

a. Increase of PHP40 million in share capital due to additional subscription. 
b. Increase of PHP15 million in retained earnings due to income during the year. 
 

The following table shows the top five (5) important financial indicators of the company with 
comparable period in the past year. 
 December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017 
Current Ratio 0.92 1.01 
Debt-to-Equity Ratio 0.60 0.20 
Gross Profit Margin 5.1% -20.2% 
Net Income to Sales Ratio 25%                  -11.0% 
Net Income (loss) in pesos P14,394,862 -P4,576,591 

 
The following are important performance indicators of the company: 
Current Ratio Calculated ratio of current assets into current liabilities.  Indicates the 

ability of the company to finance current operations without need for long 
term capital. 

Debt-to Equity Ratio Calculated ratio of total debt into total equity.  Indicates the level of 
indebtedness of the company in relation to buffer funds provided by 
equity against any operating losses.  Also indicates the capacity of the 
company to absorb or take in more debt. 

Gross Profit margin Calculate ratio expressed in percentage of the gross margin into 
revenues.  Indicates the ability of the company to generate margin 
sufficient to cover administrative charges, financing charges and provide 
income for the stockholders. 

Net Income to sales 
Ratio, and Earnings 
per Share 

Calculated ratio of net income into total revenues.  Indicates the 
efficiency of the company in generating revenues in excess of cash 
operating expenses and non-cash charges, and the ability of the company 
to declare dividends for stockholders. 

 
There is no material off balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent 
obligations) and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other persons 
created during the reporting period. 
 
 
 
 



 
  

 
 
 
CY 2017 
Total assets increased from PHP 310.284 million to PHP 358,371 million as of December 31, 2017.  
The net increase of PHP 48 million in the total assets resulted from movements in the following: 
 
Decrease in current assets of P 20 million arising from the following changes: 

a.  Decrease of PHP 6.6 million in cash primarily due to additional investment in associates. 
b.  Decrease of PHP 12.3 million in accounts receivables due to collection. 
c. Decrease of PHP 920 thousand in spares inventory due to transfer to property and 
 equipment. 

 

Increase in non-current assets of PHP 68 million due to the following: 
a.   Decrease in advances for projects of PHP 5 million due to liquidation. 
b.   Increase in investment in associates of PHP 96 million due to additional subscription. 
c.   Amortization of franchise by PHP 0.6 million. 
d.   Decrease of PHP 16.millionin property and equipment due to depreciation. 
e.  Decrease of PHP6.237 million in other non-current assets due to decrease in advances to 
 related parties. 

 

Total liabilities increased  from PHP 6.442 million as of December 31, 2016 to PHP 14.116 million as of 
December 31, 2017. The net increase of PHP 7.7 million was due to the following: 
 

Increase in current liabilities of PHP 92thousand arising from the following changes: 
a.   Increase of PHP 7.55 million in accounts payable due to accruals. 
b.   Increase in income tax payable of PHP 120 thousand. 

 

Increase of non-current liabilities by PHP 45 million arising from the following changes: 
a.   Decrease of PHP 125 thousand in deposits. 
b.   Increase of PHP 41 thousand in pension liability. 
c.   Increase of PHP45 million in advances from related parties. 

 

On the equity side, total equity remains almost the same as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 of PHP 
300 million and PHP302 million respectively. 

 
The following table shows the top five (5) important financial indicators of the company with 
comparable period in the past year. 
 December 31, 2017 December 31, 2016 
Current Ratio 1.00 5.28 
Debt-to-Equity Ratio 0.20 0.03 
Gross Profit Margin -20.2% 2.6% 
Net Income to Sales Ratio -11.2% 3.8% 
Net Income (loss) in pesos -P4,639,325 P1,477,317 

 
The following are important performance indicators of the company: 
Current Ratio Calculated ratio of current assets into current liabilities.  Indicates the 

ability of the company to finance current operations without need for long 
term capital. 

Debt-to Equity Ratio Calculated ratio of total debt into total equity.  Indicates the level of 
indebtedness of the company in relation to buffer funds provided by 
equity against any operating losses.  Also indicates the capacity of the 
company to absorb or take in more debt. 

Gross Profit margin Calculate ratio expressed in percentage of the gross margin into 
revenues.  Indicates the ability of the company to generate margin 
sufficient to cover administrative charges, financing charges and provide 
income for the stockholders. 

Net Income to sales 
Ratio, and Earnings 
per Share 

Calculated ratio of net income into total revenues.  Indicates the 
efficiency of the company in generating revenues in excess of cash 
operating expenses and non-cash charges, and the ability of the company 
to declare dividends for stockholders. 
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There is no material off balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent 
obligations) and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other persons 
created during the reporting period. 
 
CY 2016 
Total assets almost the same from PHP 308.730 million to PHP 310.284 million as of December 31, 
2016.  The net increase of PHP 1.5 million in the total assets resulted from movements in the 
following: 
 

Increase in current assets of P 13 million arising from the following changes: 
a. Increase of PHP 17.421 million in cash primarily due to collection of trade receivables. 
b. Decrease of PHP 4.137 million in accounts receivables due to collection. 
c. Decrease of PHP 300thousand in spares inventory due to transfer to property and 

equipment. 
 

Decrease in non-current assets of PHP 11.430 million due to the following: 
a.   Increase in advances for projects of PHP 300thousand due to adjustment in foreign exchange  
 rate. 
b.   Amortization of franchise by PHP 0.6 million. 
c.  Decrease of PHP 16.4millionin property and equipment due to depreciation.. 
d.  Increase of PHP5.787 million in other non-current assets due to increase in advances to 
 related parties. 

 

Total liabilities almost remains the same from PHP 7.7 million as of December 31, 2015 to PHP 7.8 
million as of December 31, 2016. The net increase of PHP 76thousand was due to the following: 
 

Increase in current liabilities of PHP 92thousand arising from the following changes: 
a. Decrease of PHP 145thousand in accounts payable due to payment. 
b. Increase of PHP 334thousand in loans payable. 
c.  Decrease in income tax payable of PHP 96 thousand. 

 

Decrease of non-current liabilities by PHP 16thousand arising from the following changes: 
a. Decrease of PHP 92thousand in deposits. 
b. Increase of PHP 75thousand in pension liability. 

 
On the equity side, total equity remains almost the same as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 of PHP 
302 million. 

 

The following table shows the top five (5) important financial indicators of the company with 
comparable period in the past year. 
 December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015 
Current Ratio 5.28 3.31 
Debt-to-Equity Ratio 0.03 0.03 
Gross Profit Margin 10.29% 11.37% 
Net Income to Sales Ratio 4.12% 3.42% 
Net Income (loss) in pesos P1,477,317 P1,203,046 

 
The following are important performance indicators of the company: 
Current Ratio Calculated ratio of current assets into current liabilities.  Indicates the 

ability of the company to finance current operations without need for long 
term capital. 

Debt-to Equity Ratio Calculated ratio of total debt into total equity.  Indicates the level of 
indebtedness of the company in relation to buffer funds provided by 
equity against any operating losses.  Also indicates the capacity of the 
company to absorb or take in more debt. 

Gross Profit margin Calculate ratio expressed in percentage of the gross margin into 
revenues.  Indicates the ability of the company to generate margin 
sufficient to cover administrative charges, financing charges and provide 
income for the stockholders. 

Net Income to sales 
Ratio, and Earnings 
per Share 

Calculated ratio of net income into total revenues.  Indicates the 
efficiency of the company in generating revenues in excess of cash 
operating expenses and non-cash charges, and the ability of the company 
to declare dividends for stockholders. 



 
  

 
There is no material off balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent 
obligations) and other relationships of the company with unconsolidated entities or other persons 
created during the reporting period. 
 
Disclosure on material events and uncertainties: 

1 There is no known trend, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will have 
material impact on the issuer’s liquidity 

2 There is no event that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to 
the company. 

3 There is no material off-balance sheet transaction, arrangement, obligations and other 
relationships of the company. 

4 There is no material commitment for capital expenditures. 
5 There is no known unfavorable trend, events, or uncertainties that have material impact on 

net sales. 
6 There is no significant element of income that did not arise from the issuer’s operations. 
7 There is no seasonal aspects that has a material effect on the FS. 
 

 

Information on Independent Accountant and related Matter 
 

(1) External Audit Fees and Services 
 
R. R. TAN & ASSOCIATES, CPAs, the external auditor of the company, audited the financial position as 
at December 31, 2018 and 2017 with the contract amount of P340,000 and P310,000 respectively, 
inclusive of out  of pocket expenses. 
 

R. R. Tan & ASSOCIATES, CPAs will audit the Company’s statement of financial positions and the 
related statements of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ending and will provide an audit report on the financial statements referred to 
above in accordance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
As part of the engagement, R. R. Tan & ASSOCIATES, CPAs will also assist in the preparation of the 
Company’s annual income tax returns for filing with the Bureau of Internal Revenue; 
 

There were no tax fees paid for the last two fiscal years for professional services rendered on tax 
accounting, compliance, advice, planning and any other form of tax services. 

  
There were no other fees paid by the company for product and other services provided by the auditor. 
 

The audit committee headed by Kenneth C. Co (Chairman),  Arsenio T. Ng (Member) and Paul B. 
Saria (Member) has no policies and procedures of the above services. 
 
(2) Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial 
Disclosure 
 

There were no events where R. R. Tan & ASSOCIATES, CPAs and the company had any disagreement 
on any matter of accounting principles or practices, financial statements disclosures, audit scope or 
procedures which led to a change in external auditors and if not resolved to the satisfaction of any of 
these accountants, would have caused the latter to make reference to the subject matter of 
disagreement in connection with its report. 
 
Expansion Plans 
 

Transpacific installed its web site www.tbgi.net.ph and is developing a portal, which form the basis for 
hosting of B2B and B2C e-commerce. TBGI has at its disposal the use of facilities owned by the ATN 
Group for the performance of broadband services.  Summit One Tower hosts the fiber optic backbone 
with bandwidth of 1 DS3 (equivalent to 22 E1 or 44 Mbps), and the necessary tower height for WIFI 
transmission in Metro Manila. With the DS3 bandwidth supply now available at Summit One Tower, 
the TBGI WIFI network envisaged for Metro Manila will be implemented in alliance with equipment 
suppliers from Taiwan and the USA. 
 

TBGI expects to become a major wireless data services provider for schools in the Philippines. There 
is no foreseeable event, which may have a material impact on its short-term liquidity, and no seasonal 

http://www.tbgi.net.ph/�
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aspect had material effect on the financial condition of the Company’s operation.   Funding for the 
expansion will be sourced from borrowings and available credit facilities from local banks.   
 
 

TBGI market development and business expansion are focused on energy. TBGI has made 
investments in ATN Philippines Solar Energy Group, Inc. (ATN Solar) in cooperation with project 
proponent ATN Holdings, Inc. The TBGI affiliate has secured its Solar Energy Service Contract from 
the Department of Energy for a 30 Megawatt Solar PV Power Plant near Metro Manila. The project is 
shovel ready and is undertaking financial closing with banks and private equity. 
 
Market Price for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters 
 

(1) Market Information 
 

The registrant’s common equity is principally traded at the Philippine Stock Exchange. TBGI high and 
low sales prices for the last two years are indicated in the table below. 
   

 Jan 1 to Dec 31, 2018 Jan 1 to Dec 31, 2017  
 High Low High 
Qtr. 1 0.56 0.44 1.75 
Qtr. 2 0.41 0.41 1.97 
Qtr. 3 0.54 0.51 2.09 
Qtr. 4 0.46 0.44 2.99 

 
 
The price information as of the latest practicable trading date, September 17, 2019  has a 
high of 0.365 and low of P0.355. 
 
 

(2) Holders 
 

There is no acquisition, business combination or other reorganization that affect the transaction on 
amounts and percentage of present holdings of the registrant’s common equity owned beneficially by: 

(a) more than five percent (5%) beneficial owner of registrant’s common equity; 
(b) each directors and nominee; and 
(c) all directors and officers as a group, and the registrant’s present commitments to 

such persons with respect to the issuance of shares. 
 

There are approximately 381 holders of common shares of the Company as of August 31, 2019. 
(based on the number of accounts registered with the Stock Transfer Agent). 
 
The top 20 common stockholders as of August 31, 2019 are as follows: 
 

Stockholder Number Of Common 
Shares Held

% of Total Shares 
Outstanding

1 NG, ARSENIO T. 1,712,370,990.00 45.11%
2 PCD NOMINEE CORP 1,320,628,790.00 34.79%
3 UNIPAGE MANAGEMENT, INC. 500,000,000.00 13.17%
4 ATN HOLDINGS, INC. 130,000,000.00 3.42%
5 PCD NOMINEE CORP 64,200,590.00 1.69%
6 LIU, JESSILYN NG 15,000,000.00 0.40%
7 YAP, RODOLFO T. 8,000,000.00 0.21%
8 NG, HILARIO TIU 4,008,040.00 0.11%
9 NG, ANNIE CHAM 3,750,000.00 0.10%
10 NG, MARK T. 3,750,000.00 0.10%
11 NG, MATTHEW H. 3,750,000.00 0.10%
12 NG, TIFFANY ANNE 3,750,000.00 0.10%
13 NG, IRENE T. 3,600,000.00 0.09%
14 NG, BUN KUI 3,600,000.00 0.09%
15 OLIVA, DULCE MARIA S. 3,600,000.00 0.09%
16 LIMQUECO, MARGIE VILLAFLOR 3,500,000.00 0.09%
17 LIMQUECO, MARGIE V. 2,180,000.00 0.06%
18 CHOA, BONIFACIO N. 1,000,000.00 0.03%
19 TAN, CAESAR Y. 1,000,000.00 0.03%
20 CHUA, RICARDO R. 1,000,000.00 0.03%  



 
  

 
 
 
(3) Dividends 
There was no cash dividend declared for the last three fiscal years and there are no restrictions that 
limit the payment of dividend on common shares. 
 
(4) Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 
 

The Company has not sold any securities within the past three years that were not registered under 
the RSA. 
 
Compliance with leading practice on Corporate Governance 
 

The company will make a separate submission on filling of Integrated Annual Corporate Governance. 
The detailed discussion of the Annual Corporate Governance Section deleted as per SEC 
memorandum Circular No. 5, series of 2013, issued last March 20, 2013 
 

The Company did not deviate from the adopted Manual of Corporate Governance and all members of 
the Board Directors as well as Senior Management officers completed and were duly certified to have 
attended a 1-day special in-house seminar on Corporate Governance. 
 
 
SEC FORM 17-A 
 
A copy of SEC Form 17-A will be provided to any stockholder of Transpacific Broadband 
Group International Inc. without any charge upon written request addressed to: 
      
 
 

Paul B. Saria 
     Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc. 

9
th
 Floor Summit One Tower 

     530 Shaw Blvd., Mandaluyong City, Metro Manila 





















TRANSPACIFIC BROADBAND GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 
 
 
 
1. Corporate Information 
 

Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc. (TBGI or the Company), a corporation 
duly organized and existing under the laws of Republic of the Philippines, was 
incorporated and registered with Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on July 
14, 1995, primarily to engage in the business of public commercial radio, terrestrial, 
cable, and satellite broadcast. The Company is 9.57% owned by Unipage Management 
Inc. 

 
The Company holds a 25-year Congressional Franchise to construct, establish, install, 
maintain, and operate communications systems for the reception and transmission of 
messages within the Philippines. It also has an approved Provisional Authority to transmit 
radio signals to satellites granted by the National Telecommunications Commission (NTC) 
on April 7, 1999. 
 
In 2007, the Company received from NTC its Certificate of Registration as a value added 
services provider and offer Voice Over Internet Protocol (VOIP) service. In the same year, 
NTC granted Frequency Supportability to the Company. 
 
The Company is a duly registered Clark Special Economic Zone (CSEZ) enterprise and 
has committed to operate, manage, and maintain a satellite earth station with broadcast 
production and postproduction facilities and other related activities, located at Clark Field, 
Pampanga. Pursuant to its registration with CSEZ, the Company is subject to a special 
tax rate of 5% of gross income on registered activities.  
 
The Company’s registered office is located at the 9th Floor of Summit One Tower, 530 
Shaw Boulevard, Mandaluyong City. Its satellite center is located at Bldg. 1751, Chico St., 
Clark Special Economic Zone, Angeles City, Pampanga. 
 
The financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2018 (including the 
comparative figures as of December 31, 2017 and 2016) were authorized for issue by the 
President on April 2, 2019. 
 

  
2. Basis of Preparation and Presentation 
 

Statement of Compliance 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in compliance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS), Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 
and interpretations thereof. PFRS are adopted standards by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council (FRSC) from the pronouncements issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board. 

 
 Basis of Financial Statement Preparation and Presentation 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis 
except for certain property and equipment and investment properties that are carried at 
fair value or revalued amounts.  
 
The financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso, the Company’s functional 
currency and all values represent absolute amount except when otherwise indicated. 
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements 
are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years 
presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 
Current Versus Non-Current Classification 
The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position based 
on current/non-current classification. An asset is current when it is:  
 

 Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating 
cycle;  

 Held primarily for the purpose of trading; · 
 Expected to be realized within twelve months after the end of the reporting 

period; or  
 Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle 

a liability for at least twelve months after the end of the reporting period.  
 
The Company classifies all other assets as noncurrent.  
 
A liability is current when:  
 
 It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;  
 It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;  
 It is due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting period; or  
 There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 

twelve months after the end of the reporting period.  
 
The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash on hand, demand deposits and short-
term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 
Date of Recognition 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the statements of financial 
position of the Company when it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. 
 
Initial Recognition 
All financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. Except for 
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, the initial measurement of these financial 
instruments includes transaction costs. 
 
Determination of Fair Value 
The fair value for instruments traded in active market at the reporting date is based on 
their quoted market price. For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, 
the fair value is determined by using appropriate techniques or comparison to similar 
instruments for which market observable prices exists. 
 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other 
observable current market transactions in the same instruments or based on a valuation 
technique, the Company recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair 
value in the statement of comprehensive income unless it qualifies for recognition as some 
other type of asset. 
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Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the 
statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to 
offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with 
master netting agreements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented gross in 
the statements of financial position. 
 
Classification and Measurement effective January 1, 2018 
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s 
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing 
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component, the Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the 
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade 
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component are measured at the 
transaction price determined under PFRS 15. 
 
The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its 
financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether 
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or 
both. 
 

 Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 
 
The Company measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following 
condition are met: 
 
 The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold 

financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and; 
 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to 

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding; 

 
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective 
interest (EIR) method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. 
 
The Company’s financial assets at amortised cost includes cash and cash 
equivalents, receivables, advances and deposits. 
 

 Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) 
 
Equity instruments 
Upon initial recognition, the company can elect to classify irrevocably its equity 
investments as equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they 
meet the definition of equity under PAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 
and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis. 

 
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets at FVOCI are carried at fair 
value. Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or 
loss. However, the Company may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within 
equity. Dividends are recognized as other income in the statement of profit or loss 
when the right of payment has been established, except when the Company 
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial 
asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income. 
Equity instruments designated at FVOCI are not subject to impairment 
assessment. 
 
As of December 31, 2018, the Company has no financial instrument under this 
category. 
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Debt instruments 
A debt financial asset is measured at FVOCI if both of the following condition are 
met: 
 
 The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is 

achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets 
and; 

 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. 

 
These financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs and subsequently measured at fair value. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in fair value are included in other comprehensive income 
within a separate component of equity. Impairment losses or reversals, interest 
income and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit and loss 
until the financial asset is derecognized. Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified from 
equity to profit or loss. This reflects the gain or loss that would have been 
recognized in profit or loss upon derecognition if the financial asset had been 
measured at amortized cost. Impairment is measured based on the expected 
credit loss (ECL) model. 
 
As of December 31, 2018, the Company does not have debt instruments at 
FVOCI. 
 

 Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVPL) 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for 
trading, financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through 
profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. 
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Financial assets with cash 
flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. 
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost 
or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be 
designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so 
eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of 
financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognized in the 
statement of profit or loss. Dividends are also recognized as other income in the 
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established. 
 
 

Classification and Measurement of Financial Liabilities effective January 1, 2018 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, except for the following:  

(i) Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss;  
(ii) Financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not 

qualify for derecognition or when the Company retains continuing 
involvement;  

(iii) Financial guarantee contracts;  
(iv) Commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate; and  
(v) Contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in accordance with PFRS 

3.  
 

A financial liability may be designated at fair value through profit or loss if it eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (an accounting 
mismatch) or:  
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(i) If a host contract contains one or more embedded derivatives; or  
(ii) If a group of financial liabilities or financial assets and liabilities is managed 

and its performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a 
documented risk management or investment strategy. 

 
Where a financial liability is designated at fair value through profit or loss, the movement 
in fair value attributable to changes in the Company’s own credit quality is calculated by 
determining the changes in credit spreads above observable market interest rates and is 
presented separately in other comprehensive income. 

As of December 31, 2018, included in this category are the Company’s accounts payable 
and accrued expenses. 
 

Classification of Financial Instruments as of December 31, 2017 
The Company classifies financial assets into the following categories, (i) At fair value 
through profit or loss (FVPL), (ii) Available-for-sale, (iii) Held-to-maturity and (iv) Loans and 
receivable. The Company classifies its financial liabilities into financial liabilities at FVPL 
and other financial liabilities. The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired or liabilities incurred and whether they are quoted in an active 
market. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition 
and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates such designation at every reporting 
date.  

 Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities at FVPL 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL include financial assets and 
financial liabilities held for trading and financial assets and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL. After initial recognition, financial 
assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are carried at fair value. 

 
 A financial asset and financial liability is classified as held for trading if: 
 

 It has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or 
 It is part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Company 

manages together and has recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 
 It is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

  
A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated 
as at FVPL upon initial recognition if: 

 
 Such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or 

recognition inconsistently that would otherwise arise; or 
 The financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets that is managed 

and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. 
 It forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives. 

 
As of December 31, 2017, there are no financial assets under this category. 

 
 Available-for-sale (AFS) 

AFS are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated on this category 
or not classified in any of the other categories. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
AFS assets are carried at fair value in the statement of financial position. Changes 
in the fair value are recognized directly in equity account as “Revaluation reserve 
on AFS financial assets”. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to 
be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in equity is 
included in profit or loss for the period. 

 
As of December 31, 2017, there are no financial assets under this category. 

 
 Loans and Receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise when 
the Company provides money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no 
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intention of trading the receivables. After initial measurement, loans and 
receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less allowance for impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are 
integral parts of the effective interest rate. 

 
Included under this category are the company’s cash and cash equivalents, trade 
receivables, advances and deposits. 

 
 Held-to-maturity (HTM) 

HTM investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities wherein the Company has the positive intention and 
ability to hold to maturity. After initial measurement, HTM assets are carried at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less impairment in value. 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and fees that are integral parts of the effective interest rate. Any 
changes to the carrying amount of the investment are recognized in statements of 
income. 

 
As of December 31, 2017, there are no financial assets under this category. 

 
 Other Financial Liabilities 

Issued financial instruments or their components, which are not designated as at 
FVPL are classified as other financial liabilities where the substance of the 
contractual arrangement results in the Company having an obligation either to 
deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy the obligation 
other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for 
a fixed number of own equity shares. The components of issued financial 
instruments that contain both liability and equity elements are accounted for 
separately, with the equity component being assigned the residual amount after 
deducting from the instrument as a whole the amount separately determined as 
the fair value of the liability component on the date of issue.  

 
After initial measurement, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Amortized cost is calculated by 
taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and fees that are 
integral parts of the effective interest rate. Any effects of restatement of foreign 
currency-denominated liabilities are recognized in the statement of comprehensive 
income.  
 
Included under this category are accounts payable and accrued expenses and 
loans payable. Furthermore, the adoption of PFRS 9 does not significantly change 
the accounting for financial liabilities under PAS 39. 

 
 
Reclassification of Financial Assets – effective January 1, 2018 
The Company can only reclassify financial assets if the objective of its business model for 
managing those financial assets changes. Accordingly, the Company is required to 
reclassify financial assets: 
 

(i) from amortized cost to FVPL, if the objective of the business model changes 
so that the amortized cost criteria are no longer met; and,  

(ii) from FVPL to amortized cost, if the objective of the business model changes 
so that the amortized cost criteria start to be met and the characteristic of the 
instrument’s contractual cash flows meet the amortized cost criteria. 

 
A change in the objective of the Company’s business model will be effected only at the 
beginning of the next reporting period following the change in the business model. 
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Reclassification of Financial Assets – As of December 31, 2017 
A financial asset is reclassified out of the FVPL category when the following conditions are 
met: 

(i) the financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing 
it the near future; and, 

(ii) there is a rare situation 
 

A financial asset that is reclassified out of the FVPL category if reclassified at its fair value 
on the date of reclassification. Any gain or loss already recognized in the statement of 
income is not reversed. The fair value of the financial asset on the date of reclassification 
becomes its new cost or amortized cost, as applicable. 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets effective January 1, 2018 
The Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt 
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the 
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all 
the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the 
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the 
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual 
terms. ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for 
credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses 
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a 
lifetime ECL). For trade receivables, the Company applies a simplified approach in 
calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but 
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The 
Company has established probability of default rates for third party trade receivables 
based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific 
to the debtors and the economic environment. The Company applies the historical credit 
loss method in case undue cost or effort is involved in calculating the ECL by considering 
the forward-looking factors. For inter-group trade receivables, the Company has 
established probability of default rates based on internal credit rating of the customers. 
Internal credit ratings are based on methodologies adopted by independent credit rating 
agencies. Therefore, the internal ratings already consider forward looking information. 

 
The Company consider a financial asset to be in default when contractual payments are  
180 days past due. However, Company considers internal or external information when 
there are indicators that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual 
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. 
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the 
contractual cash flows. 

 
Impairment of Financial Assets as of December 31, 2017 
The Company assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any objective 
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

 
(i) Assets carried at amortized cost 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables or 
held-to-maturity investments carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the 
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The amount of the loss is 
recognized in the profit and loss accounts. 

 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the 
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed. 
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Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the profit and 
loss accounts, to the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed 
its amortized cost at the reversal date. 
 

(ii) Assets carried at cost 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on an unquoted equity 
instrument that is not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably 
measured, or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by 
delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument has been incurred, the amount of 
the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market 
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not 
reversed in subsequent periods. 
 

(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets are subject to impairment review at each end of 
the reporting period. Impairment loss is recognized when there is objective 
evidence such as significant financial difficulty of the issuer/obligor, significant or 
prolonged decline in market prices and adverse economic indicators that the 
recoverable amount of an asset is below its carrying amount. 

 
Derecognition of Financial Instruments – as of and for the year ended December 31, 
2017 and 2018 

 
Financial Assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of 
financial assets) is derecognized where: 

 
 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
 the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has 

assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party. 
 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and 

either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred the control of the asset. 

 
Where the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has 
entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the 
asset is recognized to the extent of the Company’s continuing involvement in the asset. 
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is 
measured at the lower of original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount 
of consideration that the Company could be required to repay. 

 
Financial Liabilities 
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Prepaid Expenses 
Prepaid expenses are measured at amounts paid and subsequently recognized as expense 
over which the prepayments apply. 
 
Spare Parts Inventory 
Spare parts inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). Cost is 
determined using the first-in first-out method. NRV is the selling price less the estimated cost 
to sell. 
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Property and Equipment 
Transportation equipment, furniture, and fixtures are initially and subsequently carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment in value, if any. Buildings and improvements, 
uplink/data equipment and leasehold improvements are carried at revalued amounts less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. Subsequent acquisitions are stated 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. 

 
The initial cost of property and equipment consist of its purchase price, including any directly 
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended 
use. Expenditures incurred after the properties have been put into operation, such as repairs 
and maintenance, are normally recognized in profit or loss in the year the costs are incurred. 
In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an 
increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of 
property and equipment beyond its originally assessed standard of performance, the 
expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of the property and equipment.   
  
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the 
depreciable assets as follows: 

 
Building and improvements 20 years
Uplink/data equipment 10-20 years
Furniture and fixtures 10 years
Transportation equipment 5 years
Lease improvements 6 years or lease term 

whichever is shorter.
 

An asset’s residual value, useful life, and depreciation method are reviewed periodically to 
ensure that the period, residual value, and method of depreciation are consistent with the 
expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 
 
When assets are sold, retired, or otherwise disposed of, their cost and related accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or 
loss is reflected in profit or loss for the period.  

 
When the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, the 
cost is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. Fully depreciated assets are 
retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use. 

 
Investment Properties 
Investment properties consist of properties that are held to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both and that is not occupied by the company. Investment properties are 
initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. 
 
After initial recognition, investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on 
active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or 
condition of the specific asset. If this information is not available, the Company uses 
alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted 
cash flow projections. The Company reviews these valuations annually.  

 
Investment property that is being redeveloped for continuing use as investment property or for 
which the market has become less active continues to be measured at fair value. Investment 
property is derecognized when either it has been disposed of, or when the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn or sold and no future economic benefit is expected from its 
disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are 
recognized in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal. 
 
Investment in Associate 
An associate is an entity over which the Company is able to exert significant influence but not 
control and which are neither subsidiaries nor interests in a joint venture. Investment in an 
associate is initially recognized at cost and subsequently accounted for using the equity 
method.The equity method of accounting for investment in associate recognizes the changes 
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in the Company’s share of net assets of the associate. The share in the net results of the 
operations of the associate is reported as Equity in Net Loss/Earnings of an Associate 
reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. However, when the Company’s share of 
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate the Company does not 
recognize further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the investor resumes recognizing its 
share of those profits only after its share of the profits exceeds the accumulated share of 
losses that has previously not been recognized. Changes resulting from other comprehensive 
income of the associate or items recognized directly in the associate’s equity are recognized 
in other comprehensive income or equity of the Company, as applicable. 

 
Distributions received from the associates are accounted for as a reduction of the carrying 
value of the investment. 

 
If significant influence is lost over the associate, the Company measures the carrying value of 
investment at its fair value. The difference, if any, upon the loss of significant influence over 
its associate is reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 
Franchise 
The Company holds a congressional franchise for the operation of telecommunication 
service. All cost and expenses directly related to its initial acquisition that meets the definition 
of an intangible asset is capitalized as Franchise. After the initial recognition, Franchise is 
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Franchise is 
amortized using the straight line method over its congressional term of 25 years. The 
amortization period and amortization method is reviewed at each financial year-end. If the 
expected useful life of the asset is different from previous estimate, the amortization period is 
changed accordingly. When the carrying amount of Franchise is greater that its estimated 
recoverable amount, the cost is written down to its recoverable amount. Franchise is 
derecognized either upon disposal or the right to use expired. 

 
Other Non-current Assets 
Other non-current assets of the Company include advances to affiliates, security deposit, 
other receivable, rent receivable and other asset. 

  
Equity 
Share capital is determined using the par value of shares that have been issued. 

 
Share premium represents the excess of the par value over the subscription price. 

 
Retained earnings include all current and prior period results as disclosed in the Statements 
of Income. 

 
Share options is measured based on the fair value of the stock option on the date of grant. If 
the fair value of the stock option cannot be estimated reliably, the intrinsic value method is 
used. The intrinsic value is the excess of the market value of the share over the option price. 

 
Treasury shares are recorded at cost, which is equal to the cash payment or for noncash 
consideration. It is shown in the statements of financial position as a deduction from the 
equity. 

 
Revenue and Costs Recognition 
Revenue comprises revenue from rendering of services measured by reference to the fair 
value of consideration received or receivable by the Company for services rendered, 
excluding VAT and discounts. Revenue is recognized only when (or as) the Company 
satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of the promised goods or services to 
a customer. The transfer of control can occur over time or at a point in time. A performance 
obligation is satisfied at a point in time unless it meets one of the following criteria, in which 
case it is satisfied over time: 

 
   The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the 
 Company’s performance as the Company performs; 
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    The Company’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer 
controls as the asset is created or enhanced; and, 

   The Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the 
Company and the Company has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
completed to date. 
 

The transaction price allocated to performance obligations satisfied at a point in time is 
recognized as revenue when control of the goods or services transfers to the customer. If the 
performance obligation is satisfied over time, the transaction price allocated to that 
performance obligation is recognized as revenue as the performance obligation is satisfied. 

 
In addition, the following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognized: 

 
Service income 
Revenues from uplink services and bandwidth subscriptions are recognized when services 
are rendered and billed.  
 
Rent income 
Rent income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Interest income 
Interest income from bank deposits is recognized as interest accrues taking into account 
the effective yield on the related asset. 
 
Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive dividends is established. 
 

Cost is recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the related revenue is 
earned (e.g. when goods are sold or services have been performed). Expenses are 
recognized upon utilization of the service or when they are incurred. 

 
Income Taxes 
Current tax liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be paid to the tax authority. 
The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted as at the end of reporting period. 

 
Deferred tax asset is recognized for all temporary differences that are expected to reduce 
taxable profit in the future, and for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax 
credits. Deferred tax liability is recognized for all temporary differences that are expected to 
increase the taxable profit in the future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using 
the tax rates and laws substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax asset is reviewed at each end of reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. 
 
Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax 
expense in the statements of income. Only changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities that 
relate to a change in value of asset or liabilities are charged or credited directly to equity. 
 
Employee Benefits 
(i) Retirement benefit cost 
The Company provides for estimated retirement benefits costs required to be paid under RA 
7641 to qualifying employees. The cost of defined retirement benefits, including those 
mandated under RA 7641 is determined using the accrued benefits valuation method or 
projected benefit valuation method. Both methods require an actuarial valuation which the 
Company has not undertaken. Management believes, however, that the effect on the financial 
statements of the difference between the retirement cost determined under the current 
method used by the Company and an acceptable actuarial valuation method is not significant. 
 



   
      

- 12 -

(ii) Compensated absences 
Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leaves days (including holiday 
entitlement) remaining at reporting date. They are included as part of Accounts payable and 
accrued expenses account at the undiscounted amount the Company expects to pay as a 
result of the unused entitlement. 
 
Leases 
Company as a lessee 
Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risk and benefits of ownership of the 
asset are classified as operating lease. Operating lease payments are recognized as expense 
on a straight line basis over the lease term. 
 
Company as a lessor 
Leases where the Company does not transfer substantially all the risk and benefits if 
ownership of the assets are classified as operating leases. Lease payments received are 
recognized as an income in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis 
over the lease term. 
 
Foreign Currency Transactions and Translations 
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). 
The financial statements are presented in Philippine Peso, the Company’s functional and 
presentation currency. 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at exchange rates 
prevailing at the time of transaction. Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from 
settlement of such transaction and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
Property and equipment, Franchise, and Investment in an associate are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset 
may not be recoverable or the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount. 
Recoverable amount is the higher of the assets’ fair value less cost of disposal or value in 
use. Fair value less costs of disposal is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date less costs of disposal while value in use is the present value of estimated 
future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset or from its disposal at 
the end of its useful life. The following impairment assessment approach are used for each 
non-financial assets. 
 
Spare parts inventory 
The impairment is measured if NRV is less than the acquisition cost. Assessment is made at 
each reporting period whether there is an indication that previously recognized impairment 
may no longer exists or may have decreased.  
 
Property and equipment 
When carrying amount of the asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, the cost 
of the asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. 
 
Franchise 
Franchise is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently, if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined by 
assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the franchise relates. 
When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, an 
impairment loss is recognized.  
 
Investment in an associate 
The Company determines at each Statement of Financial Position date whether there is any 
objective evidence that investment in an associate is impaired. If this is the case, the 
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Company calculates the amount of impairment as being the difference between the 
recoverable amount of the investment in an associate and the carrying amount of the 
investment, and recognizes the amount in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously 
recognized may no longer exist and the carrying amount of the asset is adjusted to the 
recoverable amount resulting in the reversal of the impairment loss. 
 
Deposits for Future Stock Subscriptions 
Deposits for future stock subscription refer to the amount of money received by the Company 
with the purpose of applying the same as payment for future issuance of stocks. The 
Company does not consider a deposit for stock subscription as an equity instrument unless all 
of the following elements are present: 
 

 There is a lack or insufficient authorized unissued shares of stock to cover the 
deposit; 

 The Company’s BOD and stockholders have approved an increase in capital stock to 
cover the shares corresponding to the amount of the deposit; and, 

 An application for the approval of the increase in capital stock has been presented for 
filing or filed with the SEC. 

 
If any or all of the foregoing elements are not present, the transaction should be recognized 
as a liability. The amount of deposits for future stock subscription will be reclassified to equity 
accounts when the Company meets the foregoing criteria. 
 
Related Party Transactions 
Parties are considered  related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. The 
related party transactions are recognized based on transfer of resources or obligations 
between related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
  
Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when present obligation will probably lead to an outflow of 
economic resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of the 
outflow may still be uncertain. A present obligation arises from the presence of a legal or 
constructive commitment that has resulted from past events, for example legal disputes for 
onerous contract. 
 
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at end of reporting period, including 
the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Any reimbursement 
expected to be received in the course of settlement of the present obligation is recognized, if 
virtually certain, as a separate asset at an amount not exceeding the balance of the related 
provision. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will 
be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligation as a whole. In 
addition, long-term provisions are discounted at their present values, where time value of 
money is material. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at each end of reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current 
best estimate. 
 
In those cases, where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present 
obligations is considered improbable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot be 
measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial statements. 
 
Probable inflows of economic benefits that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset 
are considered contingent asset, hence, are not recognized in the financial statements. 
 
Operating Segment 
Operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which 
it may earn revenues and incur expenses whose operating results are regularly reviewed by 
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the chief operating decision maker to make decisions about how resources are to be 
allocated and for which discrete financial information is available. 
 
Management has determined that the Company has only one segment which is the provision 
of uplink and broadband system to its clientele. 
 
Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements. They are disclosed unless 
the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent 
assets are not recognized in the financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of 
economic benefits is probable. 
 
Events After End of Reporting Period 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Company’s financial 
position at the end of reporting period (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial 
statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements when material. 
 
Earnings (Loss) Per Share 
Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing profit for the period by the weighted 
average number of shares issued and outstanding during the year. 
 
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share 
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the earnings and number of shares for 
the effects of dilutive options and other dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 
 

4. Changes in Accounting Standards 
 
New Accounting Standards and Amendments to Existing Standards Effective as of 
January 1, 2018 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year 
except for the adoption of the following amendments to PFRS effective beginning January 
1, 2018.  
 
PFRS 9, Financial Instruments  
PFRS 9 Financial Instruments, which replaces PAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of PFRS 9, brings together all 
three aspects of the accounting for financial instruments project: classification and 
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early application permitted. Except for hedge 
accounting, retrospective application is required but providing comparative information is 
not compulsory. For hedge accounting, the requirements are generally applied 
prospectively, with some limited exceptions.  
 
The Company chose not to restate comparative figures permitted by the transitional 
provisions of PFRS 9, thereby resulting in the following impact: 
 

 Comparative information for prior periods will not be restated. The classification 
and measurement requirements previously applied in accordance with PAS 39 
and disclosures required in PFRS 7 will be retained for the comparative periods. 
Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 does not reflect the requirements 
of PFRS 9. 
 

 The Company will disclose the accounting policies for both the current period and 
the comparative periods, one applying PFRS 9 beginning January 1, 2018 and 
one applying PAS 39 as of December 31, 2017.  

 
The Company assessed that the adoption of PFRS 9, specifically on determining 
impairment loss using simplified approach (or general approach, as applicable), has no 
significant impact on the carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets. Financial 
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assets previously classified as loans and receivable will be classified as Financial assets 
at amortized cost. 
 
Further, there is no significant impact on the basic and diluted earnings per share as a 
result of the Company’s adoption of PFRS 9. 
 
The impact of adoption of PFRS 9 is as follows: 
 

 Trade and non-trade receivables, including advances to Related parties as of 
December 31, 2017 are held to collect contractual cash flows and give rise to 
cash flows representing solely payments of principal and interest and will be 
classified and measured as Financial asset at amortized cost beginning January 
1, 2018. 

 
 The adoption of PFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Company’s accounting 

for impairment losses for financial assets by replacing PAS 39’s incurred loss 
approach with a forward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. PFRS 9 
requires the Company to recognise an allowance for ECLs for all debt 
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. There are no impairment 
losses incurred at the adoption of PFRS 9. 

 
 

PFRS 15, Revenue from Contract with Customers. This standard replaces PAS 18, 
Revenue, and PAS 11, Construction Contracts, the related Interpretations on revenue 
recognition: IFRIC 13, Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15, Agreement for the 
Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18, Transfers of Assets from Customers, and 
Standing Interpretations Committee 31, Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving 
Advertising Services. This new standard establishes a comprehensive framework for 
determining when to recognize revenue and how much revenue to recognize. The core 
principle in the said framework is for an entity to recognize revenue to depict the transfer 
of promised goods or services to the customer in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or 
services. The Company’s revenues mainly pertain to the providing internet services which 
are recognized as the Company renders and completes the performance obligation 
agreed with the customer, who, in turn, receives and consumes the benefits provided by 
the Company as it performs the agreed service. Upon adoption, the Company has 
concluded that it is acting as principal in its revenue arrangements since the Company is 
the primary responsible for providing the services to customers which also bear the credit 
risk. 
 
PFRS 15 requires entities to exercise judgement, taking into consideration all of the 
relevant facts and circumstances when applying each step of the model to contracts with 
their customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for the incremental costs of 
obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. 
 

 
Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment – Classification and Measurement of 
Share-based Payment Transactions 
 
The amendments are intended to clarify following: 
 

 Accounting for cash-settled share-based payment transactions that include a   
performance condition; 

 Classification of share-based payment transactions with net settlement 
features; and 

 Accounting for modifications of share-based payment transactions from cash-
settled to equity settled 

 
On adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments without restating prior 
periods, but retrospective application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and 
other criteria are met.  
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The adoption of this amendment did not result in any impact on the financial statements 
since the Company has no share-based payment transactions. 
 

Amendments to PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts – Applying PFRS 9 ‘Financial Instrument’ 
with PFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ 
The amendments address concerns arising from implementing PFRS 9, the new financial 
instruments standard, before implementing the forthcoming insurance contracts standard. 
They allow entities to choose between the overlay approach and the deferral approach to 
deal with the transitional challenges. The overlay approach gives all entities that issue 
insurance contracts the option to recognize in other comprehensive income, rather than 
profit or loss, the volatility that could arise when PFRS 9 is applied before the new 
insurance contracts standard is issued. On the other hand, the deferral approach gives 
entities whose activities are predominantly connected with insurance an optional 
temporary exemption from applying PFRS 9 until the earlier of application of the 
forthcoming insurance contracts standard or January 1, 2021. The overlay approach and 
the deferral approach will only be available to an entity if it has not previously applied 
PFRS 9. 
 
The amendments are not applicable to the Company since there are no activities that are 
predominantly connected with insurance or issue insurance contracts.  

 
Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property – Transfers of Investment Property 
The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under 
construction or development, into, or out of investment property. The amendments state 
that a change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of 
investment property and there is evidence of the change in use. A mere change in 
management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change 
in use. The amendments should be applied prospectively to changes in use that occur on 
or after the beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the 
amendments. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 
1, 2018. Retrospective application is only permitted if that is possible without the use of 
hindsight. The amendments did not result in any impact on the Company’s financial 
statements. 
 
Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2014-2016 cycle) 
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2014-2016 cycle) are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018 and did not result in any material impact to the 
Company’s financial statements. They include: 
 

 PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 
The amendment deleted the short-term exemptions in paragraphs E3-E7 of 
PFRS 1, because they have now served their intended purpose. 
 

 PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
The amendment clarified the scope of the standard by specifying that the 
disclosure requirements in the standard, except for those in paragraphs B10-B16, 
apply to an entity’s interests listed in paragraph 5 that are classified as held for 
sale, as held for distribution or as discontinued operations in accordance with 
PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 
 

 PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
The amendment clarified that the election to measure at fair value through profit 
or loss an investment in associate or a joint venture that is held by an entity that 
is a venture capital organization, or other qualifying entity, is available for each 
investment in an associate or joint venture on an investment-by-investment basis, 
upon initial recognition. 
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Philippine IFRIC Interpretation 22, Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration 
The interpretation clarifies that in determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial 
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a 
nonmonetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of 
the transaction is the date on which an entity initially recognizes the nonmonetary asset 
or nonmonetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple 
payments or receipts in advance, then the entity must determine a date of the 
transactions for each payment or receipt of advance consideration. Entities may apply the 
interpretation on a fully retrospective basis. Alternatively, an entity may apply the 
interpretation prospectively to all assets, expenses and income in its scope that are 
initially recognized on or after the beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first 
applies the interpretation or the beginning of a prior reporting period presented as 
comparative information in the financial statements of the reporting period in which the 
entity first applies the interpretation.  

 
The adoption of this interpretation did not result in any significant impact on the financial 
statements. 

 
New Accounting Standard, Amendments to Existing Standards and Interpretations 
Effective Subsequent to December 31, 2018 
The standards, amendments and interpretations which have been issued but not yet 
effective as at December 31, 2018 are disclosed below. Except as otherwise indicated, 
the Company does not expect the adoption of the applicable new and amended PFRS to 
have a significant impact on its financial position or performance. 

 
 
Effective in 2019  

 
PFRS 16, Leases 
On January 13, 2016, the IASB issued its new standard, PFRS 16, Leases, which 
replaces PAS 17, the current leases standard, and the related Interpretations. 

 
Under the new standard, lessees will no longer classify their leases as either operating 
lease or finance leases in accordance with PAS 17. Rather, lessees will apply the single-
asset model. Under this model, lessees will recognize the assets and related liabilities for 
most leases on their statement of financial position, and subsequently, will depreciate the 
lease assets and recognize interest on the lease liabilities in their profit or loss. Leases 
with a term of 12 months or less or for which the underlying asset is of low value are 
exempted from these requirements. 

 
The accounting by lessors is substantially unchanged as the new standard carries 
forward the principles of lessor accounting under PAS 17. Lessors, however, will be 
required to disclose more information in their financial statements, particularly on the risk 
exposure to residual value. 

 
The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019. 
Earlier application is not permitted until the FRSC has adopted the new revenue 
recognition standard. When adopting PFRS 16, an entity is permitted to use either a full 
retrospective or a modified retrospective application, with options to use certain transition 
reliefs.  

 
Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2015-2017 cycle) 
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2015-2017 cycle) are effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2019 and will not have any material impact to the 
Company’s financial statements. They include: 
 

 PFRS 3, Business Combinations and PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements 
The amendments to PFRS 3 clarify that when an entity obtains control of a 
business that is a joint operation, it remeasures previously held interests in that 
business. The amendments to PFRS 11 clarify that when an entity obtains joint 
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control of a business that is a joint operation, the entity does not remeasure 
previously held interests in that business.  

 
 PAS 12, Income Taxes 

The amendments clarify that all income tax consequences of dividends (i.e. 
distribution of profits) should be recognized in profit or loss, regardless of how 
the tax arises. 

 
 PAS 23, Borrowing Costs 

The amendments clarify that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding after 
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes 
part of the funds that an entity borrows generally when calculating the 
capitalization rate on general borrowings. 

 
Amendments to PFRS 9, Financial Instruments – Prepayment Features with Negative 
Compensation 
The amendments cover two issues: 
 

 What financial assets may be measured at amortized cost. The amendment 
permits more assets to be measured at amortized cost than under the previous 
version of PFRS 9, in particular some pre-payable financial assets.  

 
 How to account for the modification of a financial liability. The amendment 

confirms that most such modifications will result in immediate recognition of a 
gain or loss. This is a change from common practice under PAS 39. 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, 
with early adoption permitted. The amendments will not have significant impact on the 
Parent Company’s financial statements. 

 
Deferred 
 
PFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements and PAS 28, Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 
or Joint Venture 
These amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements 
in PFRS 10 and those in PAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets 
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require that a full 
gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in 
a subsidiary or not).  A partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves 
assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. 
These amendments are originally effective from annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2016. This mandatory adoption date was later on deferred indefinitely pending 
the final outcome of the IASB’s research project on International Accounting Standards 
28. Adoption of these amendments when they become effective will not have any impact 
on the financial statements. 
 
 

5. Summary of Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of the 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 
(i) Judgments 
The following judgments were applied which have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in the financial statements. 
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Determination of functional currency 
The Company has determined that its functional currency is the Philippine peso which is 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates. 
 
Determination of control 
Control is presumed to exist when an investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee.  
 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company has 30% equity interest in an 
associate where the Company has significant influence over the associate’s financial and 
operating policies. 
 
Classification of leases 
The Company has entered into various leases to third parties. Judgment is exercise in 
determining whether substantially all the significant risk and rewards of ownership of the 
leased asset is transferred to the Company. Leases where the lessor transfer all the risk 
and rewards incidental to the ownership of the leased asset are taken up as finance 
leases. Leases where the lessor retains all the risk and rewards to assets are taken up as 
operating leases. 
 
Operating lease payment is reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Determination of fair value of assets and liabilities 
The Company measures fair value of assets and liabilities using the following fair value 
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. 
 

Level 1 
Included in the Level 1 category are assets and liabilities that are measured in 
whole or in part by reference to published quotes in an active market. Assets and 
liabilities are regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily 
and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing 
service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 
 
Level 2 
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from 
prices) 
 
Level 3 
Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs) 

 
Fair value measurement is disclosed in Note 6. 
(ii) Estimates 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation of 
uncertainty at end of reporting period, that have significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
are discussed below: 
Estimating allowance for probable losses on trade receivables 
The Company estimates the allowance for probable losses related to its trade receivable 
based on assessment of specific accounts when the Company has information that 
certain customers are unable to meet their financial obligation. In these cases, 
management uses the best available facts and circumstances including but not limited to 
third party credit reports and known market factors. 
 
As of December 31, 2018, management believes that no provision for impairment is 
necessary. In 2017, a reversal of allowance for probable loss on trade receivable in the 
amount of P3,159,565 was made due to collection of previous set-up of allowance for 
probable losses. 
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Estimating NRV of spare parts inventories 
The carrying value of inventories is carried at lower of cost and NRV. The estimates used 
in determining NRV is dependent on the recoverability of its cost with reference to 
existing market prices, location or the recent market transactions. The amount and timing 
of recorded cost for any period would differ if different estimates were used. 
 
The carrying value of spare part inventory amounted to P832,359 and P979,246 in 2018 
and 2017. (See Note 10) 
 
Estimating useful lives of property and equipment 
The Company reviews annually the estimated useful lives of property and equipment, 
based on the period on which the assets are expected to be available for use. It is 
possible that future results of operation could be materially affected by changes in these 
estimates. A reduction in the estimated useful lives of property and equipment would 
increase recorded depreciation and decrease the related asset account.  
 
The carrying value of property and equipment as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 
amounted to P70,908,215 and P87,402,731, respectively. (See Note 15) 
 
Recoverability of deferred tax assets 
The Company reviews the carrying amounts of deferred tax asset at each end of 
reporting period and reduces the deferred tax asset to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
tax assets to be utilized.  
 
The carrying value of deferred tax liabilities (net of deferred tax assets of P306,208 in 
2018) as at December 31, 2018 amounted to P754,670 The carrying value of Deferred 
tax assets (net of Deferred tax liabilities of P13,784 in 2017) as at December 31, 2017 
amounted to P672,228, respectively. (See Note 28) 
 
Estimating retirement benefits 
The determination of the Company’s obligation and cost for retirement and other 
retirement benefits which is based on RA 7641 is dependent on the length of stay of the 
qualifying employees and reaching the age of 60 upon retirement. Annually, retirement 
benefits are computed based on existing employees as there is no assurance that the 
employee will still be with the Company at the age of retirement. 
 
Retirement benefit cost recognized in the financial statements amounted to P40,582 in 
2018, P68,748 in 2017, and P75,845 in 2016. (See Note 20) 
 
Impairment of non-financial asset 
The Company assesses impairment on assets whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. 
Several factors are considered which could trigger that impairment has occurred. Though 
management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values reflected 
in the financial statements are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in these 
assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable values and any 
resulting impairment loss could have material adverse effect on the results of operations. 
 
As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, management believes that no provision for 
impairment losses is necessary. 
 
Measurement of stock options 
The compensation resulting from stock options is measured based on the fair market 
value of the stock option on the date of grant. If the fair value of the stock option cannot 
be estimated reliably, the intrinsic value method is used. The intrinsic value is the excess 
of the market value of the share over the option price. 
 
During 2010, the TBGI Remuneration Committee met to discuss the request of the Chief 
Financial Officer to indefinitely defer the Stock Option plan for the CEO. The Stock 
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Options Plan for the CEO may be restored only upon the recommendation of the 
Remuneration Committee and subject to the approval of the Board of Directors. 
 
As at December 31, 2018 and 2017, share options outstanding amounted to P8,921,814. 
(See Note 21) 

 
 
6. Fair Value Measurement 

The fair value for instruments traded in active market at the reporting date is based on 
their quoted market price. For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, 
the fair value is determined by using appropriate techniques or comparison to similar 
instruments for which market observable price exists. 
 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other 
observable current market transactions in the same instruments or based on a valuation 
technique, the Company recognizes the difference between the transaction price and the 
fair value in the statements of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other 
type of asset. 
 
The table below analyzes assets and liabilities measured at fair value at the end of the 
reporting period, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value 
measurement is categorized. 
 

2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash and cash equivalents -P                 7,858,193P      -P                 7,858,193P      
Receivables - net -                   3,882,099        -                   3,882,099        
Property and equipment -                   70,908,215      -                   70,908,215      
Investment properties -                   55,394,800      6,174,000        61,568,800      
Other non-current assets -                   6,022,032        -                   6,022,032        
Accounts payable and
    accrued expenses -                   (8,082,242)       -                   (8,082,242)       
Loans payable -                   (5,474,582)       -                   (5,474,582)       
Deposits -                   (192,903,000)   -                   (192,903,000)    
 
 
2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash and cash equivalents -P                 12,200,177P    -P                 12,200,177P    
Receivables - net -                   1,002,116        -                   1,002,116        
Advances for projects -                   657,699           -                   657,699           
Property and equipment -                   87,402,731      -                   87,402,731      
Investment properties -                   38,368,800      6,919,000        45,287,800      
Other non-current assets -                   1,840,434        -                   1,840,434        
Accounts payable and
    accrued expenses -                   (8,061,007)       -                   (8,061,007)       
Loans payable -                   (5,889,823)       -                   (5,889,823)       
Deposits -                   (403,000)          -                   (403,000)          

 
 

Fair values were determined as follows: 
 

 Cash and cash equivalents, receivables and other financial liabilities – the fair 
values are approximately the carrying amounts at initial recognition due to their 
short-term nature. 

 Property and equipment – fair value was based on appraiser’s report. It is 
estimated using Market Data Approach, which is based on sales and listings of 
comparable property registered within the vicinity that considered factors such as 
locations, size and shape of the properties. 
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 Investment properties – the valuation approach used in the independent 
appraiser’s report was Market Approach, which estimates the value of asset by 
comparing similar or substitute properties and related market data. 

 
 
7. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

 
Financial Risk 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risk. These risks arise from 
open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to 
general and specific market movements. The Company’s overall risk management 
program seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the 
Company. The policies for managing specific risks are summarized below: 
 
 Credit Risk 

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Company. The Company has adopted a policy of only 
dealing with creditworthy counterparties, and obtaining sufficient collateral, where 
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.  
 
The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to credit risk of the Company as 
at December 31, 2018 and 2017.  

2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents * 7,845,193P          12,187,177P        
Trade receivables 8,318,326            5,438,343            
Advances for projects -                       657,699               
Other non current assets** 6,022,032            1,840,434            

22,185,551P        20,123,653P        
*excludes cash on hand of P13,000

**excludes prepayments of transponder rent and real property tax

Gross Maximum Exposure

 
The credit risk on cash and cash equivalents are limited since funds are invested in 
financial institutions with high credit ratings. 
 
Trade receivables are accounts with its customer where appropriate trade relations 
have been established including billings and collections processes.  
 
The credit quality of the Company’s assets as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as 
follows: 

Past due Past due 
High Standard but not and
grade grade impaired impaired Total

Cash and cash equivalents 7,845,193P      -P                 -P                 -P                 7,845,193P      
Trade receivables -                   3,882,099         -                   4,436,227        8,318,326        
Other non-current assets -                   6,022,032         -                   -                   6,022,032        

7,845,193P      10,888,187P     -P                 4,436,227P      23,169,607P    

Neither past due nor impaired
December 31, 2018
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Past due Past due 
High Standard but not and
grade grade impaired impaired Total

Cash and cash equivalents 12,187,177P    -P                 -P                 -P                 12,187,177P    
Trade receivables -                   1,002,116         -                   4,436,227        5,438,343        
Non-trade receivable -                   -                    -                   -                   -                   
Advances for projects -                   657,699            -                   -                   657,699           
Other non-current assets -                   1,840,434         -                   -                   1,840,434        

12,187,177P    3,500,249P       -P                 4,436,227P      20,123,653P    

December 31, 2017
  Neither past due nor impaired

 
High-grade cash and cash equivalents are short-term placements and working cash fund 
placed, invested, or deposited in banks belonging to the top banks in the Philippines in 
terms of resources and profitability. 
 
Standard grade accounts are active accounts with propensity of deteriorating to mid-
range age buckets. These accounts are typically not impaired as the counterparties 
generally respond to credit actions and update their payments accordingly. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity or funding risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to 
meet commitments associated with financial instruments. Either liquidity risk may result 
from the inability to sell financial assets quickly at their fair values; or counterparty failing 
on repayment of a contractual obligation; or inability to generate cash inflows as 
anticipated. 
 
The Company manages its liquidity profile  to (i) ensure that adequate funding is available 
at all times; (ii) meet commitments as they arise without incurring unnecessary costs; (iii) 
to be able to access funding when needed at the least possible cost, and (iv) maintain an 
adequate time spread of financing maturities. 
 
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities at 
December 31, 2018 and 2017. 

> 1 month& >3 months & > 1 year &
< 1 month <3 months < 1 year <3 years Total

Accounts payable and
     accrued expenses 8,082,242P      -P                 -P                 -P                 8,082,242P      
Interest-bearing liabilities
     Loans payable -                   -                   5,500,000        -                   5,500,000        

8,082,242P      -P                 5,500,000P      -P                 13,582,242P    

December 31, 2018

 

> 1 month& >3 months & > 1 year &
< 1 month <3 months < 1 year <3 years Total

Accounts payable and
     accrued expenses 8,061,007P      -P                 -P                 -P                 8,061,007P      
Interest-bearing liabilities
     Loans payable -                   -                   5,900,000        -                   5,900,000        

8,061,007P      -P                 5,900,000P      -P                 13,961,007P    

December 31, 2017

 
Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk of change in fair value of financial instruments from fluctuation in 
foreign exchange rates (currency risk), market interest rates (interest rate risk) and 
market prices (price risk), whether such change in price is caused by factors specific to 
the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all instruments traded in the 
market. 
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Market risk is the risk to an institution’s financial condition from volatility in the price 
movements of the assets contained in a portfolio. Market risk represents what the 
Company would lose from price volatilities. Market risk can be measured as the potential 
gain or loss in a position or portfolio that is associated with a price movement of a given 
probability over a specified time horizon. 
 
i. Currency risk 
The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures 
primarily with respect to the US Dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises when future 
commercial transactions and recognized assets and liabilities are denominated in a 
currency that is not the company’s functional currency. Significant fluctuations in the 
exchanges rates could significantly affect the Company’s financial position. 
 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets 
and liabilities at reporting date are as follows: 

US Dollar
Peso 

Equivalent US Dollar
Peso 

Equivalent
Cash and cash equivalents 64,101$       3,379,670P   155,228$      7,749,448P    
Advances for projects -              -                13,000          648,999         

2018 2017

 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonable change in the US$ 
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, the Company’s income before tax 
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017: 

Increase/decrease in Peso to US Dollar Rate 2018 2017
+ P5.00 320,506P     841,140P        
 - P5.00 (320,506)      (841,140)         

Taxes
Effect on Income Before

 
 
There is no other impact on the Company’s equity other than those affecting profit and 
loss. 

 
ii. Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Floating interest rate instruments 
expose the Company to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments 
expose the Company to fair value interest risk.  
 
The Company’s interest risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining 
an appropriate mix of fixed and variable rate instruments. The policy also requires it to 
manage the maturities of interest bearing financial assets. Interest on fixed interest rate 
instruments is priced at inception of the financial instrument and is fixed until maturity. 

 
Exposure to interest rate risk arises from bank loans with interest dependent on the 
prevailing market rate. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company is not exposed 
to any interest rate risk from fluctuation of market interest. Thus, no sensitivity analyses 
are provided for 2018 and 2017 since its financial liability is not subject to a floating 
interest rate. 

 
Operational risk 
Operational risk is the risk of loss from system failure, human error, fraud, or external 
events. When controls fail to perform, operational risk can cause damage to reputation, 
have legal or regulatory implications or can lead to financial loss. The Company cannot 
expect to eliminate all operational risk but initiating a rigorous control framework and by 
monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Company is able to manage the risks. 
Controls include effective segregation of duties, access controls, authorization and 
reconciliation procedures, staff education, and assessment processes. Business risk such 
as changes in environment, technology, and industry are monitored through the 
Company’s strategic planning and budgeting processes. 
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Capital management 
The Company manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt 
and equity balance.  
 
The Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Company manages the 
capital structure and adjusts it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Company may adjust the dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, 
or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
The capital structure of the Company consists of issued capital, share premium and 
retained earnings. 
 
The financial ratio at the year-end, which is within the acceptable range of the Company, 
is as follows: 

2018 2017
Equity 353,244,062P   297,885,918P   
Total Assets 563,359,427     358,371,725      
Ratio 0.627                0.831                  

 
 

8. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
  

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, cash and cash equivalents represent cash on hand 
and cash in banks of P7,858,193 and P12,200,177, respectively. 

        
Cash in bank represents current accounts and US dollar account that earn interests at 
prevailing bank interest rates. 

 
Interest income on these deposits amounted to P15,287 in 2018, P10,038 in 2017, and 
P6,121 in 2016. 

 
 
9. Receivables 

 
      The composition of this account is as follows: 

2018                     2017                     
Trade

In local currency 4,436,227P           4,436,227P           
In foreign currency 3,882,099             1,002,116             

8,318,326             5,438,343             
Less: Allowance for probable losses (4,436,227)            (4,436,227)            

3,882,099P           1,002,116P           

 
Trade receivable in foreign currency represents US dollar subscription on uplink services 
from a customer based in Hong Kong. Unrealized foreign exchange gain on this account 
amounted to P237,124 in 2018 and P243,678 in 2017. 
 
Non-trade receivable represents receivable from Summit One Condominium Corporation 
on the sale of a communication tower bearing an interest rate of 7.5% per annum. 
 

Breakdown of allowance for probable losses is as follows: 
2018                     2017                     

Balance, January 1 4,436,227P           7,595,792P           
Provision -                        -                            
Reversal -                        (3,159,565)            
Balance, December 31 4,436,227P           4,436,227P           
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10. Other current assets 
 
The breakdown of this account is as follows: 

2018 2017
Spare parts inventory - net of allowance for 

impairment of P146,887 in 2018 832,359           979,246           
Prepaid taxes 151,697           151,697           

984,056P         1,130,942P      

 

 Spare parts inventory consists of communication supplies and materials that are 
normally provided to customers in the delivery of services. Spare part inventory as of 
December 31, 2018 is measured at NRV. The allowance for impairment in value is 
reported in the statement of comprehensive income. Spare part inventory as of 
December 31, 2017 is measured at cost which approximates the NRV. 

 
 Prepaid expenses in both years represents advance payment of real property taxes 

that will be applicable and expensed in the subsequent period. Payments are made in 
advance so as to take advantage of the discounts granted by the local government. 
Expired portion is charged to taxes and licenses reported as part of administrative 
expenses in in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 
 

11. Investment in an Associate 
 

Investment in an Associate represents the 29.93% equity interest in ATN Solar Energy 
Group, Inc (ATN Solar).  Management believes that it exercises significant influence over 
the financial and operating policies of ATN Solar. 
 
The composition of this account is as follows: 

2018 2017
Cost

Balance at beginning of year 209,500,000P     112,500,000P    
Additions during the year -                      97,000,000        
Balance at end of year 209,500,000       209,500,000      

Equity in net loss
Balance at beginning of year 5,064,808           3,964,784          
Share in net loss for the year 2,241,565           1,100,024          
Balance at end of year 7,306,373           5,064,808          

Deposit on stock subscription 206,800,000       -                     

408,993,627P     204,435,192P    

 
ATN Solar is a grantee of Solar Energy Service Contract with the Philippine Government 
through the Department of Energy to develop, own and operate a 30MW solar power 
plant in Rodriguez, Rizal. The following events transpired during 2018 involving the solar 
project of ATN Solar. 
 

 Significant completion of pre-construction activities; 
 Interconnection and negotiation for  power supply agreement with Manila 

Electric Company; 
 Registration of ATN Solar’s project site as Special Economic Zone with the 

Philippine Economic Zone Authority 
 
In the of process setting up the foundation, PV mounting frames and modules and other 
land developments, the Company have identified the quality of rocks and boulders at the 
project site to be of commercial use. Hence, a Rock Crusher Project was introduced. 
This involves the construction of rock crushing plant which will process armor rocks and 
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crushed basalt aggregates. As of December 31, 2018, the rock crusher processing plant 
have been completed and the trial-run of production of aggregates has commenced with 
production cost of ₱68.5 million at year-end. 
 
On various dates during 2018, the Company infused an additional ₱206.8 million unto 
ATN Solar in response to the latter’s capital call. The funds will be used to subscribe 
additional shares of ATN Solar pending for application for increase of share capital of the 
latter. 
 
The financial information of ATN Solar as of and for year ended December 31, 2018 and 
2017 is as follows: 

2018 2017
Total current assets 21,178,754P     41,485,929P       
Total non-current assets 1,476,378,726   858,514,077       
Total current liabilities 74,657,758        13,162,655         
Total non-current liabilities 747,452,388      203,900,656       
Net loss (7,489,360)        (3,675,321)          
Cash flow from investing activities (617,758,347)    (151,397,730)      
Cash flow from financing activities 604,814,947      167,608,735        

 
The reconciliation of net assets of the associate to the carrying amounts of investments in 
associates recognized in the statement of financial position is as follows: 
 

2018 2017
Net asset of associate 675,447,334P       682,936,694P       
proportionate ownership interest (%) 29.93 29.93

202,161,388          204,402,953          
Pre-acquisition adjustment 32,239                   32,239                   
Deposit on stock subscription 206,800,000          -                        

408,993,627P       204,435,192P       

 
 

12. Franchise - net 
 
The Company holds a 25-year Congressional Franchise to construct, establish, install, 
maintain, and operate communication systems for the reception and transmission of 
messages within the Philippines with a cost of P15M. 

 
The movement in this account is as follows: 

2018 2017
Balance, January 1 3,742,405P           4,342,405P           
Amortization (600,000)               (600,000)               
Balance, December 31 3,142,405P           3,742,405P           

 
The amortization of franchise is shown as part of direct costs in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. Management believes that the carrying amount of franchise is 
recoverable in full and no impairment loss in necessary. 
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13. Other Non-current Assets 
 
This account consists of:  

2018 2017
Advances to (see Note 26):

Palladian Land Development Inc. (PLDI) 1,176,051P      -P                     
ATN Phils. Solar Energy Group Inc. (Solar) 3,261,475        312,693           

Security deposits 1,584,506        1,527,741        
6,022,032P      1,840,434P      

 
Security deposits are made to secure leasing arrangement on transponders. These 
deposits are refundable at the expiration of lease term. 

 
14. Property and Equipment – net 
 
      The movement in this account is as follows: 
 

Building & Uplink/data Furniture & Leasehold Transportation
2018 improvements Equipment Fixtures improvements equipment Total

Carrying Amount
At January 1, 2018 23,893,402P   254,121,190P    5,180,726P   19,145,709P     14,675,284P      317,016,311P      
At December 31, 2018 23,893,402     254,121,190      5,180,726      19,145,709       14,675,284        317,016,311        

Accumulated depreciation
At January 1, 2018 20,698,746     174,928,109      4,487,346      16,144,086       13,355,293        229,613,580        
Provisions 1,194,667       12,037,618        376,214         2,147,990         738,027             16,494,516          
At December 31, 2018 21,893,413     186,965,727      4,863,560      18,292,076       14,093,320        246,108,096        

Net Carrying Value
At December 31, 2018 1,999,989P     67,155,463P      317,166P      853,633P          581,964P           70,908,215P        

 
Building & Uplink/data Furniture & Leasehold Transportation

2017 improvements Equipment Fixtures improvements equipment Total
Carrying Amount

At January 1, 2017 23,893,402P   253,200,490P    5,180,726P   19,145,709P     14,675,284P      316,095,611P      
Reclassification from
    spare parts inventory -                  920,700             -                -                    -                     920,700               
At December 31, 2016 23,893,402     254,121,190      5,180,726      19,145,709       14,675,284        317,016,311        

Accumulated depreciation
At January 1, 2017 19,504,077     162,890,486      3,561,376      13,996,094       12,617,265        212,569,298        
Provisions 1,194,669       12,037,623        925,970         2,147,992         738,028             17,044,282          
At December 31, 2017 20,698,746     174,928,109      4,487,346      16,144,086       13,355,293        229,613,580        

Net Carrying Value
At December 31, 2017 3,194,656P     79,193,081P      693,380P      3,001,623P       1,319,991P        87,402,731P        

 
During 2017, additions to property and equipment amounting to P920,700 represent 
reclassification from spare parts inventory.  

 
 
15. Investment Properties 
  

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, investment property consists of the following: 
 

2018                  2017                  
Condominium units 55,421,800P      38,368,800P      
Land and improvements 6,147,000          6,919,000          
Balance at end of year 61,568,800P      45,287,800P      
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Condominium units represent the beneficial ownership of four (4) commercial units held 
at Summit One Office Tower in Mandaluyong City with a total floor area of 852.64 square 
meters. Land and improvements represents a parcel of residential lot with house thereon 
and covers an area of 432 square meters. This is situated in Paliparan 1, Dasmariñas, 
Cavite.  
 
On April 2, 2018, these properties were subject of an appraisal conducted by Asian 
Appraisal Company, Inc. Accordingly, the aggregate fair market value of the 
Mandaluyong property amounted to P55.4 million or an increment of P17 million as of the 
date of appraisal. Such increment was reported under Fair value gains in the Statement 
of income. Fair value is determined using the Market approach under the level 2 of the 
fair value hierarchy. The highest and best use of these properties is commercial, its 
current use. 
 
Meanwhile, the Cavite property with fair market value of P6.1 million incurred an 
impairment loss of P772,000 as of April 2, 2018 and is reported in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income under impairment loss. The highest and best use of this property 
is for residential use. For strategic reason, the property is not used in that manner. Fair 
value of the land was determined under the Market approach. Fair value of improvements 
is determined using the Cost Approach. These are estimated under the level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy. 
 
The movements in investment properties as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 is as 
follows: 

2018                  2017                  
Balance, January 1 45,287,800P      45,287,800P      

Fair value gains 17,053,000        -                     
Impairment loss (772,000)            -                     
Balance, December 31 61,568,800P      45,287,800P      

 
The description of valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of 
investment properties classified as Level 2 and Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy is as 
follows: 

Location Type Valuation techniques Significant observable inputs Fair value hierarchy Range

Summit One Tower Condominium Market approach Selling price(per square meter) Level 2 P 61,864 - P 64,937

Units Size 5%

Location -5%

Improvement 10% - 15%

Residential Market approach Selling price(per square meter) Level 3 P 6,667 - P 9,000

Unit Neighborhood 10%

Development 10%

Caribe Subdivision Island 
Park, Parliparan II, 
Dasmariñas, Cavite

 
Significant increase (decrease) in selling price per square meter would result in a 
significantly higher (lower) fair value of the property. 
 
As of December 31, 2018, the lot remains idle and no immediate plan to develop or sell 
the property. There is no contractual obligation to develop the property or for repairs, 
maintenance and enhancements. 
 
During 2018 and 2017, there were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy. 
 
 
 
 
 



   
      

- 30 -

Rental income and direct operating expenses from investment properties included in the 
statement of income are as follows: 

2018               2017               2016
Rental income 2,684,723P    2,479,460P    2,242,152P    
Direct operating expenses on investment properties that:

Generated rental income 151,697          151,697          151,697          
Did not generate rental income 829                 829                 829                  

 
 

16. Advances for Projects 
 

Advances for projects are intended for identifying, researching and exploring feasible 
business prospects. The existing fund is earmarked on the development of a 30MW solar 
PV plant in Rodriguez, Rizal of ATN Philippines Solar Energy Group, Inc. (ATN Solar). 
These advances are not subject to interest and the Company intends to convert the 
outstanding balance into the shares of stock of ATN Solar once commercial operation of 
the latter starts. As of December 31, 2018, no impairment loss was provided since 
management believes that the advances are fully recoverable in the form of shares of 
stock of ATN Solar. ATN Solar is an associate of the Company. (See Note 12) 
 
The movement of this account is as follows: 

2018 2017
Balance at beginning of year 657,699P           5,628,869P        
Return of funds (705,653)             (5,091,300)          
Effect of changes in foreign exchange 47,954                120,130              

-P                   657,699P           

 
As of December 31, 2018 the funds are fully liquidated. 
 

 
17. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 
 

This account is broken down as follows: 
2018                 2017                 

Accounts payable 7,629,583P       7,629,583P       
Accrued expenses 452,659            431,424            

8,082,242P       8,061,007P       

 
The description of this account is as follows: 

 Accounts payable represents the unpaid balance of Supervision and Regulatory 
Fee (SRF) due to National Telecommunication Commission, now Department of 
Information and Communication Technology (DICT). SRF are assessed to public 
telecommunication companies based on paid up capital. SRF is payable on 
demand. 
 
As of June 18, 2018, an appeal was lodge to NTC for the settlement of unpaid 
SRF. Management believes that a favorable decision from NTC will be laid during 
2019. 
 

 Accrued expenses are accruals for various expenses and are usually settled for a 
maximum period of 6 months. 

 
Management believes that the carrying values of Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses approximate their fair values. 
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18.  Short-term loans 
 

Short-term loans are availed for working capital requirements. The loan carries a floating 
interest rate initially peg at 5.5% per annum, payable monthly in arrears. The principal is 
payable after 12 months renewable at the option of the both parties. The maximum credit 
line with the bank is up to P6 million. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the balance of 
the loan amounted to P5.5 million and P5.9 million, respectively. 
 
The loan is collateralized by the following: 
 

 Real estate mortgages over properties owned by a related party; and 
 Suretyship agreement by the Company as borrower and a stockholder as a 

surety. 
 
Total interest paid and accrued reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
amounted to P358,133 in 2018 and P310,780 in 2017 and P336,743 in 2016. The fair 
value of short-term loans amounted to P5.47 million and P5.88 million discounted using 
the borrowing rate of 5.5% and 5.0% as of December 31, and 2018, 2017, respectively. 
 
 

19. Deposits  
 

This account is broken down as follows: 
2018 2017

Deposit on stock subscription 192,500,000P    -P                       
Deposit on lease contracts 403,000             403,000             

192,903,000P    403,000P           

 

 On December 27, 2018, the Company received from a stockholder a total amount 
of P192.5 million intended for additional subscription to the Company’s share 
capital. In accordance with SEC Financial Reporting Bulletin No. 6, the same was 
presented in the liability section pending for filing with the SEC of documentary 
requirements on the increase in share capital. 
 

 Deposits on lease contracts are amounts paid by various lessee as guarantee for 
the faithful compliance to the terms and conditions of the lease contract. The 
amount is expected to be settled at the termination of the contract.  

 
 
20. Pension Liability 
 

The movements of pension liability as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are as follows: 
2018 2017

Balance at the beginning of the year 809,729P      851,280P       
Current service cost 40,582           68,748           
Benefits paid (88,761)         (74,602)          
Actuarial gain -                (35,697)          
Balance at year end 761,550P      809,729P       

 
The Company provides retirement benefits in accordance with the provisions of Republic 
Act No. 7641 (RA 7641), prescribing the minimum retirement benefits to be paid by a 
company to its qualified retiring employees. No actuarial valuations are made since the 
Company employs a minimal number of employees. 
 
Among others, RA 7641 provides for retirement benefits to retiring employees who have 
reached sixty (60) years old or more, but not beyond 65 years and have served at least 
five (5) years in the Company. Such retiring employee is entitled to a retirement pay of 
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one half (1/2) month salary for every year of service computed based on the following 
components: 
 

 15 days salary; 
 5 days of service incentive leave; and 
 One half (½) of the 13th month pay 

Differences in computation of pension liability arising from changes in number of 
employees are absorbed by current service cost as shown below. 
 

2018              2017             2016             
Salaries and wages 1,451,253P   1,474,695P   1,465,981P  
Provision for retirement benefit cost

Current service cost 40,582           68,748          75,845          
Actuarial gain -                (35,697)         -                

1,491,835P   1,507,746P   1,541,826P  

 
Management believes that any disparity of retirement benefit cost computed internally 
against independent actuarial valuations will not significantly affect the Company’s 
financial statements. 
 
 

21. Equity 
 
Share capital 
The Company’s capital movements is as follows: 

Shares Amount Shares Amount
Balances, Jan. 1, 2018 380,000,000       380,000,000P     222,019,330       222,019,330P     
Effect of change in

par value 3,420,000,000    -                      1,998,173,970    -                      
Issuance during the year -                      -                      400,000,000       40,000,000         

3,800,000,000    380,000,000P     2,620,193,300    262,019,330P     

Authorized Issued

 
There are no share capital transaction during the year ended December 31, 2017. 
 
Share capital transaction during 2018 is as follows: 
 

 On October 4, 2017, the BOD approved the amendment of Section 7 of the 
Company’s Articles of Incorporation changing the par value from P1.00 per share 
to P0.10 per share with the corresponding increase in Authorized and Issued 
shares. The same was ratified by the stockholders on October 4, 2017 and was 
approved by the SEC on January 18, 2018. 

 
 On September 17, 2018, the Company issued 400 million shares to Mr. Arsenio 

Ng, President, at a par value of ̈́P0.10 per share from the unissued share capital. 
This was made in response to a capital call from ATN Solar in pursuing its 
business objectives. 

 
From the total issued shares of 2,620,193,300, 2,090,193,300 shares are listed in the 
Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) and 4,378,000 shares are held in treasury. Such listing 
started on December 12, 2003. 

 
Share options 
On May 28, 2008, the Company’s BOD approved the grant of share option to its Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO). The CEO has been largely responsible for bringing the 
Company to its present financial condition. Furthermore, the CEO has not been 
compensated since his assumption of management in 2000. Hence, the grant of share 
option to the CEO will be in order. 
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The share option comprises the following: 
 

(i) 350 million shares of TBGI at par value of P0.10 per share as compensation for 
services rendered as CEO of the Company during the period 2001 to 2007, and; 

(ii) 50 million shares of TBGI at par value of P0.10 per share as compensation for 
services rendered as CEO of the Company during 2008 and onwards, provided, 
that the subject shares will not be sold in quantities exceeding 20% of the trading 
volume of Philippine Stock Exchange in any single business day. 

 
The stock options were measured using the intrinsic value method since the fair value of 
the options cannot be measured reliably. 
 
On April 23, 2009 in a special meeting of the BOD, additional terms of conditions was 
agreed defining the vesting schedule of the options as management believes that a one-
time recognition of the options cannot be afforded in 2008 alone. The vesting period was 
stretched up to 2023 of which 5,000,000 shares may be exercised starting 2013 up to 
2022. Another 55 million shares in 2022 and finally, 300 million shares in 2023 
 
During 2010, the Company’s BOD through the Remuneration Committee approved the 
indefinite deferment of the aforementioned stock options of the CEO. No options were 
exercised prior to the said deferment. 
 
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the stock options has a carrying value of 
P8,921,814. 
 
 

22. Service Income 
 

As discussed in Note 1, the Company is duly enfranchised to provide telecommunication 
services to various clients. Services include provision for uplink services, VSAT-based 
internet service, wireless networking, hosting and content conversion. 
 
The geographic distribution of the Company’s revenues as reported in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income is a follows: 

2018 2017 2016
Domestic  P       6,262,377 5,953,225P       7,423,465P    
Hong Kong 31,686,200        30,263,100       28,452,000    

37,948,577P     36,216,325P     35,875,465P  

 
VSAT uplink services have terms of 2 to 3 years, billable monthly with one month 
advance payment and one month security deposit. 
 
The revenues derived from overseas represents the account of a single customer. 
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23. Direct Costs 
 

This account consists of:  
2018 2017 2016

Depreciation (see Note 15) 16,494,516P    17,044,282P    16,708,768P    
Transponder lease (see Note 30) 10,806,141       10,952,003       10,629,176       
Rental (see Note 30) 3,529,137         3,208,444         2,914,249         
Salaries, wages and other benefits (see Note 20) 1,491,835         1,507,746         1,541,826         
Taxes and licenses 1,062,142         8,400,018         770,435            
Utilities and communication 1,012,143         895,411            901,814            
Amortization of franchise (see Note 13) 600,000            600,000            600,000            
Security services 480,351            487,478            381,661            
Transportation and travel 376,985            238,262            276,783            
Insurance 139,000            109,607            109,494            
Office supplies 3,450                97,359              95,634              

35,995,700P    43,540,610P    34,929,840P     

 
 

24. Other Income 
 

The composition of this account is as follows: 
2018                  2017                  2016                  

Fair value gain on investment properties 17,053,000P      -P                   -P                   
Rent income (see Note 16) 2,684,723          2,479,460          2,242,152          
Foreign exchange gain (loss):

Cash 412,117             (88,158)              118,581             
Accounts receivable 237,124             (419,316)            216,966             
Advances for projects 47,954               120,130             299,111             
Bank loans -                     -                     (57,112)              
Other non-current assets 56,764               -                     59,021               

Interest income 15,287               57,004               184,057             
Reversal of provision for probable loss -                     3,159,565          -                     

20,506,969P      5,308,685P        3,062,776P        

 
Foreign exchange gain arising from the translation of foreign currency accounts 
receivable is net of realized foreign exchange loss P662,994 in 2017. 
 
 

25. Administrative expenses 
 
This account consists of: 

2018 2017 2016                
Permits, taxes and licenses 1,293,325P   414,613         377,960           
Legal and professional fees 430,000         430,000P       430,000P        
Office supplies 82,208           
Representation and entertainment 40,450           39,000           20,947             
Transportation and travel 40,000           63,495           117,427           
Provision for probable losses -                -                 446,811           
Miscellaneous 40,000           15,852           184,461           

1,925,983P   962,960P       1,577,606P     

 
Pursuant to a Teaming Agreement executed in January 2013 and 2015, a 75%-25% cost 
sharing of cost/expenses related to technical operations was implemented. All other cost 
including, but not limited to salaries, utilities and associate dues shall be borne solely by 
PLDI. (See Note 26) 
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Accordingly, certain cost and expenses of the Company were significantly reduced since 
2013. 
 
 

26. Related party transactions 
 

The following related party transactions occurred during 2018 and 2017: 
Nature of

Related party transaction 2018 2017 2018 2017 Terms and condition
Associate
ATN Solar Advances 2,948,782P      -P                  -P                 -P                

Collection of Unsecured, unimpaired
advances -                   (3,514,264)         3,261,475P      312,693P        and no payment terms

Affiliated companies
Palladian Land

Devt. Inc (i) Rent income 2,684,723         2,479,460          -                    -                  
(PLDI)

(ii) Share in utilities 1,395,883         883,548             -                    -                  

Collection of Unsecured, unimpaired
advances (219,832)          (5,446,497)         1,176,051         (219,832)         and no payment terms

Managed Care
Philippines, Inc. (ii) Share in utilities -                   230,452             -                    -                  Unsecured, unimpaired
(MCPI) and no payment terms

Collection of -                   (576,131)            -                    -                  
advances

Stockholder (iii) Advances (43,012,857)     (45,000,000.00)  (1,987,143)        (45,000,000)    Unsecured, unimpaired
and no payment terms

(iv) Deposits for future 
subscription (192,500,000)   -                     (192,500,000)    -                  -                  
Total advances to related parties 1,176,051         312,693          
Total advances from related parties (194,487,143)    (45,219,832)    
Total (193,311,092)P (44,907,139)P  

Year-end balancesAmount of Transaction

 
Details of significant related party transactions are as follows: 

 
(i) As discussed in Note 16, the Company is a beneficial owner of certain condominium 

units registered under the name of PLDI. Title to the properties has not been released 
to the Company as the Company intends to sell the properties through the sales 
network of PLDI. These properties are leased out to third parties also through PLDI. 
Proceeds of the rent are remitted to the Company by the latter.  
  
Rent income collected by PLDI on these properties amounted to P2,684,723 in 2018 
and P2,479,460 in 2017. 
 

(ii) Pursuant to Teaming Agreements executed in January 2013 and 2015 between the 
Company and certain related parties operating within Summit One Condominium 
Tower, a cost and expense sharing scheme related to technical operations was 
implemented.  All other cost including, but not limited to salaries, utilities, and dues 
shall be borne by PLDI. Accordingly, certain cost and expenses maybe advanced by 
a party and to be reimbursed from another party on the proportionate share or usage 
between the related parties involved. 
 

(iii) Advances from stockholder were made for payment of additional stock subscription to 
ATN Solar.  
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For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, the Company charged 
PLDI, ATN Solar, and MCPI their proportionate share of communication, dues, and 
utilities expenses as shown below: 

2018 2017 2016
PLDI 1,395,883P   883,548P     771,022P    
MCPI -                230,452       345,687      

1,395,883P   1,114,000P  1,116,709P 

 
For the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, the Company did not provide 
compensation to its key management personnel. 
 
 

27. Registration with Clark Special Economic Zone 
  

The Company is a duly registered Clark Special Economic Zone (“CSEZ”) enterprise with 
Registration Certificate No. C2013-683 issued last January 10, 2014. This certificate 
supersedes Certificate of Registration No. 2002-065 dated July 25, 2002 and 95-53 dated 
November 29, 1995, issued by Clark Development Corporation (“CDC”) to the Company, 
and shall be valid until December 15, 2016 unless earlier revoked by CDC. As of 
December 31, 2018, the Company has renewed its tax exemption with CDC. 
 
Pursuant to Section 15 of Republic Act No. 7227, Section 5 of Executive Order No. 80 
and Proclamation 163, and as further confirmed by BIR Ruling No. 046-95 dated March 3, 
1995, the Company is entitled to all incentives available to a CSEZ-registered enterprise, 
including but not limited to exemption from customs and import duties and national and 
internal revenues taxes on importation of capital of goods, equipment, raw materials, 
supplies and other articles including household and personal items. 
 
Subject to compliance with BIR Revenue Regulations and such other laws on export 
requirements, exemption from all local and national taxes, including but not limited to 
corporate withholding taxes and value added taxes (“VAT”). In lieu of said taxes, the 
enterprise shall pay 3% of gross income earned to the national government, 1% to the 
local government units affected by the declaration of the CSEZ and 1% to the 
development fund to be utilized for the development of the municipalities contiguous to 
the base area. 
 
Exemption from inspection of all importations at the port of origin by the Societe Generale 
de Surveillence (“SGS’), if still applicable, pursuant to Chapter III, C.1 of Customs 
Administrative Order No. 6-94. 
 
However, in cases where the Company generated income from its sale of services to 
customs territory customers exceeding 30% of its total income, the entire income from all 
sources is subjected to the regular corporate income tax of 30% based on net income 
(e.i. gross income less allowable deductions) rather than the 5% preferential tax based on 
gross income. 

 
 
28. Income tax expense (benefit) 
 

The major components of provision for income tax for the years ended December 31, 
2018, 2017 and 2016 are as follows: 
 

2018 2017 2016
Current 230,235P         140,011P         108,328P         
Deferred 1,426,899        47,216             85,651             

1,657,134P      187,227P         193,979P         
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The components of deferred taxes that were recognized in the statements of financial 
position are as follows: 

2018 2017 2016
Deferred tax assets

Unrealized loss on fair value adjustment
    on investment property - net 46,320P           423,715P         423,715P         
Pension liability 38,077             40,486             42,563             
Allowance for probable losses 221,811           221,811           379,790           

306,208           686,012           846,068           

Deferred tax liability
Unrealized gain on fair value adjustment
    on investment property - net (1,023,180)       -                   -                   
Lease spread on transponder lease -                   -                   (30,739)            
Unrealized income on foreign exchange (37,698)            (13,784)            (95,886)            

(1,060,878)       (13,784)            (126,625)          

Net (754,670)P        672,228P         719,443P         

 
The reconciliation of tax on pretax income computed at the applicable statutory rate to     
income tax expense is as follows: 
 

2018 2017 2016
Gross profit before income tax 21,687,845P    (2,015,600)P     4,008,401P      
Statutory income tax (@5%) 1,084,392        (100,780)          200,420           
Adjustment for:

Permanent differences -                   -                   -                   
Non-taxable income (156,748)          (31,369)            (8,292)              
Non-deductible expenses 729,490           319,376           1,851               

Actual provision for income tax 1,657,134P      187,227P         193,979P         

 
 

29. Earnings (loss) per share 
 
Earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing the profit (loss) for the year by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year as follows: 
 

2018 2017 2016
(a) Profit (loss) for the year 15,358,144P              (4,576,591)P       1,477,317P        
Number of shares 
Shares outstanding at the beginning

of the year (see Note 21) 222,019,330              2,220,193,300   2,220,193,300   
Effect of changes in par vaue from P1 to P0.10 1,998,173,970           -                     -                     
Weighted average number of shares issued 
during the year 300,000,000              -                     -                     
(b) Adjusted weighted average number of shares 

outstanding - basic 2,520,193,300           2,220,193,300   2,220,193,300   
Effect of dilutive potential shares (see Note 21) 400,000,000              400,000,000      400,000,000      
Treasury shares (see Note 21) (4,378,000)                 (4,378,000)         (4,378,000)         
(c) Adjusted weighted average number of shares 

outstanding - diluted 2,915,815,300           2,615,815,300   2,615,815,300   

EPS:
Basic (a/b) 0.0061P                     (0.0021)P            0.0007P             
Diluted (a/c) 0.0053                       (0.0017)              0.0006               
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30. Lease commitments 
 
Company as a Lessee 
(a) Transponder lease with APT Satellite Company Ltd. 

On October 1, 2017, the Company amended its lease agreement with APT Satellite 
Company Ltd. to provide transponder satellite service. The existing 7.8MHz Service 
was renewed for the period of October 1, 2017 to September 30, 2019, and the 
monthly service fee was reduced from $19,500 to $16,380 with the effect from 
October 1, 2017. APT agrees to waive the monthly service fee for the period of 
September 2018. 
 
Transponder lease recognized in the statements of comprehensive income amounted 
to P10,806,141 in 2018, P10,952,003 in 2017, and P10,629,176 in 2016. None of 
these leases include contingent lease rental. 

 
(b) Lease Agreement with Clark Development Corporation 

The Company leases a land it presently occupies in Clarkfield, Pampanga with Clark 
Development Corporation for a period of twenty-five years starting July 10, 1995 to 
July 10, 2020. 
 

(c) Staff Housing and Guest House 
The Company leases its staff houses and a residential unit in Clarkfield, Pampanga. 
Both leases have minimum term of one year and renewable within one year upon 
mutual agreement of both parties. 
 

Rent expense recognized in the Statements of Comprehensive Income amounted to 
P3,529,137 in 2018, P3,208,444 in 2017, and P2,914,249 in 2016,.  
 
Future minimum lease payments from these lease contracts are as follows: 

2018 2017
within 12 months 13,843,403P    13,934,915P    
more than 12 months 3,878,195         9,304,528         

17,721,598P    23,239,443P    

 
Company as a Lessor 
(d) Lease Agreement with Various Lessees 

Through PLDI, the Company’s investment properties are leased out to various third 
parties (see Note 26). The lease is for a period of one year subject to renewal upon 
mutual agreement of the lessee and the lessor. 
 
Rent income recognized in the Statements of Income amounted to P2,684,723 in 
2018, P2,479,460 in 2017, P2,242,152 in 2016. (See Note 16) 
 
 

31. Other signification matters 
 

Subsequent events  
On April 2, 2019, the Board of Directors of the Company approved the subscription of Mr. 
Arsenio T. Ng of 1,179,806,700 shares at a subscription price of P0.1632 per share to be 
taken out from the remaining unissued capital stock. Payment for such share will be paid 
substantially in conversion of deposits for future subscription as discussed in note 19.  
 
Other matters 
Certain account and information in 2017 and 2016 is reclassed/adjusted to conform with 
2018 financial statement presentation. These are consequentially made as a result of 
change in par value from P1 to P0.10 per share. 
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32. Supplementary information required under Revenue Regulation 15-2010 
 

The Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) issued Revenue Regulation (RR) 15-2010 which 
requires additional tax information to be disclosed in the Notes to Financial Statements. 
The following information covering the calendar year ended December 31, 2018 is 
presented in compliance thereto. 

 
 The Company is a CSEZ-registered entity subject to zero-rated value-added tax. 

Pursuant to Section 15 of Republic Act No. 7227, Section 5 of Executive Order 
No. 80 and Proclamation 163, the Company is entitled to all incentives available 
to a CSEZ-registered enterprise. 
 

 The amounts of withholding taxes paid and accrued, by category are as follows: 

Expanded withholding taxes 13,443P             
Tax on compensation -                      

 
 As of December 31, 2018, the Company has no pending tax cases within and                  

outside the administration of the BIR. 
 

 Taxes and licenses presented in the statements of comprehensive income are as  
follows: 
 

Direct cost
Supervision and regulatory fee - NTC 1,045,097P        
Other licenses - NTC 17,045                

1,062,142           
Administrative expenses
Annual listing fee - PSE 250,000              
Additional listing fee - PSE 188,117              
Busines permits and licenses 550,221              
Real property tax 151,697              

Other permits and licenses 153,290              
1,293,325P        
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Employee benefits x
Amendments to PAS 19: Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions x
Annual Improvements (2012-2014 Cycle): Regional Market Issue Regarding Discount 
Rate

x

PAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance x
The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates x
Amendment: Net Investment in a Foreign Operation x

PAS 23 
(Revised)

Borrowing Costs x

Related Party Disclosures x
Annual Improvements (2010-2012 Cycle): Key Management Personnel x

PAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans x
Separate Financial Statements x
Amendments to PAS 27: Investment Entities x
Amendments to PAS 27: Separate Financial Statements - Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements

x

PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
Adopted

PAS 12

Not 
applicableEffective as of December 31, 2018

PFRS 10

Not early adopted

PFRS 11

PFRS 12

Not 
adopted

PFRS 13

PFRS 15

Not early adopted

Philippine Accounting Standards

PAS 1 
(Revised)

PAS 16

PAS 19 
(Amended)

PAS 21

PAS 24 
(Revised)

PAS 27 
(Revised)



Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures x
Amendments to PFRS 10, PFRS 12 and PAS 28: Investment Entities: Applying the 
Consolidation Exception

x

Annual Improvements (2014-2016 Cycle): Measuring an Associate or Joint Venture at 
Fair Value

x

Amendments to PAS 28: Investment in Associates and Joint Ventures and PFRS 10: 
Consolidated Financial Statements - Sale or Contribution of Assets Between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
Amendments to PAS 28: Long Term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

PAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies x
PAS 31 Interest in Joint Ventures x

Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation x
Amendments to PAS 32 and PAS 1: Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations 
Arising on Liquidation

x

Amendment to PAS 32: Classification of Rights Issues x
Annual Improvements (2009-2011 Cycle): Tax Effect of Distribution of Holders of 
Equity Instruments

x

Amendments to PAS 32: Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities x
PAS 33 Earnings Per Share x

Interim Financial Reporting x
Annual Improvements (2009-2011 Cycle): Interim Financial Reporting and Segment 
Information for Total Assets and Liabilities

x

Annual Improvements (2012-2014 Cycle): Disclosure of Information 'Elsewere in the 
Interim Financial Report'

x

Impairment of Assets x
Amendments to PAS 36: Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-financial Assets x

PAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets x
Intangible Assets x
Annual Improvements (2010-2012 Cycle): Revaluation Method - Proportionate 
Restatement of Accumulated Amortization

x

Amendments to PAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment and PAS 38: Intangible Assets 
-  Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortization

x

Investment Property x
Annual Improvements (2011-2013 Cycle): Investment Property x
Amendments to PAS 40: Transfers of Investment Property x
Agriculture x
Amendments to PAS 16: Property, Plant and Equipment and PAS 41: Agriculture - 
Bearer Plants x

Philippine Interpretations

IFRIC 1 Changes in Existing Decommissioning, Restoration and Similar Liabilities x
IFRIC 2 Member's Share in Co-operative Entities and Similar Instruments x
IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease x
IFRIC 5 Rights to Interests Arising from Decommisioning, Restoration and Environmental 

Rehabilitation Funds
x

IFRIC 6 Liabilities Arising from Participating in a Specific Market-Waste Electrical and 
Electronic Component

x

IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under PAS 29 Financial Reporting under 
Hyperinflationary Economies

x

Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives x

Amendments to Philippine Interpretations IFRIC-9 and PAS 39: Embedded Derivatives
x

IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment x
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements x

The Limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirement and Their 
Interaction

x

Amendments to Philippine Interpretations IFRIC-14, Prepayments of a Minimum 
Funding Requirement

x

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in Foreign Operation x
IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non Cash Assets to Owners x
IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments x
IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine x
IFRIC 21 Levies x
IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration x
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty Over Income Tax Treatments
SIC - 7 Introduction of the Euro x
SIC - 10 Government Assistance - No Specific Relation to Operating Activities x
SIC - 15 Operating Leases - Incentives x
SIC - 25 Income Taxes - Changes in the Tax Status of an Entity or its Shareholders x
SIC - 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal form of a Lease x
SIC - 29 Service Concession Arrangements - Disclosures x
SIC - 32 Intangible Assets - Web Site Costs x

PAS 40

Adopted
Not 

adopted
Not 

applicableEffective as of December 31, 2018
PAS 28 
(Amended)

Not early adopted

Not early adopted

PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

PAS 32

PAS 34

PAS 36

PAS 38

IFRIC 9

IFRIC 14

Not early adopted

PAS 41

PHILIPPINE FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
Adopted

Not 
adopted

Not 
applicableEffective as of December 31, 2018



2018 2017
A. Current/liquidity ratios

Current ratio 0.93                   1.02                     
Quick ratio 0.87                   0.95                     
Cash ratio 0.57                   0.87                     

B. Solvency ratio/Debt-to-equity ratio
Solvency ratio 0.15                   0.22                     
Debt ratio 0.37                   0.17                     
Debt-to-Equity ratio 0.59                   0.20                     

C. Asset-to-Equity ratio 1.59                   1.20                     

D. Interest rate coverage ratio 48.51                 (13.12)                 

E. Profitability ratios
Net profit margin analysis 40.47% -12.64%
Gross profit margin analysis 5.15% -20.22%
Return on assets 3.33% -1.37%
Return on equity 4.72% -1.52%
Return on capital employed 3.33% -1.37%

Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc.
Schedule II - Financial Soundness

Pursuant to SRC Rule 68, As Amended

5



Retained Earnings, as at December 31, 2017 37,954,552P      
Adjustments:

Cumulative share in losses of associate - prior period 5,063,808          
Loss on fair value adjustment of investment properties - prior period -                    
Deferred tax assets - net (672,228)            

Retained Earnings, as at December 31, 2017, as adjusted 42,346,132        
Net loss during the period closed to Retained Earnings 15,358,144   

Less: Non-actual/unrealized income net of tax -               
Equity in net income of associate/joint venture -               
Unrealized foreign exchage gain - net (except those attributable

to cash and cash equivalents) 341,842        
Unrealized actuarial gain -               
Fair value adjustment (mark-to-market gains) -               
Fair value adjustment of investment property resulting to gain 17,053,000   
Recognized deferred tax asset that increased the net income 379,802        
Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP - gain -               
Other unrealized gains or adjustments to the retained earnings as 

a result of certain transactions accounted for under PFRS -               
Subtotal 17,774,644   

Add: Non-actual losses
Depreciation on revaluation increment (after tax) -               
Unrealized actuarial loss -               
Equity in net loss of associate/joint venture 2,241,565     
Recognized deferred tax liability that decreased the net income 1,047,095     
Fair value adjustment (mark-to-market losses) -               
Adjustment due to deviation from PFRS/GAAP - loss -               
Loss on fair value adjustment of investment property (after tax) 725,680        

Subtotal 4,014,340     

Net loss actually incurred during the period 1,597,840          

Add(less):
Dividend declarations during the period -               
Appropriations of retained earnings during the year -               
Reversals of appropriations -               
Deemed cost adjustment on investment property -               
Treasury shares 437,800        

Subtotal (437,800)            

Retained Earnings as at December 31, 2018, available for dividend declaration 43,506,172P      

Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc.
Schedule III - Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Declaration

December 31, 2018
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ATN Philippines Solar               
Energy Group, Inc.                            

(30%)

Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc.
Schedule IV - A map showing the relationship between and among the Company 

and its ultimate  Parent Company, subsidiaries and associates 
Pursuant to Rule 68 as Amended

December 31, 2018

Transpacific Broadband
Group International, Inc.
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Name of Issuing entity and 
association of 

each issue

 Number of share
or principal amount
of bonds and notes 

 Amount 
shown in the 
balance sheet 

 Valued based 
on market 

quotation at 
balance

sheet date 

 Income 
received and

accrued 

Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc.
Schedule A - Marketable  Securities

December 31, 2018

None to report
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Name and Amounts
designation written Current Non current

of Debtor off

HRH Prince Abdul Aziz - Director * 657,699         47,954         705,653         -              -              -                  -                   
ATN Philippines Solar Energy Group, Inc. - Related party 312,693         2,948,782    -                 -              -              3,261,475       3,261,475        
Palladian Land Development Inc. - Related Party -                1,176,051    -                 -              -              1,176,051       1,176,051        
Managed Care Philippines, Inc. - Related Party -                -               -                 -              -              -                  -                   

970,392P       4,172,787P  705,653P        -P           -P            4,437,526P     4,437,526P       

* - additions represent unrealized foreign exchange gain 

Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc.
Schedule B: Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties and 

Principal Stockholders (other than related parties)
December 31, 2018

Balance at 
beginning of 

period
Additions

Amounts 
collected/ 
liquidated

Balance at end 
of period
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Name and Designation of 
Debtor

Balance at the beginning 
of the period

Additions Amount collected
Amounts 
written off

Current Non-Current
Balance at end of 

period

Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc.
Schedule C: Amounts Receivable from Related Parties which are eliminated during

the consolidation of financial statements
December 31, 2018

None to report
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Description Baginning Additions at Charged to cost Charged Other charges Ending 
Balance Cost and expenses to other additions Balance

accounts (deductions)

Franchise 3,742,405P           -P                     600,000P              -P                        -P                        3,142,405P                 

Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc.
Schedule D: Intangible Assets

December 31, 2018
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Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc.
Schedule E: Long Term Debt

December 31, 2018

Amount authorized 
by indenture 

Amount shown under current 
portion of long term debt in 

related balance sheet

Amount shown under 
caption "Long term 

Debt" in the balance 
sheet

Title issue and type
of obligation

None to report

12



Arsenio T. Ng 45,000,000P                   1,987,143P               
Palladian Land Development Corp 219,832                          -                            

45,219,832P                   1,987,143P               

Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc.
Schedule F: Indebtedness to related parties

(Long-Term Loans from Related Parties)
December 31, 2018

Name of related party
Balance at beginning of 

period
Balance at end of 

period
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Name of issuing entity of securities 
guaranteed by the company for which this 

statement is filed

Title of issue of each class of 
securities guaranteed

Total amount guaranteed and 
outstanding

Amount owned by a person 
for which statement is filed

Nature of 
guarantee

Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc.
Schedule G: Guarantee securities of other issuers

December 31, 2018

None to report
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Number of shares Number of Shares
Title of issue Number of Issued and Outstanding Reserved for Options Number of shares Directors, Others

Shares as Shown Under Related Warrants, Conversion held by affiliates Officers and 
Authorized Balance Sheet Caption and Other Rights Employees

Share capital 3,800,000,000   2,620,193,300                  400,000,000                      630,000,000               574,572,330              1,411,242,970   
 

Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc.
Schedule H: Share Capital

December 31, 2018

15
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   SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

 
 

SEC FORM 17-Q 
 
 

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 17 OF THE SECURITIES  
REGULATION CODE AND SRC RULE 17 (2) (b) THEREUNDER 

 
 
 

1. For the quarterly period ended June 30, 2019 
 
2. Commission identification no. AS095-006755 3.BIR Tax Identification No. 004-513-153 
 
4. TRANSPACIFIC BROADBAND GROUP INT’L., INC. 
 
5. Philippines 
 
6. Industry Classification Code:   
 
7. Bldg. 1751 Chico St. Clark Special Economic Zone, Angeles, Pampanga 
  (Satellite Center) 
 
8. Telephone No. (0632) 717-0523 
 
9. The Company did not change its name, address or fiscal year during the period covered by this 

report. 
 
10. Securities registered pursuant to Sections 4 and 8 of the RSA 
 
  Title of each Class    Number of shares of common 
        stock outstanding and 
        amount of debt outstanding 
    
  Common     P380,000,000 
          
11. These securities are listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange. 
  
 (a) The company has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 17 of the Code and SRC Rule 

17 thereunder or Sections 11 of the RSA and RSA 11(a)-1 thereunder, and Sections 26 and 141 
of the Corporation Code of the  Philippines, during the preceding twelve (12) months (or for such 
shorter period the registrant was required to file such reports) 

 
(b) The company has been subject to such filing requirements for the past ninety (90) days. 

 
 
I. Financial Statements.  
 
      



(Unaudited) (Audited)
30-Jun 31-Dec

Notes 2019 2018

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8 P3,882,958 P7,858,193
Receivables - net 9 14,389,349 3,882,099
Other current assets 10 832,359 984,056

   Total Current Assets 19,104,666 12,724,348

Noncurrent Assets
Investment in an associate 11 408,584,882 408,993,627
Franchise - net 12 2,842,405 3,142,405
Property and equipment - net 14 62,671,383 70,908,215
Investment properties 15 61,568,800 61,568,800
Other non-current assets 13 6,055,853 6,022,032

541,723,323 550,635,079
P560,827,989 P563,359,427

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 16 P7,631,430 P8,082,242
Short-term loans 17 5,500,000 5,500,000
Income tax payable 28,947              126,760

   Total Current Liabilities 13,160,377 13,709,002

Noncurrent Liabilities
Deposits 18 403,000 192,903,000
Pension liability 19 761,550 761,550            
Advances from related parties 25 1,787,143 1,987,143
Deferred tax liabilities-net 754,670 754,670

3,706,363 196,406,363
   Total Liabilities 16,866,740 210,115,365

Equity 
Share capital 20 380,000,000 262,019,330
Share premium 103,947,352 29,428,022
Share option outstanding 20 8,921,814 8,921,814
Retained earnings 51,529,883 53,312,696
Treasury shares 20 (437,800) (437,800)

Total Stockholders' Equity 543,961,249 353,244,062
P560,827,989 P563,359,427

See Notes to Financial Statements

-3-

TRANSPACIFIC BROADBAND GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC.
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY



30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

REVENUES 
Service income P8,860,300 P9,358,852 P17,510,850 P17,927,927
Other Income 687,590 664,718 1,366,296 1,317,175

9,547,890 10,023,570 18,877,146 19,245,102
COST AND EXPENSES
Direct cost 8,964,769 9,408,935 17,987,859 18,084,338
Administrative expenses 1,443,556 216,612 1,970,820 693,072
Finance costs - net 168,875 155,119 248,319 222,313

10,577,200 9,780,666 20,206,998 18,999,723

INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATION (1,029,310) 242,904 (1,329,852) 245,379
EQUITY IN NET LOSS OF AN ASSOCIATE 218,048 319,905 408,745 473,100

PROFIT (LOSS)  BEFORE INCOME TAX (1,247,358) (77,001) (1,738,597) (227,721)
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 28,947            30,340         44,216              57,605
PROFIT (LOSS)  FOR THE PERIOD (1,276,305) (107,341) (1,782,813) (285,326)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME -                  -               -                   -                   
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME(LOSS) (1,276,305)      (107,341)      P (1,782,813)       P (285,326)          
EARNINGS PER SHARE (0.0080) (0.0013)

See Notes to Financial Statements -4-

TRANSPACIFIC BROADBAND GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC.
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Quarter ending Six (6) month ending



30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

SHARE CAPITAL 380,000,000P  222,019,330P  

SHARE PREMIUMS 103,947,352 29,428,022

SHARE OPTIONS OUTSTANDING 8,921,814 8,921,814         

RETAINED EARNINGS (DEFICIT)
Balance, January 1 53,312,696 37,954,552
Profit (loss) (1,782,813) (285,326)

51,529,883 37,669,226

TREASURY SHARES (437,800) (437,800)

P543,961,249 P297,600,592

See Notes to Financial Statements -5-

TRANSPACIFIC BROADBAND GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC
 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Six (6) month ending



30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18 30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) profit before income tax P (1,247,358)      P (77,001)        P (1,738,597)       P (227,721)          
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 4,118,416 4,118,416 8,236,832 8,236,832
Amortization of franchise 150,000 150,000 300,000 300,000
Equity in net loss of an associate 218,048          319,905       408,745 473,100
Interest income (4,181)             (7,487) (4,975)              (8,667)

Operating income before working capital changes 3,234,925 4,503,833 7,202,005 8,773,544
Decrease (increase) in Operating Assets:

Receivables (5,224,203) (5,266,707) (10,507,250) (10,499,660)
Other current assets -                  1,210,011 151,697 371,529            

Decrease (increase) in Other non-current assets 644,091 -               (33,821) -                   
Increase/(decrease) in Operating liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (338,717)         (309,611)      (592,841) (430,973)
Interest received 4,181              7,487           4,975 8,667

Net Cash Provided by/(Used in) Operating Activities (1,679,723) 145,013 (3,775,235) (1,776,893)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Advances of related parties 36,250 (3,272,438) (200,000) (3,635,867)
Deposits (192,500,000)  -               (192,500,000)   -                   

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (192,463,750)  (3,272,438)   (192,700,000) (3,635,867)       
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayment of loans -                  -               -                   (400,000)          
Proceeds from stock subscription 192,500,000   -               192,500,000 -                   

Net Cash Provided by(used in) Financing Activities 192,500,000 -               192,500,000 (400,000)          
NET INCREASE (DECREASE)  IN CASH EQUIVALE (1,643,473)      (3,127,425)   (3,975,235) (5,812,760)       
CASH AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 7,858,193 12,200,177       
CASH AT END OF YEAR P3,882,959 P6,387,417

See Notes to Financial Statements -6-

TRANSPACIFIC BROADBAND GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC
 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Quarter ending Six (6) month ending



TRANSPACIFIC BROADBAND GROUP INTERNATIONAL, INC. 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2019 and DECEMBER 31, 2018  
 
 
 
1. Corporate Information 
 

Transpacific Broadband Group International, Inc. (TBGI or the Company), a co rporation 
duly organized and ex isting under t he laws of R epublic of t he P hilippines, w as 
incorporated and registered with Securities and Exchange Commission ( “SEC”) on Ju ly 
14, 1995,  p rimarily to e ngage in t he bus iness of pub lic commercial r adio, te rrestrial, 
cable, and satellite broadcast. The Company is 9.57% owned by Unipage Management 
Inc. 

 
The C ompany holds a 25 -year C ongressional F ranchise t o co nstruct, est ablish, install, 
maintain, and o perate co mmunications systems f or t he r eception an d t ransmission of  
messages within the Philippines. It also has an approved Provisional Authority to transmit 
radio signals to satellites granted by the National Telecommunications Commission (NTC) 
on April 7, 1999. 
 
In 2007, the Company received from NTC its Certificate of Registration as a value added 
services provider and offer Voice Over Internet Protocol (VOIP) service. In the same year, 
NTC granted Frequency Supportability to the Company. 
 
The Company is a duly registered Clark Special Economic Zone (CSEZ) enterprise and 
has committed to operate, manage, and maintain a sa tellite earth station with broadcast 
production and postproduction facilities and other related activities, located at Clark Field, 
Pampanga. Pursuant to i ts registration with CSEZ, the Company is subject to a sp ecial 
tax rate of 5% of gross income on registered activities.  
 
The Company’s registered o ffice is located at  the 9th F loor of Summit O ne T ower, 530 
Shaw Boulevard, Mandaluyong City. Its satellite center is located at Bldg. 1751, Chico St., 
Clark Special Economic Zone, Angeles City, Pampanga. 

  
2. Basis of Preparation and Presentation 
 

The f inancial st atements of t he C ompany have been  pr epared in co mpliance w ith 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS), Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS) 
and i nterpretations thereof. P FRS ar e adop ted st andards by the F inancial R eporting 
Standards Council ( FRSC) f rom t he pr onouncements issued by the I nternational 
Accounting Standards Board. 

Statement of Compliance 

 
 

The accompanying financial st atements have been p repared on a h istorical co st bas is 
except for certain property and equipment and investment properties that are carried at  
fair value or revalued amounts.  

Basis of Financial Statement Preparation and Presentation 

 
The f inancial st atements are pr esented in Philippine P eso, t he C ompany’s functional 
currency and all values represent absolute amount except when otherwise indicated. 

 
3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements 
are se t o ut be low. T hese p olicies have b een co nsistently applied t o a ll t he ye ars 
presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statements of financial position based 
on current/non-current classification. An asset is current when it is:  

Current Versus Non-Current Classification 



   
      

- 2 - 

• Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating 
cycle;  

• Held primarily for the purpose of trading; · 
• Expected t o be  r ealized w ithin twelve m onths after t he en d of  t he r eporting 

period; or  
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle 

a liability for at least twelve months after the end of the reporting period.  
 
The Company classifies all other assets as noncurrent.  
 
A liability is current when:  
 
• It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle;  
• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading;  
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting period; or  
• There is no unconditional r ight to defer the settlement of  the l iability for at  least 

twelve months after the end of the reporting period.  
 
The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 
 

Cash and  ca sh equ ivalents are d efined as cash on  hand , dem and depos its and  sh ort-
term, hi ghly liquid investments readily convertible t o known amounts of cash and w hich 
are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 

 

Financial Instruments 
 
Date of Recognition 
Financial asse ts and f inancial liabilities are r ecognized in t he st atements of f inancial 
position of  t he C ompany when i t beco mes a par ty t o t he co ntractual provisions of  t he 
instrument. 

Initial Recognition 
All f inancial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. Except for 
financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL, the initial measurement of these financial 
instruments includes transaction costs. 
 
Determination of Fair Value 
The f air va lue f or instruments traded in act ive market at  t he r eporting dat e is based on  
their quoted market price. For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, 
the f air va lue i s determined by using ap propriate t echniques or co mparison t o si milar 
instruments for which market observable prices exists. 
 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other 
observable current market t ransactions in the same instruments or based on a va luation 
technique, the Company recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair 
value in the statement of comprehensive income unless it qualifies for recognition as some 
other type of asset. 
 
Offsetting of Financial Instruments 
Financial asse ts and f inancial liabilities are of fset and t he n et am ount r eported in t he 
statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to 
offset t he r ecognized am ounts and t here is an i ntention t o se ttle on a net  bas is, or t o 
realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  This is not generally the case with 
master net ting agreements, a nd t he r elated assets and liabilities ar e pr esented gross in 
the statements of financial position. 
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Classification and Measurement effective January 1, 2018 
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on t he financial asset’s 
contractual ca sh f low ch aracteristics and t he C ompany’s business model f or m anaging 
them. With t he exception of  trade r eceivables that do no t contain a  significant f inancing 
component, the Company initially measures a f inancial asset at i ts fair value plus, in the 
case of  a f inancial asset not at  fair value through profit or loss, t ransaction costs. Trade 
receivables that do n ot co ntain a s ignificant f inancing co mponent ar e measured at  t he 
transaction price determined under PFRS 15. 
 
The Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its 
financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether 
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or 
both. 
 

• Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 
 
The Company measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following 
condition are met: 
 
 The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold 

financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and; 
 The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to 

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding; 

 
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective 
interest ( EIR) method and a re su bject t o impairment. G ains and losses ar e 
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. 
 
The C ompany’s financial asse ts at am ortised co st i ncludes cash and ca sh 
equivalents, receivables, advances and deposits. 
 

• Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) 
 
Equity instruments 
Upon i nitial r ecognition, t he co mpany can el ect t o cl assify irrevocably its equity 
investments as equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they 
meet t he def inition of  equity under PAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 
and are not held for trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-
instrument basis. 

 
Subsequent to i nitial r ecognition, financial a ssets at F VOCI ar e ca rried at  f air 
value. Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or 
loss. However, t he C ompany may transfer t he cu mulative ga in or  loss within 
equity. Dividends are recognized as other income in the statement of profit or loss 
when t he r ight of  paym ent has been established, except w hen t he C ompany 
benefits from su ch pr oceeds as a recovery of  par t of  t he co st of  the f inancial 
asset, i n which ca se, su ch ga ins are r ecorded i n other co mprehensive i ncome. 
Equity instruments designated at  F VOCI ar e not  su bject t o i mpairment 
assessment. 
 
As of June 30 , 2 019, t he Company has no f inancial i nstrument unde r t his 
category. 
 
Debt instruments 
A debt financial asset is measured at FVOCI if both of the following condition are 
met: 
 
 The f inancial asse t i s held w ithin a busi ness model whose ob jective i s 

achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets 
and; 
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 The co ntractual terms of t he f inancial asse t give rise on s pecified da tes to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. 

 
These financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction co sts and su bsequently measured at  f air va lue. G ains and l osses 
arising f rom ch anges in f air va lue are included in o ther co mprehensive income 
within a se parate co mponent of  equ ity. I mpairment l osses or r eversals, i nterest 
income and f oreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit and loss 
until the financial asset is derecognized. Upon derecognition, the cumulative gain 
or loss previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified from 
equity to pr ofit or  loss. T his reflects the g ain or loss that w ould hav e been  
recognized i n pr ofit or l oss upon der ecognition if t he f inancial ass et h ad been 
measured at  a mortized co st. I mpairment i s measured base d on t he ex pected 
credit loss (ECL) model. 
 
As of June 30, 2019, the Company does not have debt instruments at FVOCI. 
 

• Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVPL) 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for 
trading, f inancial assets des ignated up on initial recognition at  f air va lue t hrough 
profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. 
Financial asse ts are classified as held f or t rading if they are acq uired f or t he 
purpose of  se lling or  r epurchasing i n t he ne ar t erm. F inancial asse ts with cash 
flows that are not so lely paym ents of pr incipal and interest a re classified and  
measured at  fair value through profit or  loss, i rrespective of  the business model. 
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at amortised cost 
or at  f air va lue t hrough O CI, as described above , deb t instruments may be 
designated at f air va lue t hrough p rofit o r l oss on i nitial r ecognition if do ing so  
eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch. 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of 
financial pos ition at  fair va lue w ith ne t ch anges in f air va lue r ecognized i n the 
statement of profit or loss. Dividends are also recognized as other income in the 
statement of profit or loss when the right of payment has been established. 
 

Classification and Measurement of Financial Liabilities effective January 1, 2018 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, except for the following:  

(i) Financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss;  
(ii) Financial liabilities that a rise w hen a t ransfer of  a financial asse t does not 

qualify for der ecognition o r w hen t he C ompany retains continuing 
involvement;  

(iii) Financial guarantee contracts;  
(iv) Commitments to provide a loan at a below-market interest rate; and  
(v) Contingent consideration recognized by an acquirer in accordance with PFRS 

3.  
 

A financial liability may be designated at fair value through profit or loss if it eliminates or 
significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (an accounting 
mismatch) or:  

(i) If a host contract contains one or more embedded derivatives; or  
(ii) If a group of financial liabilities or financial assets and liabilities is managed 

and its performance evaluated on a fair value basis in accordance with a 
documented risk management or investment strategy. 

 
Where a financial liability is designated at fair value through profit or loss, the movement 
in fair value attributable to changes in the Company’s own credit quality is calculated by 
determining the changes in credit spreads above observable market interest rates and is 
presented separately in other comprehensive income. 
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As of June 30, 2019, included in this category are the Company’s accounts payable and 
accrued expenses. 
 

Reclassification of Financial Assets – effective January 1, 2018 
The Company can only reclassify financial assets if the objective of its business model for 
managing t hose f inancial asse ts ch anges. A ccordingly, the C ompany is required t o 
reclassify financial assets: 
 

(i) from amortized cost to FVPL, if the objective of the business model changes 
so that the amortized cost criteria are no longer met; and,  

(ii) from FVPL to amortized cost, if the objective of the business model changes 
so that the amortized cost criteria start to be met and the characteristic of the 
instrument’s contractual cash flows meet the amortized cost criteria. 

 
A change i n the objective of the Company’s business model will be ef fected only at the 
beginning of the next reporting period following the change in the business model. 
 
Impairment of Financial Assets effective January 1, 2018 
The C ompany recognises an a llowance f or ex pected cr edit losses (ECLs) f or a ll debt  
instruments not held at  f air va lue t hrough pr ofit or  l oss. E CLs are base d on t he 
difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all 
the cash flows that the Company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the 
original ef fective interest r ate. The expected cash f lows will include cash f lows from t he 
sale of  c ollateral he ld or  ot her cr edit e nhancements that ar e integral t o t he co ntractual 
terms. ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not 
been a s ignificant increase in cr edit r isk si nce i nitial r ecognition, E CLs are pr ovided f or 
credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been a significant increase 
in cr edit r isk si nce i nitial recognition, a l oss allowance is required f or c redit losses 
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a 
lifetime E CL). For t rade r eceivables, t he Company applies a si mplified approach in 
calculating E CLs. T herefore, t he Company does not track changes i n cr edit r isk, b ut 
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The 
Company has established probability of  default r ates for third pa rty trade receivables 
based on i ts historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific 
to the debtors and the economic environment. The Company applies the historical credit 
loss method in case undue cost or effort is involved in calculating the ECL by considering 
the f orward-looking f actors. F or inter-group t rade receivables, t he C ompany has 
established p robability of def ault rates based on internal cr edit r ating of  t he cu stomers. 
Internal credit ratings are based on m ethodologies adopted by independent credit rating 
agencies. Therefore, the internal ratings already consider forward looking information. 

 
The Company consider a financial asset to be in default when contractual payments are  
180 days past due. However, Company considers internal or ex ternal information when 
there ar e i ndicators that the Company is unlikely to r eceive t he out standing co ntractual 
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. 
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the 
contractual cash flows. 

 
Financial Liabilities 
A f inancial liability is derecognized w hen t he o bligation u nder t he liability is discharged or  
cancelled or expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender o n su bstantially different t erms, or  t he t erms of an ex isting liability are su bstantially 
modified, su ch an exchange or  m odification i s treated as a de-recognition of  t he or iginal 
liability and t he r ecognition of  a new  l iability, and t he d ifference in t he respective ca rrying 
amounts is recognized in profit or loss. 
 

 

Prepaid Expenses 
Prepaid expenses are measured at amounts paid and su bsequently recognized as expense 
over which the prepayments apply. 
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Spare parts inventory i s stated at  the lower of cost and net realizable value (NRV). Cost i s 
determined using the first-in first-out method. NRV is the selling price less the estimated cost 
to sell. 

Spare Parts Inventory 

 

Transportation equipment, furniture, and fixtures are initially and subsequently carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and impairment in value, if any. Buildings and improvements, 
uplink/data eq uipment and l easehold improvements are ca rried at  r evalued am ounts less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, i f any. Subsequent acquisitions are stated 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, if any. 

Property and Equipment 

 
The initial cost of property and equipment consist of its purchase price, including any directly 
attributable costs of br inging the asset to its working condition and location for its intended 
use. Expenditures incurred after the properties have been put into operation, such as repairs 
and maintenance, are normally recognized in profit or loss in the year the costs are incurred. 
In si tuations where i t can be c learly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an 
increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use of an item of 
property and equ ipment beyo nd i ts originally assessed st andard of  pe rformance, t he 
expenditures are capitalized as an additional cost of the property and equipment.   
  
Depreciation is computed o n a st raight-line method ove r t he est imated use ful l ives of t he 
depreciable assets as follows: 

 
Building and improvements 20 years
Uplink/data equipment 10-20 years
Furniture and fixtures 10 years
Transportation equipment 5 years
Lease improvements 6 years or lease term 

whichever is shorter.
 

An asse t’s residual va lue, useful life, and d epreciation method ar e r eviewed per iodically to 
ensure t hat t he per iod, r esidual va lue, and method of  depr eciation ar e co nsistent w ith t he 
expected pattern of economic benefits from items of property and equipment. 
 
When assets are sold, retired, or otherwise disposed of , their cost and related accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or 
loss is reflected in profit or loss for the period.  

 
When the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, the 
cost is written dow n immediately to i ts recoverable am ount. Fully depreciated assets are 
retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use. 

 
Investment Properties 
Investment pr operties consist of  properties t hat ar e he ld to ea rn r entals or f or ca pital 
appreciation or  b oth and that is not occu pied by the company. I nvestment pr operties are 
initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. 
 
After i nitial r ecognition, investment pr operty is carried a t f air value. Fair va lue is based on 
active m arket pr ices, adj usted, if nece ssary, f or any difference in the nature, l ocation or  
condition of  t he sp ecific asset. I f t his information i s not ava ilable, t he C ompany uses 
alternative va luation m ethods such as  r ecent pr ices on less act ive m arkets or d iscounted 
cash flow projections. The Company reviews these valuations annually.  

 
Investment property that is being redeveloped for continuing use as investment property or for 
which the market has become less active continues to be measured at fair value. Investment 
property is derecognized w hen e ither it has been d isposed of , or  w hen t he investment 
property is permanently withdrawn or sold and no future economic benefit is expected from its 
disposal. A ny gains or l osses on t he r etirement or  di sposal of  an i nvestment pr operty are 
recognized in profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal. 
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Investment in Associate 
An associate is an entity over which the Company is able to exert significant influence but not 
control and w hich are neither subsidiaries nor i nterests in a joint venture. Investment i n an 
associate i s initially recognized at  c ost and  su bsequently accounted for usi ng the equ ity 
method.The equity method of accounting for investment in associate recognizes the changes 
in the Company’s share o f net  assets of t he associate. The share in t he net results of the 
operations of t he associate i s r eported as  Equity in Net Loss/Earnings of an Associate 
reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. However, when the Company’s share of 
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate the Company does not 
recognize further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate. If the associate subsequently reports profits, the investor resumes recognizing its 
share of  t hose pr ofits only after i ts share o f t he profits exceeds the accumulated sh are of  
losses that has previously not been recognized. Changes resulting from other comprehensive 
income of the associate or items recognized directly in the associate’s equity are recognized 
in other comprehensive income or equity of the Company, as applicable. 

 
Distributions received f rom t he associates are accounted f or as a r eduction of  t he carrying 
value of the investment. 

 
If significant influence is lost over the associate, the Company measures the carrying value of 
investment at its fair value. The difference, if any, upon t he loss of significant influence over 
its associate is reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 
Franchise 
The C ompany holds a co ngressional f ranchise f or t he oper ation of  t elecommunication 
service. All cost and expenses directly related to its initial acquisition that meets the definition 
of an intangible asse t is capitalized as Franchise. A fter t he initial r ecognition, F ranchise i s 
carried at  co st less accumulated depr eciation and any impairment l osses. F ranchise is 
amortized us ing t he st raight line m ethod o ver its congressional t erm of  25 y ears. T he 
amortization per iod and am ortization method i s reviewed at  each  financial ye ar-end. I f t he 
expected useful life of the asset is different from previous estimate, the amortization period is 
changed acco rdingly. When t he ca rrying amount of  F ranchise i s greater t hat its estimated 
recoverable am ount, t he co st is written d own t o i ts recoverable am ount. Franchise i s 
derecognized either upon disposal or the right to use expired. 

 
Other Non-current Assets 
Other non -current asse ts of t he C ompany include adva nces to af filiates, se curity deposit, 
other receivable, rent receivable and other asset. 

  
Equity 
Share capital is determined using the par value of shares that have been issued. 

 
Share premium represents the excess of the par value over the subscription price. 

 
Retained earnings include all current and prior period results as disclosed in the Statements 
of Income. 

 
Share options is measured based on the fair value of the stock option on the date of grant. If 
the fair value of  the stock option cannot be estimated reliably, the intrinsic value method i s 
used. The intrinsic value is the excess of the market value of the share over the option price. 

 
Treasury shares are recorded at  co st, which i s equal to t he ca sh payment or  f or noncash 
consideration. I t i s shown i n t he st atements of f inancial pos ition as a deduct ion f rom t he 
equity. 

 

Revenue co mprises revenue f rom r endering of se rvices measured by reference to t he fair 
value of co nsideration r eceived or  r eceivable by the C ompany for se rvices rendered, 
excluding V AT and di scounts. Revenue i s r ecognized on ly when ( or as)  t he Company 
satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of the promised goods or services to 
a customer. The transfer of control can occur over time or at a p oint in time. A performance 

Revenue and Costs Recognition 
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obligation is satisfied at a po int in time unless it meets one of the following criteria, in which 
case it is satisfied over time: 

 
•   The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the 
 Company’s performance as the Company performs; 
•    The Company’s performance cr eates or enhances an asse t t hat t he cu stomer 

controls as the asset is created or enhanced; and, 
•   The Company’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the 

Company and the Company has an enforceable r ight to payment for performance 
completed to date. 
 

The t ransaction p rice a llocated t o p erformance ob ligations satisfied a t a  po int in t ime i s 
recognized as revenue when control of the goods or services transfers to the customer. If the 
performance obl igation is satisfied ove r t ime, t he t ransaction p rice al located t o t hat 
performance obligation is recognized as revenue as the performance obligation is satisfied. 

 
In addition, the following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognized: 

 
Service income 
Revenues from uplink services and bandwidth subscriptions are recognized when services 
are rendered and billed.  
 
Rent income 
Rent income is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Interest income 
Interest income from bank deposits is recognized as interest accrues taking into account 
the effective yield on the related asset. 
 
Dividend income 
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive dividends is established. 
 

Cost is recognized in the Statement of  Comprehensive Income when the related revenue is 
earned ( e.g. w hen goo ds are so ld or  se rvices have  bee n pe rformed). Expenses are 
recognized upon utilization of the service or when they are incurred. 

 

 

Income Taxes 
Current tax l iabilities are measured at  the amount e xpected to be pai d to the tax authority. 
The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that have been enacted or 
substantially enacted as at the end of reporting period. 

 
Deferred t ax asse t is recognized f or a ll t emporary differences that ar e expected t o reduce 
taxable pr ofit i n t he f uture, and f or the ca rry f orward of  unused tax l osses and unused tax 
credits. Deferred tax l iability is recognized for all temporary differences that are expected to 
increase the taxable profit in the future. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using 
the tax rates and laws substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. 

The carrying amount of  deferred tax asset is reviewed at  each end of  reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilized. 
 
Most ch anges in def erred t ax asse ts or l iabilities are r ecognized as a co mponent of  t ax 
expense in the statements of income. Only changes in deferred tax assets or l iabilities that 
relate to a change in value of asset or liabilities are charged or credited directly to equity. 
 

(i) Retirement benefit cost 
Employee Benefits 

The Company provides for estimated retirement benefits costs required to be paid under RA 
7641 t o qualifying em ployees. T he co st o f def ined retirement benef its, i ncluding t hose 
mandated under  R A 764 1 is determined us ing t he accr ued benefits va luation m ethod or 
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projected ben efit va luation m ethod. B oth m ethods require an  act uarial v aluation w hich t he 
Company has not undertaken. Management believes, however, that the effect on the financial 
statements of t he di fference bet ween t he r etirement co st det ermined under  t he cu rrent 
method used by the Company and an acceptable actuarial valuation method is not significant. 
 
(ii) Compensated absences 
Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leaves days (including holiday 
entitlement) remaining at reporting date. They are included as part of Accounts payable and 
accrued expenses account at  t he und iscounted amount t he Company expects to pay as a 
result of the unused entitlement. 
 
Leases 
Company as a lessee 
Leases where t he l essor r etains substantially all t he r isk and be nefits of ownership of  t he 
asset are classified as operating lease. Operating lease payments are recognized as expense 
on a straight line basis over the lease term. 
 
Company as a lessor 
Leases where t he C ompany does not t ransfer su bstantially all t he r isk and ben efits i f 
ownership of  t he asse ts are c lassified as operating leases. Le ase paym ents received ar e 
recognized as an income in the statement of comprehensive income on a st raight line basis 
over the lease term. 
 
Foreign Currency Transactions and Translations 
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment i n which the entity operates ( the functional currency). 
The f inancial st atements are pr esented in P hilippine P eso, t he C ompany’s functional and 
presentation currency. 
 
Foreign cu rrency transactions are t ranslated i nto t he f unctional cu rrency at exchange rates 
prevailing at  t he t ime of  t ransaction. Foreign cu rrency gains and losses resulting f rom 
settlement of  su ch t ransaction and f rom t he t ranslation at  ye ar-end ex change r ates of  
monetary assets and liabilities denominated i n f oreign cu rrencies are recognized i n the 
statement of comprehensive income. 
 

Franchise is reviewed f or i mpairment, annua lly or more f requently, i f events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined by 
assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the franchise relates. 

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
Property and equipment, F ranchise, a nd I nvestment i n a n asso ciate a re r eviewed f or 
impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset 
may not be r ecoverable o r t he r ecoverable am ount i s l ess than its ca rrying amount. 
Recoverable amount i s the higher of  the assets’ fair value less cost of  d isposal or value in 
use. Fair value less costs of  disposal is the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid t o t ransfer a liability in an or derly transaction bet ween m arket par ticipants at t he 
measurement date less costs of disposal while value in use is the present value of estimated 
future cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of an asset or from its disposal at 
the end of  i ts useful l ife. The following impairment assessment approach are used for each 
non-financial assets. 
 
Spare parts inventory 
The impairment is measured if NRV is less than the acquisition cost. Assessment is made at 
each r eporting p eriod whether t here is an indication t hat p reviously r ecognized impairment 
may no longer exists or may have decreased.  
 
Property and equipment 
When carrying amount of the asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, the cost 
of the asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. 
 
Franchise 
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When the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, an 
impairment loss is recognized.  
 
Investment in an associate 
The Company determines at each Statement of Financial Position date whether there is any 
objective ev idence t hat investment i n an asso ciate i s impaired. I f t his is the ca se, t he 
Company calculates the am ount of  impairment as being t he d ifference bet ween t he 
recoverable am ount of  t he i nvestment i n an asso ciate and t he ca rrying am ount of  t he 
investment, and recognizes the amount in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
All asse ts ar e su bsequently r eassessed f or indications that a n impairment l oss pr eviously 
recognized m ay no l onger ex ist a nd t he ca rrying am ount of  t he asse t is adjusted t o t he 
recoverable amount resulting in the reversal of the impairment loss. 
 
Deposits for Future Stock Subscriptions 
Deposits for future stock subscription refer to the amount of money received by the Company 
with t he pur pose of  ap plying t he sa me as payment f or f uture issuance of  st ocks. T he 
Company does not consider a deposit for stock subscription as an equity instrument unless all 
of the following elements are present: 
 

• There is a l ack or insufficient authorized uni ssued sh ares of st ock to co ver t he 
deposit; 

• The Company’s BOD and stockholders have approved an increase in capital stock to 
cover the shares corresponding to the amount of the deposit; and, 

• An application for the approval of the increase in capital stock has been presented for 
filing or filed with the SEC. 

 
If any or all of the foregoing elements are not present, the transaction should be recognized 
as a liability. The amount of deposits for future stock subscription will be reclassified to equity 
accounts when the Company meets the foregoing criteria. 
 
Related Party Transactions 
Parties are considered  related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant i nfluence ove r t he ot her pa rty in making f inancial an d oper ating dec isions. The 
related pa rty transactions are r ecognized based on t ransfer of r esources or obligations 
between related parties, regardless of whether a price is charged. 
  
Provisions 
Provisions are r ecognized w hen present o bligation w ill pr obably lead t o an out flow of 
economic resources and they can be es timated reliably even if the t iming or  amount of  the 
outflow may still be u ncertain. A  pr esent ob ligation ar ises from t he pr esence of  a legal or 
constructive commitment that has resulted f rom past  events, for example legal d isputes for 
onerous contract. 
 
Provisions ar e m easured at  the es timated ex penditure r equired to se ttle t he pr esent 
obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at end of reporting period, including 
the r isks and  unce rtainties asso ciated w ith t he pr esent o bligation. A ny reimbursement 
expected to be received in the course of settlement of the present obligation is recognized, if 
virtually certain, as a separate asset at  an amount not exceeding the balance of the related 
provision. Where there are a n umber of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will 
be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligation as a whole. In 
addition, l ong-term pr ovisions are d iscounted at  t heir pr esent va lues, w here t ime va lue of  
money is material. 
 
Provisions are reviewed at  each end of  reporting per iod and adj usted to reflect the current 
best estimate. 
 
In t hose ca ses, w here t he possible o utflow of  eco nomic resources as a r esult of  p resent 
obligations is considered improbable or remote, or the amount to be p rovided for cannot be 
measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the financial statements. 
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Probable inflows of economic benefits that do not yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset 
are considered contingent asset, hence, are not recognized in the financial statements. 
 
Operating Segment 
Operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which 
it may earn revenues and incur expenses whose operating results are regularly reviewed by 
the ch ief oper ating dec ision m aker t o m ake deci sions about how  r esources are t o be 
allocated and for which discrete financial information is available. 
 
Management has determined that the Company has only one segment which is the provision 
of uplink and broadband system to its clientele. 
 
Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements. They are disclosed unless 
the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote. Contingent 
assets are not  recognized in the f inancial st atements but d isclosed w hen a n inflow of  
economic benefits is probable. 
 
Events After End of Reporting Period 
Post ye ar-end eve nts t hat pr ovide additional i nformation a bout t he C ompany’s financial 
position at  t he end of  r eporting per iod ( adjusting eve nts) ar e r eflected in t he f inancial 
statements. Post year-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to 
the financial statements when material. 
 
Earnings (Loss) Per Share 
Basic earnings per  sh are is computed by dividing pr ofit f or t he pe riod by  t he w eighted 
average number of shares issued and outstanding during the year. 
 

4. Changes in Accounting Standards 

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share 
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the earnings and number of shares for 
the effects of dilutive options and other dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 
 

 

• Comparative information for prior periods will not  be r estated. The classification 
and measurement r equirements previously applied i n acco rdance w ith P AS 39  
and disclosures required in PFRS 7 will be retained for the comparative periods. 
Accordingly, the information presented for 2017 does not reflect the requirements 
of PFRS 9. 

New Accounting Standards and Amendments to Existing Standards Effective as of 
January 1, 2018 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year 
except for the adoption of the following amendments to PFRS effective beginning January 
1, 2018.  
 
PFRS 9, Financial Instruments  
PFRS 9  Financial Instruments, which r eplaces PAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement and all previous versions of PFRS 9,  br ings together all 
three aspects of t he acco unting for financial instruments project: c lassification and  
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. PFRS 9 is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early application permitted. Except for hedge 
accounting, retrospective application is required but providing comparative information is 
not co mpulsory. F or h edge acco unting, the r equirements are gener ally applied 
prospectively, with some limited exceptions.  
 
The Company chose n ot t o r estate co mparative f igures permitted by the t ransitional 
provisions of PFRS 9, thereby resulting in the following impact: 
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• The Company will disclose the accounting policies for both the current period and 
the comparative per iods, one ap plying PFRS 9 begi nning January 1, 2018 and  
one applying PAS 39 as of December 31, 2017.  

 
The C ompany assessed t hat t he adopt ion of  P FRS 9,  sp ecifically on de termining 
impairment l oss using simplified approach (or general approach, as applicable), has no 
significant impact on t he carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets. F inancial 
assets previously classified as loans and receivable will be classified as Financial assets 
at amortized cost. 
 
Further, there is no significant impact on t he basic and diluted earnings per share as a 
result of the Company’s adoption of PFRS 9. 
 
The impact of adoption of PFRS 9 is as follows: 
 
 Trade a nd non -trade r eceivables, i ncluding advances to R elated par ties as of 

December 31,  2017 a re he ld t o co llect co ntractual ca sh f lows and g ive rise t o 
cash f lows representing so lely paym ents of pr incipal and  interest a nd w ill be 
classified and measured as Financial asset at amortized cost beginning January 
1, 2018. 

 
 The adoption of PFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the Company’s accounting 

for i mpairment l osses for f inancial asse ts by replacing P AS 39’ s incurred l oss 
approach with a f orward-looking expected credit loss (ECL) approach. PFRS 9 
requires the C ompany to r ecognise an allowance f or E CLs for a ll deb t 
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. There are no impairment 
losses incurred at the adoption of PFRS 9. 

 
PFRS 1 5, Revenue from Contract with Customers. This st andard r eplaces PAS 18,  
Revenue, and P AS 11,  Construction Contracts, t he r elated I nterpretations on revenue 
recognition: I FRIC 13,  Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 1 5, Agreement for the 
Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 1 8, Transfers of Assets from Customers, and  
Standing I nterpretations Committee 31 , Revenue – Barter Transactions Involving 
Advertising Services. This new st andard es tablishes a co mprehensive f ramework for 
determining when to recognize revenue and how much revenue to recognize. The core 
principle in the said framework is for an entity to recognize revenue to depict the transfer 
of pr omised goods or se rvices to t he c ustomer i n an am ount t hat r eflects the 
consideration to which the ent ity expects to be ent itled in exchange for those goods or 
services. The Company’s revenues mainly pertain to the providing internet services which 
are r ecognized as the C ompany renders and co mpletes the per formance obl igation 
agreed with the customer, who, in turn, receives and consumes the benefits provided by 
the C ompany as it per forms the agr eed se rvice. Upon adopt ion, t he C ompany has 
concluded that it is acting as principal in its revenue arrangements since the Company is 
the primary responsible for providing the services to customers which also bear the credit 
risk. 
 
PFRS 15 r equires entities to ex ercise j udgement, t aking into c onsideration a ll of  t he 
relevant facts and circumstances when applying each step of the model to contracts with 
their customers. The standard also specifies the accounting for the incremental costs of 
obtaining a contract and the costs directly related to fulfilling a contract. 

 
Amendments to P FRS 2,  Share-based Payment – Classification and Measurement of 
Share-based Payment Transactions 
 
The amendments are intended to clarify following: 
 

• Accounting f or ca sh-settled share-based payment t ransactions that include a    
performance condition; 

• Classification of  sh are-based paym ent t ransactions with net  se ttlement 
features; and 
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• Accounting for modifications of share-based payment t ransactions from cash-
settled to equity settled 

 
On adopt ion, ent ities are r equired t o app ly the am endments without r estating p rior 
periods, but retrospective application is permitted if elected for all three amendments and 
other criteria are met.  

 
The adoption of this amendment did not result in any impact on the financial statements 
since the Company has no share-based payment transactions. 
 

Amendments to PFRS 4, Insurance Contracts – Applying PFRS 9 ‘Financial Instrument’ 
with PFRS 4 ‘Insurance Contracts’ 
The amendments address concerns arising from implementing PFRS 9, the new financial 
instruments standard, before implementing the forthcoming insurance contracts standard. 
They allow entities to choose between the overlay approach and the deferral approach to 
deal w ith t he t ransitional challenges. T he ove rlay approach gi ves all ent ities that i ssue 
insurance contracts the option to recognize in other comprehensive income, rather than 
profit or  l oss, t he v olatility that c ould ar ise w hen P FRS 9 i s applied before t he new 
insurance contracts standard is issued. On the other hand, the deferral approach gives 
entities whose act ivities are pr edominantly connected w ith i nsurance an  opt ional 
temporary exemption from appl ying P FRS 9 unt il t he earlier of  app lication of  t he 
forthcoming insurance contracts standard or January 1, 2021. The overlay approach and 
the def erral appr oach will onl y be ava ilable t o an ent ity if i t has not previously applied 
PFRS 9. 
 
The amendments are not applicable to the Company since there are no activities that are 
predominantly connected with insurance or issue insurance contracts.  

 
Amendments to PAS 40, Investment Property – Transfers of Investment Property 
The amendments clarify when an entity should transfer property, including property under 
construction or development, into, or out of investment property. The amendments state 
that a change in use occurs when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of 
investment pr operty and t here is evidence of t he ch ange in use . A  mere ch ange i n 
management’s intentions for the use of a property does not provide evidence of a change 
in use. The amendments should be applied prospectively to changes in use that occur on 
or af ter the beginning of  the annual reporting per iod in which the ent ity f irst applies the 
amendments. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 
1, 2018. Retrospective application is only permitted i f that is possible without the use of 
hindsight. T he am endments did not  r esult i n any impact on t he C ompany’s financial 
statements. 
 
Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2014-2016 cycle) 
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2014-2016 cycle) are ef fective for annual periods 
beginning on or  af ter January 1, 2018 and di d not  result i n any material i mpact t o t he 
Company’s financial statements. They include: 
 

• PFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 
The am endment del eted t he sh ort-term exe mptions in pa ragraphs E3-E7 o f 
PFRS 1, because they have now served their intended purpose. 
 

• PFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
The am endment cl arified t he sco pe of  t he st andard by specifying t hat t he 
disclosure requirements in the standard, except for those in paragraphs B10-B16, 
apply to an ent ity’s interests listed in paragraph 5 t hat are classified as held for 
sale, as held f or d istribution or  as discontinued oper ations in acco rdance w ith 
PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. 
 

• PAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
The amendment clarified that the election to measure at fair value through profit 
or loss an investment in associate or a joint venture that is held by an entity that 
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is a venture capital organization, or  other qualifying entity, is available for each 
investment in an associate or joint venture on an investment-by-investment basis, 
upon initial recognition. 

 
Philippine I FRIC I nterpretation 22 , Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance 
Consideration 
The i nterpretation clarifies that in de termining t he sp ot ex change r ate t o use on  i nitial 
recognition of the related asset, expense or income (or part of it) on the derecognition of a 
nonmonetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to advance consideration, the date of 
the transaction is the date on which an ent ity initially recognizes the nonmonetary asset 
or nonm onetary liability arising f rom t he adva nce co nsideration. I f t here ar e m ultiple 
payments or r eceipts in adva nce, t hen the ent ity must det ermine a dat e of  t he 
transactions for each payment or receipt of advance consideration. Entities may apply the 
interpretation on a f ully r etrospective bas is. A lternatively, a n ent ity m ay apply the 
interpretation pr ospectively to a ll asse ts, ex penses and income i n i ts scope t hat ar e 
initially recognized on or after the beginning of the reporting period in which the entity first 
applies the interpretation or t he b eginning of  a  pr ior r eporting p eriod pr esented as  
comparative information in t he f inancial st atements of t he r eporting period in which t he 
entity first applies the interpretation.  

 
The adoption of this interpretation did not result in any significant impact on the financial 
statements. 

 
New Accounting Standard, Amendments to Existing Standards and Interpretations 
Effective Subsequent to December 31, 2018 
The st andards, am endments and i nterpretations which have  been issued but  not  ye t 
effective as at  December 31,  2018 are disclosed below. Except as otherwise indicated, 
the Company does not expect the adoption of the applicable new and amended PFRS to 
have a significant impact on its financial position or performance. 
 
Effective in 2019  

 
PFRS 16, Leases 
On Ja nuary 13, 20 16, t he IASB i ssued its new  st andard, P FRS 16,  L eases, w hich 
replaces PAS 17, the current leases standard, and the related Interpretations. 

 
Under the new standard, lessees will no longer c lassify their leases as either operating 
lease or finance leases in accordance with PAS 17. Rather, lessees will apply the single-
asset model. Under this model, lessees will recognize the assets and related liabilities for 
most leases on their statement of financial position, and subsequently, will depreciate the 
lease assets and recognize interest on t he lease l iabilities in their profit or loss. Leases 
with a t erm of  12 months or less or f or which t he underlying asse t is of low va lue a re 
exempted from these requirements. 

 
The acco unting by lessors is substantially unch anged as the n ew st andard ca rries 
forward t he principles of  lessor acc ounting under P AS 17.  Lesso rs, how ever, w ill be 
required to disclose more information in their financial statements, particularly on the risk 
exposure to residual value. 

 
The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or  after January 1, 2019. 
Earlier app lication is not per mitted unt il the F RSC has adopted t he new  r evenue 
recognition standard. When adopting PFRS 16, an e ntity is permitted to use either a f ull 
retrospective or a modified retrospective application, with options to use certain transition 
reliefs.  

 
Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2015-2017 cycle) 
The Annual Improvements to PFRSs (2015-2017 cycle) are ef fective for annual periods 
beginning on or af ter Ja nuary 1, 20 19 and  w ill not have  a ny material impact t o t he 
Company’s financial statements. They include: 
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• PFRS 3, Business Combinations and PFRS 11, Joint Arrangements 
The amendments to P FRS 3 cl arify that when an ent ity obtains control of  a 
business that is a joint operation, it remeasures previously held interests in that 
business. The amendments to PFRS 11 clarify that when an entity obtains joint 
control of  a business that i s a joint operation, t he ent ity does not remeasure 
previously held interests in that business.  

 
• PAS 12, Income Taxes 

The am endments clarify that a ll income t ax consequences of d ividends (i.e. 
distribution of profits) should be recognized in profit or loss, regardless of how 
the tax arises. 

 
• PAS 23, Borrowing Costs 

The amendments clarify that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding after 
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes 
part of  t he f unds that an ent ity borrows generally when ca lculating t he 
capitalization rate on general borrowings. 

 
Amendments to P FRS 9,  Financial Instruments – Prepayment Features with Negative 
Compensation 
The amendments cover two issues: 
 

• What f inancial asse ts may be measured at  a mortized co st. The am endment 
permits more assets to be m easured at  amortized cost than under the previous 
version of PFRS 9, in particular some pre-payable financial assets.  

 
• How t o acco unt f or the m odification of  a financial liability. T he am endment 

confirms that most su ch modifications will result in immediate r ecognition of  a 
gain or loss. This is a change from common practice under PAS 39. 

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, 
with ear ly adop tion permitted. T he amendments will no t have s ignificant impact on the 
Parent Company’s financial statements. 

 
Deferred 
 
PFRS 1 0, Consolidated Financial Statements and P AS 28,  Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 
or Joint Venture 
These amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements 
in PFRS 10 and t hose i n P AS 28 i n dea ling w ith t he sa le or  co ntribution of  ass ets 
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments require that a full 
gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in 
a su bsidiary or not ).  A  pa rtial ga in or  loss is recognized w hen a  t ransaction i nvolves 
assets that do not constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. 
These amendments are or iginally ef fective f rom annual  periods beg inning on  or  af ter 
January 1, 2016. This mandatory adoption date was later on deferred indefinitely pending 
the f inal outcome of  the IASB’s research project on I nternational Accounting Standards 
28. Adoption of these amendments when they become effective will not have any impact 
on the financial statements. 
 

5. Summary of Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates 

The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of the 
assets and l iabilities within t he n ext f inancial ye ar. E stimates and judgments are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 
(i) Judgments 
The f ollowing j udgments were appl ied w hich have  t he m ost si gnificant effect on t he 
amounts recognized in the financial statements. 
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Determination of functional currency 
The Company has determined that its functional currency is the Philippine peso which is 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates. 
 
Determination of control 
Control i s presumed to e xist w hen an i nvestor i s exposed, or  has rights, t o va riable 
returns from i ts involvement with the investee and has the ability to af fect those returns 
through its power over the investee.  
 
As of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company has 30% equity interest in an 
associate where the Company has significant influence over the associate’s financial and 
operating policies. 
 
Classification of leases 
The Company has entered i nto various leases to third par ties. Judgment i s exercise i n 
determining whether substantially all the significant risk and rewards of ownership of the 
leased asset is transferred to the Company. Leases where the lessor transfer all the risk 
and r ewards incidental t o t he ownership of  the leased asse t are t aken u p as finance 
leases. Leases where the lessor retains all the risk and rewards to assets are taken up as 
operating leases. 
 
Operating lease payment is reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 
Determination of fair value of assets and liabilities 
The Company measures fair value of assets and l iabilities using the following fair value 
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. 
 

Level 1 
Included in the L evel 1 c ategory are asse ts and liabilities that a re m easured in 
whole or in part by reference to published quotes in an act ive market. Assets and 
liabilities are r egarded as quoted in an act ive market i f quoted pr ices are r eadily 
and r egularly available from an ex change, deal er, br oker, industry group, pricing 
service o r regulatory agency and t hose p rices represent act ual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. 
 
Level 2 
Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from 
prices) 
 
Level 3 
Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs) 

 
Fair value measurement is disclosed in Note 6. 
(ii) Estimates 
The ke y assumptions concerning t he f uture and ot her ke y sources of est imation of  
uncertainty at end of  r eporting per iod, t hat have si gnificant r isk of c ausing a m aterial 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
are discussed below: 
 
Estimating allowance for probable losses on trade receivables 
The Company estimates the allowance for probable losses related to its trade receivable 
based on  asse ssment of  sp ecific accounts w hen t he C ompany has information t hat 
certain c ustomers are u nable to m eet t heir f inancial ob ligation. I n t hese ca ses, 
management uses the best available facts and circumstances including but not limited to 
third party credit reports and known market factors. 
 
As of June 30, 2019, management believes that no provision for impairment is necessary. 
In 2017, a reversal of  a llowance for probable loss on t rade receivable in the amount of  
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P3,159,565 was made due t o c ollection o f previous set-up of  a llowance f or p robable 
losses. 
 
Estimating NRV of spare parts inventories 
The carrying value of inventories is carried at lower of cost and NRV. The estimates used 
in de termining N RV i s dependent on t he r ecoverability of its cost w ith r eference t o 
existing market prices, location or the recent market transactions. The amount and timing 
of recorded cost for any period would differ if different estimates were used. 
 
The carrying value of spare part inventory amounted to P832,359 in June 30, 2019 and  
December 31, 2018. (See Note 10) 
 
Estimating useful lives of property and equipment 
The C ompany reviews annually the est imated use ful l ives of pr operty and e quipment, 
based on t he p eriod on w hich t he asse ts are ex pected t o be ava ilable f or use . I t is 
possible that future results of operation could be materially affected by changes in these 
estimates. A  r eduction in t he est imated use ful lives of property and equipment w ould 
increase recorded depreciation and decrease the related asset account.  
 
The ca rrying va lue of property and e quipment as at June 30 , 2019 and December 31,  
2018 amounted to P62,671,383 and P70,908,215, respectively. (See Note 15) 
 
Recoverability of deferred tax assets 
The C ompany reviews the ca rrying am ounts of def erred tax asse t at  each  end o f 
reporting per iod and r educes the def erred t ax asse t t o t he ex tent t hat it is no l onger 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow al l or  part of the deferred 
tax assets to be utilized.  
 
The ca rrying va lue of  def erred t ax l iabilities (net of  def erred t ax asse ts of P306,208 i n 
2018) as at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 amounted to P754,670 (See Note 28) 
 
Estimating retirement benefits 
The det ermination of  t he C ompany’s obligation and co st f or r etirement and ot her 
retirement benefits which is based on RA 7641 is dependent on the length of stay of the 
qualifying employees and r eaching t he age  of 60 upon retirement. Annually, retirement 
benefits are computed based on ex isting employees as there is no assurance that th e 
employee will still be with the Company at the age of retirement. 
 
Impairment of non-financial asset 
The C ompany assesses impairment on assets whenever eve nts or ch anges in 
circumstances indicate that t he ca rrying am ount of  an asse t m ay not be r ecoverable. 
Several factors are considered which could trigger that impairment has occurred. Though 
management believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values reflected 
in the financial statements are appropriate and reasonable, significant changes in these 
assumptions may materially af fect t he assessment of  r ecoverable va lues an d any 
resulting impairment loss could have material adverse effect on the results of operations. 
 
As at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, management believes that no provision for 
impairment losses is necessary. 
 
Measurement of stock options 
The co mpensation r esulting f rom st ock options is measured base d on t he f air m arket 
value of the stock option on the date of grant. If the fair value of the stock option cannot 
be estimated reliably, the intrinsic value method is used. The intrinsic value is the excess 
of the market value of the share over the option price. 
 
During 2010, the TBGI Remuneration Committee met to discuss the request of the Chief 
Financial O fficer to indefinitely defer t he S tock Option p lan f or t he C EO. T he S tock 
Options Plan f or t he C EO m ay be r estored on ly upon t he recommendation of  the 
Remuneration Committee and subject to the approval of the Board of Directors. 
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As at June 30 , 201 9 a nd December 31, 2018, share op tions out standing amounted to 
P8,921,814. (See Note 21) 

 
 
6. Fair Value Measurement 

The fair value for instruments traded in act ive market at  the reporting date is based on 
their quoted market price. For all other financial instruments not listed in an active market, 
the f air v alue is determined by  us ing a ppropriate t echniques or c omparison t o s imilar 
instruments for which market observable price exists. 
 
Where the transaction price in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other 
observable current market transactions in the same instruments or based on a va luation 
technique, the Company recognizes the difference between the transaction price and the 
fair va lue i n t he statements of i ncome unl ess it qua lifies for r ecognition as some ot her 
type of asset. 
 
The table below analyzes assets and liabilities measured at  fair value at  the end of  the 
reporting p eriod, by the level in t he f air value h ierarchy into w hich t he f air va lue 
measurement is categorized. 

30-Jun-19 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash and cash equivalents -P     3,882,958P    -P          3,882,958P    
Receivables - net -        14,389,349    -            14,389,349    
Property and equipment -        62,671,383    -            62,671,383    
Investment properties -        55,421,800    6,147,000 61,568,800    
Other non-current assets -        6,055,853      -            6,055,853      
Accounts payable and -                 
    accrued expenses -        (7,631,430)     -            (7,631,430)     
Short-term loans -        (5,500,000)     -            (5,500,000)     
Deposits -        (403,000)        -            (403,000)         
 
2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Cash and cash equivalents -P     7,858,193P    -P          7,858,193P    
Receivables - net -        3,882,099      -            3,882,099      
Advances for projects -        -            -                 
Property and equipment -        70,908,215    -            70,908,215    
Investment property -        55,394,800    6,174,000 61,568,800    
Other non-current assets -        6,022,032      -            6,022,032      
Accounts payable and
    accrued expenses -        (8,082,242)     -            (8,082,242)     
Loans payable -        (5,474,582)     -            (5,474,582)     
Deposits -        (192,903,000) -            (192,903,000)  
 
Fair values were determined as follows: 
 

• Cash and cash equivalents, receivables and other financial liabilities – the fa ir 
values are approximately the carrying amounts at i nitial recognition due t o their 
short-term nature. 

• Property and equipment – fair va lue w as based on  app raiser’s report. I t is 
estimated using Market Data Approach, which i s based on s ales and l istings of 
comparable property registered within the vicinity that considered factors such as 
locations, size and shape of the properties. 
 

• Investment properties – the va luation a pproach used in t he independent 
appraiser’s report was Market Approach, which est imates the va lue of  asset by 
comparing similar or substitute properties and related market data. 
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7. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

 

• Credit Risk 

Financial Risk 
The Company’s activities expose it t o a variety of f inancial risk. These risks arise f rom 
open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to 
general and sp ecific market movements. The C ompany’s overall r isk management 
program seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the 
Company. The policies for managing specific risks are summarized below: 
 

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Company. The Company has adopted a policy of only 
dealing w ith cr editworthy co unterparties, and obt aining su fficient co llateral, w here 
appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults.  
 
The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to credit risk of the Company as 
at June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018. 

June 30, 2018 2018
Cash and cash equivalents * 3,882,958P          7,858,193P          
Receivables 14,389,349          8,318,326            
Other non current assets 6,055,853            6,022,032            

24,328,159P        22,198,551P        

Gross Maximum Exposure

 
The credit risk on cash and ca sh equivalents are limited since funds are invested in 
financial institutions with high credit ratings. 
 
Trade receivables are accounts with its customer where appropriate t rade relations 
have been established including billings and collections processes.  
 
The credit quality of the Company’s assets as at June 30, 2019 and  December 31, 
2018 is as follows: 

Past due Past due 
High Standard but not and
grade grade impaired impaired Total

Cash and cash equivalents 3,882,958P          -P                  -P                 -P                 3,882,958P         
Trade receivables -                       9,953,122          -                   4,436,227         14,389,349          
Other non-current assets -                       6,055,853          -                   -                    6,055,853            

3,882,958P          16,008,974P     -P                 4,436,227P       24,328,159P       

Neither past due nor impaired
June 30, 2019

 

Past due Past due 
High Standard but not and

grade grade impaired impaired Total
Cash and cash equivalents 7,858,193P          -P                  -P                 -P                 7,858,193P         
Trade receivables -                       3,882,099          -                   4,436,227         8,318,326            
Other non-current assets -                       6,022,032          -                   -                    6,022,032            

7,858,193P          9,904,131P       -P                 4,436,227P       22,198,551P       

December 31, 2018

  Neither past due nor impaired

High-grade cash and cash equivalents are short-term placements and working cash 
fund placed, invested, or deposited in banks belonging to the top banks in the 
Philippines in terms of resources and profitability. 
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Standard g rade acc ounts are act ive accounts with pr opensity of det eriorating t o m id-
range age b uckets. T hese acco unts are t ypically not impaired as the co unterparties 
generally respond to credit actions and update their payments accordingly. 
 
Liquidity Risk 
Liquidity or funding risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to 
meet commitments associated with f inancial instruments. Either l iquidity risk may result 
from the inability to sell financial assets quickly at their fair values; or counterparty failing 
on r epayment of  a co ntractual ob ligation; or inability to gene rate ca sh inflows as 
anticipated. 
 
The Company manages its liquidity profile  to (i) ensure that adequate funding is available 
at all times; (ii) meet commitments as they arise without incurring unnecessary costs; (iii) 
to be able to access funding when needed at the least possible cost, and (iv) maintain an 
adequate time spread of financing maturities. 
 
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of  the Company’s financial liabilities at 
June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018. 

> 1 month& >3 months > 1 year &
< 1 month <3 months &< 1 year <3 years Total

Accounts payable and
accrued expenses 7,631,430P        -P                   -P                   -P              7,631,430P          

Interest-bearing liabilities
Loans payable -                     5,500,000          -                5,500,000             

7,631,430P        -P                   5,500,000P        -P              13,131,430P        

June 30, 2019

> 1 month& >3 months & > 1 year &
< 1 month <3 months < 1 year <3 years Total

Accounts payable and
     accrued expenses 8,082,242P        -P                   -P                   -P              8,082,242P          
Interest-bearing liabilities
     Loans payable -                     -                     5,500,000          -                5,500,000             

8,082,242P        -P                       5,500,000P        -P                  13,582,242P        

December 31, 2018

 
Market Risk 
Market r isk is the risk of change in fair value of  f inancial instruments from f luctuation in 
foreign exchange r ates (currency r isk), m arket interest r ates (interest r ate r isk) and  
market pr ices (price risk), whether such change in price is caused by factors specific to 
the i ndividual i nstrument or  i ts issuer or  f actors affecting a ll instruments traded i n t he 
market. 
 
Market r isk is the r isk to an institution’s financial c ondition f rom vo latility in the p rice 
movements of t he asse ts contained in a portfolio. M arket risk r epresents what t he 
Company would lose from price volatilities. Market risk can be measured as the potential 
gain or loss in a position or portfolio that is associated with a pr ice movement of a gi ven 
probability over a specified time horizon. 
 
i. Currency risk 
The C ompany is exposed t o foreign ex change r isk ar ising f rom currency exposures 
primarily with r espect t o t he U S D ollar. F oreign ex change r isk arises when f uture 
commercial transactions and recognized as sets and l iabilities are denominated i n a 
currency that is not t he co mpany’s functional cu rrency. S ignificant f luctuations in the 
exchanges rates could significantly affect the Company’s financial position. 
 
The carrying amounts of the Company’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets 
and liabilities at reporting date are as follows: 
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US Dollar Peso Equivalent US Dollar Peso Equivalent
Cash and cash equivalents 65,306$             3,353,991P          64,101$               3,379,670P           

June 30, 2019 2018

 
The f ollowing t able demonstrates the s ensitivity to a r easonable ch ange in t he U S$ 
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, the Company’s income before tax 
for the period ended June 30, 2019 and year ended December 31, 2018: 
 

 

Taxes
Increase/decrease in Peso to US Dollar Rate Jun-19 2018
+P5.00 326,531P             320,505P              
-P5.00 (326,531)              (320,505)P              

 
There i s no o ther impact on t he Company’s equity other than those af fecting profit and 
loss. 

 
ii. Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of  changes in market interest rates. Floating interest rate instruments 
expose t he Company to cash f low i nterest r isk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments 
expose the Company to fair value interest risk.  
 
The Company’s interest risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining 
an appropriate mix of  f ixed and va riable rate i nstruments. The pol icy also requires it to 
manage the maturities of interest bearing financial assets. Interest on fixed interest rate 
instruments is priced at inception of the financial instrument and is fixed until maturity. 

 
Exposure t o i nterest r ate r isk arises from bank loans with i nterest dependent on t he 
prevailing market rate. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the Company is not exposed 
to any interest rate risk f rom f luctuation of market interest. Thus, no sensitivity analyses 
are pr ovided f or 2018 and 2017 since its financial l iability is not su bject t o a f loating 
interest rate. 

 
Operational risk 
Operational r isk is t he r isk o f loss f rom syst em f ailure, human er ror, fraud, or ex ternal 
events. When controls fail to per form, operational risk can cause damage to reputation, 
have legal or regulatory implications or can lead to financial loss. The Company cannot 
expect to eliminate all operational r isk but initiating a rigorous control f ramework and by 
monitoring and r esponding to potential r isks, the Company is able to manage the r isks. 
Controls include ef fective se gregation of  d uties, acc ess controls, aut horization and 
reconciliation procedures, staff education, and assessment processes. Business risk such 
as changes in env ironment, technology, and industry are m onitored t hrough t he 
Company’s strategic planning and budgeting processes. 
 
Capital management 
The Company manages its capital to ensure t hat it w ill be able to continue as  a going 
concern while maximizing the return to stakeholders through the optimization of the debt 
and equity balance.  
 
The Company sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Company manages the 
capital st ructure and adjusts it in  light of  changes in eco nomic conditions and t he r isk 
characteristics of t he und erlying asse ts. I n or der t o m aintain o r adj ust t he ca pital 
structure, the Company may adjust the dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares, 
or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
The ca pital st ructure of the C ompany consists of issued ca pital, share p remium and 
retained earnings. 
The financial ratio at the year-end, which is within the acceptable range of the Company, 
is as follows: 
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June 30, 2019 2018
Equity 543,961,249P      353,244,062P       
Total Assets 560,827,989 563,359,427
Ratio 0.970                   0.627                     

   
 

8. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
  

As of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, cash and cash equivalents represent cash 
on hand and cash in banks of P3,882,968 and P7,858,193, respectively. 

        

Cash i n bank represents current accounts and US dol lar account that earn interests at 
prevailing bank interest rates. 

 

Interest income on t hese de posits amounted t o P4,975 in June 30 , 20 19 P15,287 in 
2018.  

 
9. Receivables 

 
      The composition of this account is as follows: 

 

30-Jun-19 2018                     
Trade

In local currency 4,436,227P           4,436,227P           
In foreign currency 14,389,349           3,882,099             

18,825,576           8,318,326             
Less: Allowance for probable losses 4,436,227             4,436,227             

14,389,349P         3,882,099P           

 
The aging of this account is as follows: 

Over More than
Current 31-60 days One Year Total

Trade
In local currency 4,436,227P    4,436,227P    
In foreign currency 7,786,050    6,603,299    -                 14,389,349    

7,786,050P  6,603,299P  4,436,227P    18,825,576P  

 
 

10. Other current assets 
 
The breakdown of this account is as follows: 

30-Jun-19 2018            
Spare parts inventory - net of allowance for

   impairment of P146,887 in 2018 832,359P       832,359P     
Prepaid taxes -                 151,687       

832,359P       984,046P     

 
 

• Spare pa rts inventory co nsists of  co mmunication su pplies and m aterials t hat ar e 
normally provided to customers in the delivery of services. Spare part inventory as of 
December 31,  2018 is measured at NRV. The allowance for impairment i n value is 
reported in t he st atement of  co mprehensive i ncome. S pare par t inventory as of 
December 31, 2017 is measured at cost which approximates the NRV. 

 

• Prepaid ex penses represents advance pay ment of  r eal pr operty taxes that w ill be  
applicable and expensed in the subsequent period. Payments are made in advance 
so as to take advantage of  the discounts granted by the local government. Expired 
portion is charged to taxes and licenses reported as part of administrative expenses 
in in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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11. Investment in an Associate 
 

Investment i n an  Associate r epresents the 30% equity interest in ATN So lar En ergy 
Group, Inc (ATN Solar).  Management believes that it exercises significant influence over 
the financial and operating policies of ATN Solar. 
 
The composition of this account is as follows: 

30-Jun-19 2018
Cost
Beginning balance 209,500,000P     209,500,000P    
Equity in net loss

Beginning 7,306,373           5,064,808           
Share in net loss for the year 408,745              2,241,565           

7,715,118           7,306,373           
Deposit for stock subscription 206,800,000       206,800,000       

408,584,882P     408,993,627P    

ATN Solar is a grantee of Solar Energy Service Contract with the Philippine Government 
through t he Department of  Energy to deve lop, own and oper ate a 30M W so lar power 
plant in Rodriguez, Rizal. The following events transpired during 2018 involving the solar 
project of ATN Solar. 
 

 Significant completion of pre-construction activities; 
 Interconnection a nd ne gotiation f or  pow er supply agr eement w ith M anila 

Electric Company; 
 Registration of ATN Solar’s project si te as Special Economic Zone with the 

Philippine Economic Zone Authority 
 
In the of process setting up the foundation, PV mounting frames and modules and other 
land developments, the Company have identified the quality of rocks and boulders at the 
project si te t o be of  commercial use . Hence, a R ock Crusher P roject was introduced. 
This involves the construction of rock crushing plant which will process armor rocks and 
crushed basalt aggregates. As of December 31, 2018, the rock crusher processing plant 
have been completed and the trial-run of production of aggregates has commenced with 
production cost of ₱68.5 million at year-end. 
 
On various dates during 2018, the Company infused an additional ₱206.8 million unto 
ATN Solar in r esponse t o t he latter’s capital ca ll. The funds will be us ed t o subscribe 
additional shares of ATN Solar pending for application for increase of share capital of the 
latter. 

 
12. Franchise - net 

 
The C ompany holds a 25 -year Congressional F ranchise to construct, establish, i nstall, 
maintain, an d oper ate co mmunication syst ems for t he r eception an d t ransmission of  
messages within the Philippines with a cost of P15M. 

 
The movement in this account is as follows: 

30-Jun-19 2018
Balance, January 1 3,142,405P           3,742,405P           
Amortization (300,000)               (600,000)               
Balance, December 31 2,842,405P           3,142,405P           

The am ortization of  f ranchise is shown as par t of  direct costs i n the Statement of  
Comprehensive Income. Management bel ieves that t he ca rrying amount of  f ranchise is 
recoverable in full and no impairment loss in necessary. 
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13. Other Non-current Assets 
 
This account consists of: 

30-Jun-19 2018
Advances to:

Palladian Land Development Inc. (PLDI) 1,037,372P      1,176,051P      
ATN Phils. Solar Energy Group Inc. (Solar) 3,433,975           3,261,475           

Security deposits 1,584,506           1,584,506           
6,055,853P      6,022,032P      

    
                 
                              

                         
               

                     
          

 
Security depos its are m ade t o se cure leasing arrangement on t ransponders. T hese 
deposits are refundable at the expiration of lease term. 
 

14. Property and Equipment – net 
 
      The movement in this account is as follows: 

Building and Uplink/DataFurniture and Leasehold Transportation
6/30/2019 mprovements Equipment Fixtures mprovements Equipment TOTAL
Carrying Amount:
     At January 1, 2019 23,893,402P  254,121,190P          5,180,726P  19,145,709P  14,675,284P        317,016,311P           
     At March 31, 2019 23,893,402    254,121,190            5,180,726    19,145,709    14,675,284           317,016,311             
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
     At January 1, 2019 21,893,413    186,965,727            4,863,560    18,292,076    14,093,320           246,108,096             
     Provisions 597,334         6,018,812                 346,690       1,073,996      200,000                8,236,832                 
     At March 31, 2019 22,490,747    192,984,539            5,210,250    19,366,072    14,293,320           254,344,928             
Net Carrying Value
     At March 31, 2019 1,402,655P    61,136,651P            (29,524)$      (220,363)$      381,964P             62,671,383P             

 
Building and Uplink/Data Furniture and Leasehold Transportation

12/31/2018 Improvements Equipment Fixtures Improvements Equipment TOTAL
Carrying Amount:
     At January 1, 2018 23,893,402P  254,121,190P          5,180,726P  19,145,709P  14,675,284P        317,016,311P           
     At December 31, 2018 23,893,402    254,121,190            5,180,726    19,145,709    14,675,284           317,016,311             
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
     At January 1, 2018 20,698,746    174,928,109            4,487,346    16,144,086    13,355,293           229,613,580             
     Provisions 1,194,667      12,037,618               376,214       2,147,990      738,027                16,494,516               
     At December 31, 1018 21,893,413    186,965,727            4,863,560    18,292,076    14,093,320           246,108,096             
Net Carrying Value
     At December 31, 2018 1,999,989P    67,155,463P            317,166P     853,633P       581,964P             70,908,215P             

  
15. Investment Properties 
  

As of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, investment property consists of the 
following: 

30-Jun-19 2018
Condominium units 55,421,800P         55,421,800P   
Land and improvements 6,147,000             6,147,000       

61,568,800P         61,568,800P   

 
Condominium uni ts represent the beneficial ownership of four (4) commercial units held 
at Summit One Office Tower in Mandaluyong City with a total floor area of 852.64 square 
meters. Land and improvements represents a parcel of residential lot with house thereon 
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and covers an a rea of 432 square meters. This is situated in Paliparan 1,  Dasmariñas, 
Cavite.  
 
On A pril 2,  2018, t hese p roperties were su bject of  an a ppraisal co nducted by Asian 
Appraisal C ompany, I nc. A ccordingly, t he aggr egate f air m arket va lue o f t he 
Mandaluyong property amounted to P55.4 million or an increment of P17 million as of the 
date of appraisal. Such increment was reported under Fair value gains in the Statement 
of income. Fair value is determined using the Market approach under the level 2 of  the 
fair va lue hi erarchy. T he h ighest an d best  use  of  t hese pr operties is commercial, its 
current use. 
 
Meanwhile, t he C avite pr operty with f air market va lue of  P 6.1 m illion incurred an  
impairment l oss of P 772,000 as of A pril 2,  2018 and is reported in t he S tatement of  
Comprehensive Income under impairment loss. The highest and best use of this property 
is for residential use. For strategic reason, the property is not used in that manner. Fair 
value of the land was determined under the Market approach. Fair value of improvements 
is determined using the Cost Approach. These are estimated under the level 3 of the fair 
value hierarchy. 
 
The movements in investment properties as of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018 a 
is as follows: 

30-Jun-19 2018
Balance, January 1 61,568,800P         45,287,800P   
Fair value gains -                        17,053,000P   
Impairment loss -                        (772,000)         

61,568,800P         61,568,800P   

 
As of June 30, 2019, the lot remains idle and no immediate plan to develop or se ll t he 
property. T here i s no contractual ob ligation t o dev elop t he pr operty or  f or repairs, 
maintenance and enhancements. 
 
Rental income and d irect operating expenses from investment properties included in the 
statement of income are as follows: 

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-19
Rental income 1,361,321P           1,308,508P     
Direct operating expenses  that:
   Generated rental income 151,697                151,697          
   Did not generate rental income 829                       829                  
 

 
16. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 
 

This account is broken down as follows: 

 

30-Jun-19 2018
Accounts payable 7,631,430P          7,629,583P     
Accrued expenses -                       452,659          

7,631,430P          8,082,242P     

 
The description of this account is as follows: 

• Accounts payable represents the unpaid balance of Supervision and Regulatory 
Fee (SRF) due t o National Telecommunication Commission, now Department of 
Information and Communication Technology (DICT). SRF are assessed to public 
telecommunication co mpanies based on p aid up c apital. SRF i s payable on 
demand. 
 
As of June 18, 2018, an appeal  was lodge to NTC for the settlement of  unpaid 
SRF. Management believes that a favorable decision from NTC will be laid during 
2019. 
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• Accrued expenses are accruals for various expenses and are usually settled for a 
maximum period of 6 months. 

 
Management bel ieves that t he ca rrying va lues of Accounts payable and accrued 
expenses approximate their fair values. 
 

 
17.  Short-term loans 
 

Short-term loans are availed for working capital requirements. The loan carries a floating 
interest rate initially peg at 5.5% per annum, payable monthly in arrears. The principal is 
payable after 12 months renewable at the option of the both parties. The maximum credit 
line with the bank is up to P6 million. As of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the 
balance of the loan amounted to P5.5 million. 
 
The loan is collateralized by the following: 

• Real estate mortgages over properties owned by a related party; and 
• Suretyship agr eement by the C ompany as bor rower and a st ockholder a s a 

surety. 
 
Total interest pa id and acc rued r eported i n t he S tatement of  C omprehensive I ncome 
amounted to P299,619 in 2019 and P236,211 in 2018. The fair value of short-term loans 
amounted to P5.47 million and P5.88 million discounted using the borrowing rate of 6.5% 
in 2019 and 5.0% as of December 31,2018. 
  

18. Deposits 
 

This account is broken down as follows: 
30-Jun-19 2018

Deposit on lease contracts 403,000P             403,000P        
Deposit on stock subscription -                       192,500,000   

403,000P             192,903,000P 

 
 

• On December 27, 2018, the Company received from a stockholder a total amount 
of P 192.5 m illion intended f or a dditional s ubscription t o t he C ompany’s share 
capital. In accordance with SEC Financial Reporting Bulletin No. 6, the same was 
presented in the liability section pending for filing with the SEC of documentary 
requirements on the increase in share capital. 
 

• Deposits on lease contracts are amounts paid by various lessee as guarantee for 
the f aithful co mpliance to the t erms and co nditions of t he l ease c ontract. The 
amount is expected to be settled at the termination of the contract.  

 
19. Pension Liability 
 

The movements of pension liability as of June 30, 2019 an d December 31, 2018 are as 
follows: 

 

30-Jun-19 2018
Balance at the beginning of the year 761,550P      809,729P       
Current service cost -                40,582            
Benefits paid -                (88,761)          
Balance, End 761,550P      761,550P       

 
The Company provides retirement benefits in accordance with the provisions of Republic 
Act N o. 7641 ( RA 7641 ), pr escribing t he m inimum r etirement benef its to be paid by a 
company to i ts qualified retiring employees. No actuarial valuations are made since the 
Company employs a minimal number of employees. 
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Among others, RA 7641 provides for retirement benefits to retiring employees who have 
reached sixty (60) years old or more, but not beyond 65 years and have served at least 
five (5) years in the Company. Such retiring employee is entitled to a r etirement pay of 
one ha lf ( 1/2) month sa lary for every year o f se rvice computed based on t he f ollowing 
components: 
 

• 15 days salary; 
• 5 days of service incentive leave; and 
• One half (½) of the 13th month pay 

Management bel ieves that any disparity of retirement benef it co st co mputed i nternally 
against independent act uarial va luations will not  s ignificantly affect t he C ompany’s 
financial statements. 
 
 

20. Equity 
 
Share capital 
The Company’s capital movements is as follows: 

Shares Amount Shares Amount
Balance, Jan 1, 2019 3,800,000,000    380,000,000P    2,620,193,300    262,019,330P    
Issuance during the year -                     -                    1,179,806,700    117,980,670      

3,800,000,000    380,000,000P    3,800,000,000    380,000,000P    

Authorized Issued

Share capital transaction during 2018 is as follows: 
 

• On O ctober 4,  20 17, t he B OD appr oved t he am endment of  Section 7 of  t he 
Company’s Articles of Incorporation changing the par value from P1.00 per share 
to P 0.10 per  s hare w ith t he co rresponding increase in A uthorized an d I ssued 
shares. The same was ratified by the stockholders on October 4, 2017 and was 
approved by the SEC on January 18, 2018. 

 
• On September 17, 2018, the Company issued 400 million shares to Mr . Arsenio 

Ng, President, at a par value of ̈́ P0.10 per share from the unissued share capital. 
This was made i n r esponse t o a ca pital c all f rom A TN S olar i n p ursuing its 
business objectives. 

 
• On June 4, 2019, the company issued 1,179,806,700 shares to Mr. Arsenio Ng at 

P0.1632 per share. 
 
From t he t otal i ssued sh ares of 2, 620,193,300, 2, 090,193,300 sh ares are listed in t he 
Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) and 4,378,000 shares are held in treasury. Such listing 
started on December 12, 2003. 

 
Share options 
On May 28, 2008,  the Company’s BOD approved the grant of  share opt ion to its Chief 
Executive O fficer (CEO). T he C EO has been largely responsible f or b ringing t he 
Company to its present f inancial co ndition. F urthermore, t he C EO has not been 
compensated since his assumption of  management i n 2000.  Hence, the grant of  share 
option to the CEO will be in order. 
The share option comprises the following: 
 

(i) 350 million shares of TBGI at par value of P0.10 per share as compensation for 
services rendered as CEO of the Company during the period 2001 to 2007, and; 

(ii) 50 million shares of  TBGI at par  value of P0.10 per share as compensation for 
services rendered as CEO of the Company during 2008 and onwards, provided, 
that the subject shares will not be sold in quantities exceeding 20% of the trading 
volume of Philippine Stock Exchange in any single business day. 

 



   
      

- 28 - 

The stock options were measured using the intrinsic value method since the fair value of 
the options cannot be measured reliably. 
 
On April 23,  2009 in a  special meeting of  t he BOD, add itional t erms of conditions was 
agreed defining the vesting schedule of the options as management believes that a one-
time recognition of the options cannot be afforded in 2008 alone. The vesting period was 
stretched up t o 2023 of  which 5 ,000,000 shares may be exercised starting 2013 up t o 
2022. Another 55 million shares in 2022 and finally, 300 million shares in 2023 
 
During 2010, t he Company’s BOD t hrough the Remuneration Committee appr oved t he 
indefinite def erment of  t he af orementioned s tock options of the CEO. No opt ions were 
exercised prior to the said deferment. 
 
As of June 30, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the stock options has a carrying value of 
P8,921,814. 
 
 

21. Service Income 
 

As discussed in Note 1, the Company is duly enfranchised to provide telecommunication 
services t o va rious cl ients. S ervices include pr ovision f or upl ink services, VSAT -based 
internet service, wireless networking, hosting and content conversion. 
 
The geographic distribution of  the Company’s revenues as reported in the Statement of  
Comprehensive Income is a follows: 
 

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
VSAT uplink services

In local currency  P       1,867,800 2,312,727P       
In foreign currency 15,643,050        15,615,200       

17,510,850P     17,927,927P     

 
VSAT u plink services have t erms of 2 t o 3 ye ars, billable m onthly with one m onth 
advance payment and one month security deposit. 
 
The revenues derived from overseas represents the account of a single customer. 
 

 
22. Direct Costs 
 

This account consists of:  
30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

Depreciation 8,236,832P      8,236,832P      
Transponder lease 5,682,788         5,733,590         
Rental 1,851,345         1,685,936         
Salaries, wages & other benefits 799,331            774,241            
Amortization of franchise 300,000            300,000            
Utilities and communication 556,237            488,554            
Transportation and travel 214,786            354,809            
Security services 248,466            249,851            
Taxes and licenses 17,060              168,742            
Miscellaneous 81,014              91,784              

17,987,859P    18,084,339P    
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23. Other Income 
 

The composition of this account is as follows: 
30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18

Rent income 1,361,321P        1,308,508P        
Interest income 4,975                 8,667                 

1,366,296P        1,317,175P        

 
24. Administrative expenses 

 
This account consists of: 

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Permits, taxes and licenses 1,629,871P   575,763P       
Management services 171,000         60,000           
Miscellaneous 169,949         57,309           

1,970,820P   693,072P       

 
Pursuant to a Teaming Agreement executed in January 2013 and 2015, a 75%-25% cost 
sharing of cost/expenses related to technical operations was implemented. All other cost 
including, but not limited to salaries, utilities and associate dues shall be borne solely by 
PLDI.  
 

25. Related party transactions 
 

The f ollowing r elated par ty transactions occurred during June 30 , 2019 an d December 
31, 2018: 

Nature of
Related party transaction 30-Jun-19 2018 30-Jun-19 2018 Terms and condition
Associate

ATN Solar Advances 172,500P         2,948,782       -P             -                    

Collection of Unsecured, unimpaired
advances -                   -                  3,433,975     3,261,475         and no payment terms

Affiliated companies
Palladian Land

Devt. Inc (i) Rent income 1,361,321        2,684,723       -                -                    
(PLDI)

(ii) Advances -                   -                  -                -                    
Collection of Unsecured, unimpaired
advances (1,500,000)       (219,832)         1,037,372     1,176,051         and no payment terms

Stockholder (ii) Advances 200,000           (43,012,857)    (1,787,143)    (1,987,143)        Unsecured, unimpaired
and no payment terms

(iii) Deposit for future
subscription 192,500,000    -                  -                (192,500,000)    

Total advances to repated parties 4,471,347     4,437,526         
Total advances from reated paries (1,787,143)    (194,487,143)    
Total 2,684,204     (190,049,617)    

Amount of Transaction Year-end balances

Details of significant related party transactions are as follows: 
 

(i) As discussed in Note 16, the Company is a beneficial owner of certain condominium 
units registered under the name of PLDI. Title to the properties has not been released 
to t he C ompany as the C ompany intends t o se ll t he p roperties through t he s ales 
network of PLDI. These properties are leased out to third parties also through PLDI. 
Proceeds of the rent are remitted to the Company by the latter.  
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Rent i ncome co llected by PLDI on t hese p roperties amounted to P1.367 million in 
June 2019 and P1.317 million in 2018. 
 

(ii) Pursuant to Teaming Agreements executed in January 2013 and 2015 between the 
Company and ce rtain r elated pa rties operating w ithin S ummit O ne C ondominium 
Tower, a co st and ex pense sh aring sch eme r elated t o t echnical ope rations was 
implemented.  A ll other cost including, but not l imited to salaries, utilities, and dues  
shall be borne by PLDI. Accordingly, certain cost and expenses maybe advanced by 
a party and to be reimbursed from another party on the proportionate share or usage 
between the related parties involved. 
 

For the period ended June 30, 2019 and years ended December 31, 2018, the Company 
did not provide compensation to its key management personnel. 
 

26. Registration with Clark Special Economic Zone 
  

The Company is a duly registered Clark Special Economic Zone (“CSEZ”) enterprise with 
Registration C ertificate N o. C2013-683 issued last Ja nuary 10,  2014 . T his ce rtificate 
supersedes Certificate of Registration No. 2002-065 dated July 25, 2002 and 95-53 dated 
November 29, 1995, issued by Clark Development Corporation (“CDC”) to the Company, 
and sh all b e va lid u ntil December 15,  2 016 unless earlier revoked by CDC. As of 
December 31, 2018, the Company has renewed its tax exemption with CDC. 
 
Pursuant to Section 15 of  Republic Act No. 7227, Section 5 of  Executive Order No. 80 
and Proclamation 163, and as further confirmed by BIR Ruling No. 046-95 dated March 3, 
1995, the Company is entitled to all incentives available to a CSEZ-registered enterprise, 
including but not l imited to exemption f rom customs and import dut ies and national and 
internal revenues taxes on importation o f c apital of  goods, equipment, r aw materials, 
supplies and other articles including household and personal items. 
 
Subject t o co mpliance w ith B IR R evenue R egulations and su ch ot her laws on ex port 
requirements, ex emption from al l local and  national t axes, i ncluding but n ot limited t o 
corporate w ithholding t axes and va lue adde d t axes (“VAT”). I n lieu of  said taxes, th e 
enterprise shall pay 3% of  gross income earned to the national government, 1% to the 
local g overnment uni ts affected by the d eclaration of  t he C SEZ and 1%  t o t he 
development fund to be ut ilized for the development of  the municipalities contiguous to 
the base area. 
 
Exemption from inspection of all importations at the port of origin by the Societe Generale 
de S urveillence ( “SGS’), if st ill a pplicable, pursuant t o C hapter I II, C .1 of C ustoms 
Administrative Order No. 6-94. 
 
However, i n ca ses where t he C ompany generated income f rom i ts sale of  se rvices to 
customs territory customers exceeding 30% of its total income, the entire income from all 
sources is subjected t o t he r egular corporate i ncome t ax of 30% based on ne t income 
(e.i. gross income less allowable deductions) rather than the 5% preferential tax based on 
gross income. 
 

27. Earnings (loss) per share 
 
Earnings (loss) pe r sh are is computed by dividing the p rofit (loss) for t he ye ar by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year as follows: 
 

30-Jun-19 30-Jun-18
Profit (loss) for the year (a) (1,782,813)P       (285,326)P          
Weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the year (b) 380,000,000      222,019,330      
Earnings (loss) per share (a/b) (0.0047)              (0.0013)              

 
 



 
 

 Management Discussion and Analysis of Operation 
 

The earnings per share (EPS) are computed based on the following number of outstanding shares: 
 

 June 30, 2019 June 30, 2018 
Profit (Loss) for the period (P1,782,813) (P285,326) 
Number of Outstanding Shares  380,000,000 222,019,330 
Earnings per Share (P0.0080) (P0.0013) 

 

Disclosures on the issuer’s interim financial report, in compliance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards: 
 

1. The same accounting policies and methods of computation are followed in the interim 
financial statements as compared to the most recent and previous financial statements. 

2. There is no seasonality or cyclicality of interim operations. 
3. There is no item that has unusual effect on asset, liabilities, equity, net income and cash 

flows. 
4. There is no change in the nature and amounts reported in prior interim periods of the 

current financial year or prior financial year. 
5. There is no issuance, repurchase nor repayment of debt and equity securities during the     

interim period. 
6. There is no dividend paid for ordinary or other shares. 
7. Disclosure on segment revenue is not required. 
8. There is no material event subsequent to the end of the interim period that has not been 

reflected in the financial statements. 
9. There is no change in the composition of the issuer such as business combination, 

acquisition, disposal of subsidiary and long-term investment, and restructuring during the 
interim period. 

10. There is no change in contingent assets or contingent liabilities since the last annual 
balance sheet date. 

11. There is no seasonal effect that had material effect on financial condition or result of 
operation.       

 

Disclosure on material events and uncertainties 
 

1. There is no known trend, demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that will have 
material impact on the issuer’s liquidity 

2. There is no event that will trigger direct or contingent financial obligation that is material to 
the company. 

3. There is no material off-balance sheet transaction, arrangement, obligations and other 
relationships of the company. 

4. There is no material commitment for capital expenditures. 
5. There is no known unfavorable trend, events, or uncertainties that have material impact on 

net sales. 
6. There is no significant element of income that did not arise from the issuer’s operations. 

 

Vertical and Horizontal Analysis 
 

Total corporate assets almost remained the same from Php563 million in December 31, 2018 
compared to Php560 million in June 30, 2019. The net decrease of Php2.531 million (0%) in total 
assets arose from the following items: 
 

1. Decrease in cash by Php3.675 million (-51%). 
2. Increase in receivables by Php10.5 million (271%).  
3. Decrease in other current assets by Php0.151 million (-15.4%) 
4. Decrease in property and equipment by Php4.118 million (-5.81%). 

 
Total liabilities decreased by Php193 million (-92%) from Php210 million in December 2018 to 
Php16.866 million in June 30, 2019. The net decrease in liabilities resulted from the following 
significant items: 

1. Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses by Php0.450 million (-6%). 
2. Decrease in income payable by Php0.97 million (-77%) due to payment. 
3. Decrease in deposits by Php192.5 million (100%) due to conversion of payables to paid up 

capital. 
4. Decrease in advances from related parties by Php0.2 million (-10%). 



 
 

 
Stockholders’ equity increased from Php353 million as of December 31, 2018 to Php544 million in 
June 30, 2019. The net increase resulted from the following: 

1. Increase in share capital of Php117.980 million (45%). 
2. Increase in share premium of Php74.519 million(253%) 

 

Total revenue almost the same from Php17.927 million as of June 30, 2018 to Php17.510 million 
as of June 30, 2019. 
 

Direct costs almost the same from Php18 million in the 2nd quarter ending June 30, 2018 to 
Php17.987 million (-1%) in the 2nd quarter ending June 30, 2019. The net decrease arose from 
the following accounts: 
 

1. Rent expense increased by Php165 thousand (8.93%) from Php1.685 million to Php1.851 
million due to increase in monthly rent. 

2. Utilities and communication increased by Php67 thousand (12%) from Php488 thousand 
to Php556 thousand. 

3. Transportation and travel decreased by Php140 thousand (-65%) from Php354 thousand 
to Php214 thousand. 

4. Taxes and licenses decreased by Php151 thousand (-889%) from Php168 thousand to 
Php17 thousand. 
 

Administrative expenses increased from Php693 thousand for the 2nd quarter ending June 30, 
2018 to Php1.970 million (64.8%) in the 2nd quarter ending June 30, 2019 The net increase arose 
from the following account: 
 

1. Permits, taxes and licenses increased by Php1.054 million (64.7%) due to payment of 
documentary stamp taxes on capital increase.  

2. Increase in management services by Php111 thousand (65%) 
 

The following are 7 (seven) key performance and financial soundness indicators of the company: 
Current Ratio  Calculated ratio of current assets into current liabilities. Indicates the 

ability of the company to finance current operations without need for 
long term capital 

Debt-to Equity Ratio Calculated ratio of total debt into total equity. Indicates the level of 
indebtedness of the company in relation to buffer funds provided by 
equity against any operating losses. Also indicates the capacity of 
the company to absorb or take in more debt.  

Asset-to-Equity Ratio Calculated ratio of total asset into total equity. Indicates the long-
term or future solvency position or general financial strength of the 
company. 

Interest Rate Coverage 
Ratio 

Calculated ratio of earnings before interest and taxes into interest 
expenses.  Indicates the ability to meet its interest payments. 

Gross profit Margin Calculated ratio expressed in percentage of the gross margin into 
total revenues. Indicates the ability of the company to generate 
margin sufficient to cover administrative charges, financing charges 
and provide income for the stockholders. 

EBITDA Calculated earnings before income tax, and non-cash charges. 
Indicates the efficiency of the company in generating revenues in 
excess of cash operating expenses.  

Net Income to Sales 
Ratio, and Earnings per 
Share 

Calculated ratio of net income into total revenues. Indicates the 
efficiency of the company in generating revenues in excess of cash 
operating expenses and non-cash charges, and the ability of the 
company to declare dividends for stockholders.  
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